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CEO Letter, 2012 Annual Report
2012 was an outstanding year for Opera Software. The record results and
impressive user growth show that the plan we put in place in 2010, and built
on during the past three years, has been successful.
Here is a brief overview of how we
performed in 2012:
• Revenue: MUSD 216
• Adj EBITDA*: MUSD 63.6
• EBIT**: MUSD 50.2
• Operating Cash Flow: MUSD 37.6

Here are some highlights about our user numbers and
business:
• We reached the 300-million-user milestone, and our long
		 term goal of 500 million users remains for 2015.
• We have added more than 200 million users since 2010.
• We have signed agreements with more than 100 mobile
		 telecom operators since 2010 and had another strong year
		 of building strategic relationships with them.
• We announced Opera Web Pass, a product that allows
		 mobile operators to sell data packages within Opera Mini,
		 and have already launched with strategic partners.
• We continued our growth with publishers in 2012, via the
		 AdMarvel platform, and now work with 20 of the top 25
		 largest publishers in the world.
•
		
		
		
		
		

We acquired two demand-side advertising companies,
Mobile Theory and 4th Screen, to further strengthen our
Advertiser and Publisher business and to offer a complete mobile advertising play. During 2012, we significantly
grew both companies, and we are now working with the
top advertising agencies/brands in the world.

While 2010-2012 was a successful phase for Opera, we are
now entering a new phase that I believe will be even more
successful for Opera and its shareholders. Going forward,
Opera will focus on three primary areas: 1) consumer
browser products, 2) mobile operators and 3) mobile advertising and publishing. By focusing on these three areas, our
business model will be even more sustainable over the long
term, because it is fueled by some of the world’s most attractive high-growth markets and technologies.

Innovative consumer browser products

At Opera, we are used to working in markets that are constantly in flux, and, in 2012, we made some tough decisions
to ensure that Opera’s browser remains at the forefront of
innovation in these changing markets. One of these decisions was to move away from our own browser engine,

6

| Opera Software ASA

Opera Presto, to the chromium engine for our new mobile
and desktop browsers. This shift will ensure that more
employees focus on browser innovation and we already have
more engineers working on the product line than ever before.
Our goal is to accelerate product cycles and decrease time
to market for future products. We have a very exciting lineup of products for smartphones, tablets and PCs due out in
2013, and I can’t wait to get them in the hands of our 300million-strong user base.
To date, Opera Mini has been Opera’s most popular product,
and most of our Opera Mini users use it on basic phones. As
these users migrate from basic phones to smartphones, we
want to ensure that people will continue to choose Opera,
which is why we are committed to developing even better
smartphone products. As we entered 2013, we had more
than 50 million users on Android smartphones, which is three
times higher than what we had just 12 months earlier. And,
in 2013, we will be releasing completely new smartphone
browsers, which will provide an unrivaled user experience
and make the mobile web faster and even more affordable.
We are also working on a concept project for tablets about
which we hope to give more information during 2013.

Taking mobile operators to the next level

Over the last 3-4 years, Opera has signed over 100 operator
agreements worldwide with such names as MegaFon, MTN,
Telenor, Telkomsel and Vodafone. Many of these agreements span multiple continents. Operators choose Opera,
because we offer excellent consumer products that help
ease the burden of excess traffic on their networks, enable
storefront services for their customers and enable data
usage and revenue across the globe regardless of network
speed and hardware. In 2012, Opera began rolling out Opera
Web Pass to its operator customers, which, again, will help
operators monetize their user bases by providing subscribers an affordable, intuitive and simple pay-as-you-go alternative to the sometimes complex data packages offered by
operators.
In February 2013, Opera announced that it acquired Skyfire Labs, a leader in mobile video optimization and cloud
solutions for mobility, thus expanding Opera’s offering to our
operator customers. Skyfire, with its unique video optimization solutions, allows mobile operators to leverage cloud
computing to optimize virtually any video or other multimedia
on crowded mobile towers, including 3G and 4G LTE networks.
With Skyfire’s existing solutions, we have added critical new
products that will help us secure further growth in the carrier segment in the coming years. The Skyfire solution will
already add better video support for Opera’s own consumer

browser products, and, by joining forces with Skyfire, we aim
to create a smartphone web pass product that will allow carriers to launch data packages for any browser, app or video/
audio.

Explosive growth in mobile advertising and
publishing
At the close of 2012, Opera saw a mobile advertising business
with an $80m run-rate, up from zero revenue in 2009. Our
mobile advertising efforts are aimed squarely at strengthening the ecosystem of mobile publishers and mobile advertisers, and, in 2012, we enabled $400 million of revenue for our
mobile publisher partners. In February 2012, Opera acquired
two leading premium advertising networks, Mobile Theory
(USA) and 4th Screen Advertising (UK). These acquisitions
provided demand-side advertising services to publishers
and advertisers in the United States and Europe, two key
strategic markets for Opera. We can now offer an even
broader value proposition to mobile publishers and advertisers in these areas, while bringing in-house mobile advertising capabilities to maximize the monetization of Opera’s
owned and operated properties and traffic.

Opera was once just a browser company, but, in 2010, we
began the process of transforming ourselves into a mobile
consumer internet company. Looking back on 2012 and
ahead to 2013, I can proudly say that we are well on our way to
complete this transformation. We have built up tremendous
assets in our consumer browser products, mobile operator
products and mobile advertising and publisher products,
which create an excellent platform for future growth. Today,
the opportunities are greater than ever to take Opera to an
even higher level.

Kind regards,

Lars Boilesen

* Non-IFRS EBITDA excludes stock option costs and one-off
extraordinary costs
** Excluding one-off extraordinary costs
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More screens,
more content,
more choices
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In 2012, Opera delivered record
financial and operational performance.

Report from the
Board of Directors
Revenue and profitability increased
significantly, compared to 2011, and
Opera’s total browser user base
reached 300 million by year’s end, up
57 million compared to 2011.
Opera’s position with major Mobile
Operators, Mobile Consumers, Mobile
Publishers and Advertisers and Connected TV manufacturers strengthened further during the year.
In 2012, Opera signed multiple new
operator agreements and extended
many existing ones, grew mobile users
by 54 million to 230 million, increased
its mobile publisher base from 8,800
sites and applications to 12,000,
increased ad impressions managed to
448 billion compared to 225 billion in
2011, and signed multiple agreements
with device OEM customers. In addition, Opera’s revenue from its desktop consumer business grew by 25%
compared to 2011.
Overall, during 2012, Opera made substantial strides in its transformation to
a highly scalable and profitable company, as revenue from Mobile Consumers, Mobile Publishers and Advertisers,
and Mobile Operators continue to
become an increasingly larger portion
of the Company’s revenue streams.

FINANCIAL SUMMaRY
Opera’s operating revenues grew by
35% (37% on a constant currency
basis) to MUSD 216.0 in 2012 (2011:
159.8). Operating expenses increased
by 36% to MUSD 165.8 (2011: 121.7),
with non-headcount expenses increasing primarily due to higher cost of
goods sold or publisher payout costs
related to the Mobile Publisher and
Advertiser business, higher hosting
costs related to Opera Mini’s hosting
infrastructure, and overall marketing
and travel expenses. Opera delivered
EBIT (excluding costs for restructuring the business) of MUSD 50.2 (2011:
38.1), an increase of 32%, and profit
before income taxes (including costs
for restructuring the business) ended
at MUSD 25.6 (2011: 37.1). Income
taxes were MUSD 8.6 (2011: 11.8), and
the Company’s profit for the period
was MUSD 17.0 (2011: 25.4). Earnings
per share was USD 0.14 (2011: 0.21),
and diluted earnings per share was
USD 0.14 (2011: 0.21).
Net cash flow from operating activities in 2012 totaled MUSD 37.6 (2011:
36.7). Opera’s cash balance in 2012
versus 2011 was impacted positively
by pre-tax profits and proceeds from
the exercise of stock options of MUSD
3.4 (2011: 5.9). Opera’s cash balance
in 2012 versus 2011 was reduced by

MUSD 44.2 (2011: 12.1) related to acquisitions, MUSD 10.4 (2011: 10.6) related
to capital expenditures, and MUSD 4.0
(2011: 4.0) related to dividends. As of
December 31, 2012, the Company had
a cash balance of MUSD 57.2 (2011:
83.1) and no interest-bearing debt. It
is the Board’s opinion that the annual
accounts provide a true and fair view of
the Company’s activities in 2012.

BUSINESS OVERVIEW
Opera Software provides cloud-based
mobile services and solutions to
operators, publishers and advertisers
and enables hundreds of millions of
consumers, via the Company´s global
cloud infrastructure, to connect to
the internet content and services that
matter most to them.
By the end of 2012, Opera had more
than 300 million active monthly users
of its browser products worldwide,
with Opera powering the internet on
mobile phones, gaming consoles,
internet-connected TVs, set-top boxes,
tablets, netbooks, desktop computers,
and laptops.
Of this more than 300 million active
user base, approximately 230 million
were mobile phone users, 55 million
were desktop users, and 20 million
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were users of consumer electronic
devices such as connected TVs.
In addition, Opera, via its AdMarvel,
Mobile Theory and 4th Screen mobile
advertising businesses, is an increasingly major player in the mobile advertising industry, particularly in the United
States. In 2012, Opera facilitated over
$400 million in mobile advertising to
mobile publishers across more than
12,000 mobile applications and websites around the world and had a reach
of 250 million consumers by year-end
(excluding Opera´s own consumer user
base).
Opera has one revenue line, but Opera
also provides an overview of revenue
by customer type: (i) Operators (such
as MTN, Telkomsel and Vodafone), (ii)
Mobile Consumers (via partnerships
with search providers and advertisers), (iii) Mobile Publishers and Advertisers (Opera Network Members, such
as Pandora Media and JP Morgan
Chase), (iv) Mobile OEMs (such as
MediaTek and Spreadtrum), (v) Device
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OEMs (such as Sony and Philips), and
(vi) Desktop Consumers (primarily from
search and e-commerce partnerships,
including with Google, Yandex, and
Amazon).

Revenue
Opera’s operating revenues grew by
35% (37% on a constant currency
basis) to MUSD 216.0 in 2012 (2011:
159.8 in 2011).
Compared to 2011, 2012 saw strong
revenue growth from Mobile Consumers and Mobile Publishers and
Advertisers (Opera Network Members), revenue growth from Desktop
Consumers and Device OEMs, and a
decrease in revenue from Mobile OEMs
and Operators. Desktop Consumers
was the largest source of revenue in
2012 (MUSD 67.5 in revenue and 31%
of total revenue), followed by Mobile
Publishers and Advertisers (Opera
Network Members) (MUSD 54.1 in revenue and 25% of total revenue), Opera-

tors (MUSD 41.7 in revenue and 19%
of total revenue), Device OEMs (MUSD
28.2 in revenue and 13% of total revenue), Mobile Consumers (MUSD 19.5
in revenue and 9% of total revenue and
Mobile OEMs (MUSD 3.7 in revenue
and 2% of total revenue).
Mobile Consumer revenue was up
over 200% in 2012 compared to 2011,
driven primarily by increased revenue
from mobile search, the Opera Mobile
Store, and active user growth. Mobile
Publisher and Advertiser (Opera Network Members) revenue grew 400%
compared to 2011. Revenue growth
was driven by increased revenue from
the mobile advertising network business in the United States and the
United Kingdom, as well as higher
publisher transaction revenue on the
AdMarvel platform. Revenue from
Desktop increased by 25% in 2012
versus 2011, driven by growth in ARPU
(Average Revenue Per User). Device
OEM revenue was up 3% compared
to 2011, with license growth from Connected TV customers offset by lower

development revenue.
Operator revenue fell by 12% in 2012
compared to 2011. Increases in Operator Opera Mini license/data revenue
in 2012 compared to 2011 (up 14% in
2012 vs. 2011) were offset by decreases
in development and license revenue
from legacy operator agreements
related to customized operator
versions of Opera Mobile.

Operators:
Driving More Data Revenue
Through the Deployment of
Mobile Internet Services
As operators face increasing downward pressure on average voice revenue per subscriber, and as competition
heightens, operators around the world
are looking for new sources of revenue
and differentiation through the deployment of data services.
Opera is a trusted partner for operators globally. In 2012, the Company
offered a co-branded Opera/operatorbranded hosted solution to operators centered around Opera Mini and
Opera Mobile with Turbo. Opera Mini
is a hosted solution for mass-market
phones, offering server-side content
compression and fast internet download speeds. Similar cloud-based content-compression technology is also
offered for smartphones via Opera
Mobile, packaged for distribution to
operators and OEMs as Opera Turbo.
Opera Mini and Opera Mobile with
Turbo offer up to 90% content compression, all increasing an operator’s
implied throughput capacity of its
mobile network.
Opera’s revenue sources from this
hosted solution include active user
fees, data fees, NRE/development
fees, hosting services, advertising and
maintenance and support.
Operator interest in Opera Mini and
Opera Mobile stems from five major
sources: (i) proven high consumer
adoption of high quality, full HTML
browsers (which then drive data traffic
and revenue); (ii) the desire to both
extend data plans to mass-market
phones and to provide a greater choice
of data plans to smartphone subscribers; (iii) higher profitability on flat-fee/
fixed-price data packages due to
Opera Mini’s server compression of

webpages by up to 90% compared to
normal mobile web browsers (which
also lowers an operator’s capital
expenditure requirements); (iv) providing a platform for operators to increase
the adoption of data services in general and of data packages/plans in particular; and (v) the browser home page
serving as the “front door” to operator
portals and services (which operators are keen to promote to drive more
content services revenue).
In total, at the end of 2012, Opera had
active agreements with 45 operators
worldwide (with a total of 120+ agreements when including all subsidiaries
of global frame agreements signed),
including 18 out of the top 30 operators
worldwide, which have approximately
2.6 billion subscribers combined or
more than 40% of the total global
subscriber base. Key operator wins in
2012 included Airtel, America Movil,
Etisalat, Idea Cellular and VimpelCom.
During 2012, Opera continued to see
strong growth in the number of operator Opera Mini users from its existing
agreements, notably from such customers as Airtel, MTN and Vodafone.
At the end of 2012, the number of such
users grew to 53.7 million, an increase
of 101 % compared to the end of 2011.

products, an increase of 30% compared to 2011. In addition, the number
of Opera users on the Android smartphone platform at the end of 2012 was
44.6 million users, up 249% compared
to the end of 2011.
Opera’s worldwide success with
Mobile Consumers across all mobile
platforms has largely occurred because of Opera Mini. First, Opera Mini
is faster than the competition, due to
the up to 90% compression compared
to a normal full web browser. This
makes for a much more enjoyable and
efficient browsing experience for consumers. Second, Opera Mini is much
cheaper for consumers —i.e., consumers reduce their data usage by up to
90%, with a corresponding cost savings, when browsing with Opera Mini
compared to competitive products,
due to Opera’s unique proxy browsing technology. Third, Opera works
on the vast majority of mobile phones,
supporting more than 3,000 different
models. Fourth, Opera believes its user
interface design and rendering quality
is superior to the competition.

Mobile Consumers —
Opera Owned and
Operated Properties:
The internet in every pocket

Opera.com continues to be the primary channel for distributing the
Opera-branded version of Opera Mini.
However, Opera has also focused on
distribution via direct agreements with
mobile OEMs and other third parties.
Opera has such mobile OEM distribution deals with Huawei, Lemon
Mobile, LG, MTK, Nokia, Sharp, Sony
Ericsson, Samsung, Spreadtrum and
TCL. Opera Mini is also available on
several handset vendor application
stores, such as Apple’s App Store,
Google Play, BlackBerry App World
and Nokia’s Ovi Store. In addition to a
high focus on increasing distribution
of Opera Mini with mobile OEMs and
other channels, in 2012, Opera also
put a significant focus on the distribution of Opera Mobile and Opera Mini
on Android. By the end of 2012, the
number of Opera Mobile and Opera
Mini users on Android reached 44.6
million, compared to 12.8 million by
the end of 2011, an increase of 249%.
This makes Opera one of the leading
third-party browser applications on the
Android platform.

Opera continued to maintain its position as a global leading mobile web
browser. By the end of 2012, 230 million unique users worldwide browsed
the web using Opera’s mobile browser

Historically, Opera’s primary focus has
been consumer acquisition and growing its user base, with much of the
monetization focus being on converting Opera Mini consumer users to joint

Opera continues to see heightened
interest among operators, in the
emerging markets in particular, for the
operator co-branded Opera Mini solution, for which the browser home page
promotes content services from both
Opera (e.g., search) and the operator (e.g., games and music). For such
agreements, Opera and the operator
work together to undertake joint marketing initiatives to convert existing
Opera-branded Opera Mini users to
the co-branded solution. Opera sees
this as a compelling way to increase
ARPU on its Opera Mobile and Opera
Mini users, while operators see such
agreements as a way to increase data
ARPU and profits.
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operator/Opera-branded users, for
which ARPU is significantly higher than
for the 100% Opera-branded Opera
Mini users. Today, Opera is significantly more focused than in the past
on generating revenue and profits from
its rapidly growing active user base via
more consumer-oriented business and
revenue models.
In this vein, Opera is placing a significant emphasis on developing and
expanding its owned and operated
properties and capitalizing on its extensive mobile consumer user base. These
Opera–owned-and-operated properties, which include the Opera Smart
Page, the Speed Dial page and the
Opera Mobile Store, are expected
to be monetized primarily via mobile
advertising, mobile search and mobile
applications.
In December of 2012, the number of ads
served on Opera´s owned and operated properties reached 5 billion and
the number of monthly unique visitors to OMS reached 37.8 million, up
nearly 100% compared to end of 2011.
In 2012, Opera continued to build on
its relationship with Google and Booking.com by adding more services and
countries to the agreements.
The primary driver of mobile consumer
revenue is revenue from mobile search,
the Opera Mobile Store, and active user
growth. Opera´s key partners in the
Mobile Consumer area include Google,
Yandex and Amazon. Going forward,
Opera expects to generate much more
revenue from mobile advertising via its
owned and operated properties.

Mobile Publishers &
Advertisers — Opera Network
Members: The mobile advertising market growing rapidly
The global advertising industry continues to experience a macro shift
in advertising spend from traditional
offline channels, such as print, television, and radio, to online channels, with
mobile taking an increasing share of
the online/internet medium. This macro
shift from offline to online has been
fueled by several factors, namely, the
increasing amount of time consumers
spend online and the fact that digital
advertising compared to traditional
offline advertising enables much better
targeting, provides opportunities for
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more user interaction, and provides
better measurement capabilities.

ing display banner ads, interactive rich
media ads and video ads.

The rapid growth in mobile advertising
in particular is being fueled by a number
of factors: (i) reach and “anytime-anywhere” access to users — there are
more than 5 billion mobile phone users
worldwide (compared to around 2 billion desktop users); (ii) strong targeting
characteristics — advertisers are able
to glean meaningful amounts of aggregated information about mobile users,
such as location, demographics, and
behavior; (iii) high performance and
user response rates from Android
and iOS smartphone devices in particular, which support highly interactive and entertaining ad formats due to
advanced display technologies, strong
graphics processors, and fast processing speeds; (iv) expansion of widespread access to high-speed wireless
data networks, enabling the consumption of high quality and rich media content on mobile devices; and (v) rapid
growth in the mobile app economy, as
developers have been able to create
intuitive and interactive ways to deliver
content on mobile devices, capitalizing
on native operating-system software
development kits which facilitate the
full harnessing of a mobile device’s
processing capabilities and functionality.

For premium mobile publishers and
developers, Opera offers technology
solutions and services, highly intuitive reporting, and analytical tools and
access to premium advertisers (via
both Opera’s own and third-party
mobile ad networks), helping these
publishers maximize revenue from
their content and user base. At the
core of Opera’s success with premium
publishers and developers is AdMarvel
and the AdMarvel technology platform
and software development kit (SDK).
AdMarvel’s success with premium
publishers stems from three major
sources: (i) its ad-serving capabilities
(powerful rich media ad serving, targeting, and analytics), (ii) its ad mediation (ad-performance optimization and
transparency and control over ad network traffic from over 100 ad sources
worldwide), and (iii) its campaign management capabilities (management,
uploading, scheduling, and control
of “house” ads and directly-sourced
advertising). These capabilities have
helped AdMarvel’s publisher customers drive higher fill rates and CPMs and
ultimately higher revenue.

Opera’s goal is to power the mobile
advertising ecosystem through innovative and differentiated mobile advertising services, and technology solutions,
targeting premium advertisers, ad
agencies, publishers, and developers. Opera’s ultimate mission is to help
premium publishers increase revenue
from their mobile properties and to
help content and advertisers reach and
acquire potential customers.
Through Opera’s mobile advertising
network subsidiaries, Mobile Theory
(USA) and 4th Screen Advertising (UK) (both acquired in 1Q12) and
Opera’s mobile ad technology platform, AdMarvel, Opera is able to offer
premium mobile advertisers the ability
to build their brands and engage with
consumers by offering creative services, sophisticated targeting capabilities, significant audience and publisher
reach, high levels of transparency
and measurability on ad campaigns,
and support for highly interactive and
engaging advertising experiences on
a full range of mobile devices, includ-

In total, Opera, through its mobile
advertising subsidiaries, reaches 8 out
of 10 smartphone users in the United
States and delivers mobile advertising to around 250 million consumers
worldwide (excluding Opera’s mobile
users), across more than 12,000 mobile
applications and websites around the
world.
Advertisers that ran campaigns in
2012 through Opera’s mobile advertising subsidiaries include American
Express, Coca-Cola, and Wal-Mart.
Publisher customers include BSkyB,
CBS, Dow Jones/Wall Street Journal, and Pandora Media. Moreover,
Opera’s U.S.-based mobile advertising
subsidiaries work, both directly and
indirectly, with 70 out of the top 100 Ad
Age advertisers in the United States
and, on a global basis, with 20 out of
the top 25 global media companies.
In 2012, Opera revenue in the Mobile
publisher and Advertiser business
(Opera network members) grew more
than 400% compared to 2011. Revenue
in 2012 compared to 2011 was fueled
by expanded business with existing
advertiser and publisher customers,

as well as by new customers and the
acquisitions of Mobile Theory and 4th
Screen Advertising, which were completed in 1Q 2012. Revenue growth
from both our mobile advertiser and
mobile publisher customers, who provide content via mobile web properties
and mobile applications, continues to
be strongest on smartphone and tablet
devices, with iOS and Android constituting the leading platforms.

Mobile OEMs:
Very high focus on shipping
full internet browsers on
mobile phones
Global mobile OEMs are currently
responding aggressively to operator
and consumer demands for devices
that come bundled with attractive services and applications.
As a result, more than ever, mobile
OEMs are highly focused on providing
operators and their subscribers with
compelling browsing solutions on their
devices — i.e., full HTML browsers that
enable full web browsing and access
to rich web apps.

The Company has focused on the
mobile OEMs as key sources of distribution to drive Opera’s overall mobile
internet user base. Overall, mobile OEM
distribution has become a very important complement to the distribution of
Opera’s products via Opera.com, with
approximately 30% of Opera’s Opera
Mini users coming in via this distribution channel. In addition, Opera has
been focused on expanding its distribution partners in this space to include
chipset manufacturers.

sets, referred to as the “lean-forward”
model, by providing apps, web browsing, and other digital content on TVs.
This activity has been spurred not only
by the desire of the TV manufacturers
to differentiate, obtain premium pricing for their product offerings, and
generate new revenue streams, but
also by the perceived opportunity to
bring many of the same services that
have been deployed successfully in
the mobile phone ecosystem, such as
mobile web browsing and app stores,
to their consumer TV customers.

Device OEMs:
Connected TVs have arrived

With the Opera Devices Software
Developer Kit (SDK), device manufacturers are able to offer not only webbrowsing capabilities and full internet
access to their operator and consumer
end customers, but also customized apps that are accessible from
the home screen of the device. Moreover, with the Opera Devices SDK,
device manufacturers are able to use
their own (and third-party) developers to enable full web browsing and
create user interfaces, widgets, and
menu systems using web technologies (such as HTML5 and CSS, HbbTV,
and OIPF), all while accelerating time

As device manufacturers seek to
enhance their relationships with, and
provide compelling applications and
services to, their consumers, they
are increasingly developing internetconnected devices.
Traditionally, television has been
referred to as a “lean-back” medium,
where interaction is passive. Today,
television manufacturers are trying
to encourage consumers to become
more actively engaged with their TV
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to market for new consumer electronic
devices. The Opera TV Store is a complete app store solution for connected
TVs and STBs, offering manufacturers and operators around the world
a selection of high-quality and easily
navigated apps. Based on HTML5, it
is optimized for all HD-ready TVs and
standard remote controls.
Opera currently has license agreements with a wide range of consumer
electronic device OEMs, including
Entone, Huawei, Humax, Loewe, Sony,
MediaTek, Nintendo, Pioneer, Philips,
Sagem, Sharp, Technicolor, Toshiba,
Technisat, VeriFone, and Vestel. Key
wins in 2012 included Boxee, Hisense,
INTEK digital, Sony, and Vestel.

Desktop Consumers:
Enjoying a platform more
powerful than ever
Today, the desktop browser platform is
more powerful than ever. This is seen
most saliently with the clear dominance
of apps over device-centric computing. This trend is no more pronounced
than with social networking, where
Facebook, for example, has more
than 500 million desktop users. In
addition, the rapid adoption and innovation around HTML5 is making apps
more powerful and always available.
For example, playing video without
the need for third-party applications
or plug-ins and using geo-location to
provide locally targeted information are
some clear examples where HTML5
is making the browser and browserbased apps much more powerful than
they have ever been.
Since its first public release in 1995,
Opera has continuously delivered
browser innovation to desktop PCs.
Opera’s desktop browser provides its
users with a safe, speedy, and enjoyable browsing experience.
Historically, the vast majority of desktop user growth has occurred in
Russia/CIS and in the emerging markets. Opera expects this trend to continue, as Opera’s key value proposition
in the emerging markets emanates to a
large extent from the fact that it is considered a fast browser, valued highly in
many emerging markets where overall
broadband penetration is low. Opera’s
monetization strategy for its desktop browser revolves predominantly
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around search. Google is Opera’s
global search partner and provides the
majority of desktop monetization. This
global partnership is supplemented
by local search partnerships in certain markets, such as Russia, Japan,
and China, where Opera works with
Yandex, Yahoo! Japan, and Baidu,
respectively. In addition, Opera has
signed up e-commerce players such
as Amazon (USA, Germany, Japan),
Booking.com (64 countries), and Ozon
(Russia) to further enhance ARPU.
By the end of 2012, the number of
desktop users was approximately 55
million, down 4% versus the end of
2011. ARPU (Average Revenue Per
User), however, was up meaningfully
in 2012 compared to 2011. The main
contributors to higher ARPU in 2012
in comparison with 2011 were strong
growth in revenue from local search
providers such as Yandex and from
content partners such as Booking.
com. In 2012, Opera announced a twoyear strategic partnership with Google
and a strategic partnership agreement
with Yandex.

CORPORATE OVERVIEW
Organization
Opera Software’s headquarters is
in Oslo, Norway. The Company also
has offices in Beijing (China), Gothenburg (Sweden), Linköping (Sweden),
Melbourne (Australia), New York (United
States), San Mateo (United States),
London (United Kingdom), Odessa
(Ukraine), Reykjavik (Iceland), Saint
Petersburg (Russia), San Francisco
(United States), Seoul (South Korea),
Stockholm (Sweden), Taipei (Taiwan),
Tokyo (Japan), Singapore, Warsaw
(Poland), and Wrocław (Poland). At the
end of 2012, the Company had 931
full-time employees and equivalents.
Excluding employees associated with
the organizational restructuring, the
Company had 840 full-time employees
and equivalents at the end of 2012.
Board of Directors Composition
At the Annual General Meeting on June
5, 2012, Arve Johansen was re-elected
as the chairman of the Board of Directors and Kari Stautland, Audun Iversen,
Alberto Torres Filgueiras, and Marianne
Blystad were re-elected to the Board of
Directors. At an extraordinary General
Meeting on November 14, 2012, Greg
Coleman was elected to the Board of

Directors, replacing Alberto Torres Filgueiras. In addition, three employeeelected representatives have seats on
the Board.

Corporate Governance

The Company’s guidelines for Corporate Governance are in accordance
with the Accounting Act §3-3b and the
Norwegian Code of Practice for Corporate Governance, dated October 23,
2012, as required by all listed companies on the Oslo Stock Exchange.
Please see the section entitled “Principles of Corporate Governance” in the
Annual Report for more information.

Work Environment

Opera Software’s mission is to create
a work environment that is attractive,
motivating and empowering.
Our recruitment policy is to be nondiscriminatory in our screening and
selection processes. Our aim is, and
always has been, to recruit the most
capable employees irrespective of
race, color, nationality, age, sex,
sexual orientation, gender identity,
ethnic origin, marital status, disability, geographic location, or religion.
Employees with diverse backgrounds
and perspectives are imperative for
innovation, as it allows us to draw from
the experience of skilled individuals
globally. We believe that our diverse
employee base gives us a competitive
advantage and a greater understanding of the markets in which we operate.
At our headquarters in Oslo, we have a
representation of 55 different nationalities among our employees.
Harassment and other improper
conduct are not tolerated, and the
workplace must be free of this kind
of behavior. This point is also surveyed during our annual Job Satisfaction Survey, and followed up closely.
Mutual respect is core to the values we
uphold.
Registered absence due to illness
was reduced from 1.4% in 2011 to
1.0% in 2012. No work-related accidents involving personal injury were
reported. No incidents involving material damage occurred.
Employee job satisfaction is measured via a bi-annual Job Satisfaction
Survey. This survey focuses on management, teamwork, innovation, health
and safety, policy and compliance,

quality focus, and customer orientation, among other areas.
As of December 31, 2012, Opera had
931 employees, of which 18.8% were
women and 81.2% were men. As part
of its core values, Opera promotes
cultural diversity and gender equality.
Opera has two female board members
and one female on the senior executive
team. Equal opportunity to all Opera
employees and potential employees
is an important factor throughout the
organization. When recruiting, we use
assessment methods such as programming tests and test cases to
give equal opportunity to all qualified
applicants. Opera strives to continue
improving the company’s gender balance. Opera prides itself in aiming to
give equal opportunity to employees
in both work and personal life. One
of the benefits to all male employees
is the opportunity to have two weeks
of paid father´s leave upon the birth
of their baby. By doing this, we are
emphasizing the importance having a
healthy work-life balance, regardless of
the geographical location or local labor
legislation.

Ethics

Opera Software believes that its
employees are its most valuable
resource. The company strives to interact with its employees in the same way
as it strives to interact with its customers: with high ethical standards and
respect for individuality.
In 2011, Opera joined the UN Global
Compact. Pursuant to the requirements of the Global Compact, Opera
Software has submitted a Communication on Progress (COP) relating
to the ten principles of human rights,
working standards/good employment,
the environment and fighting corruption. The COP can be read in detail at
www.unglobalcompact.org.

External Environment

For several years, Opera has made
data-center efficiency, low-power
CPUs in our servers, and procuring
power from renewable energy sources
key components of our hosting expansion strategy. This has both reduced
the cost per transaction and improved
our environmental impact. Opera also
has participated in programs to
responsibly dispose of electronic
equipment and encourages employees
to use this service for the personal

electronics they are retiring.
Reducing the amount of paper produced during normal business practices and recycling what we do create
are also visible examples of Opera’s
environmental commitments as well
as keeping lights out after hours and in
unused areas.

Risk Factors

Each of the following risk factors can
have a significant negative impact on
Opera’s business, financial results,
operations, cash flow, and the trading
price of our common stock:

Financial Risk

Opera’s sales and expenses are
exposed to foreign currency exchange
risk. Most of the Company’s foreign
exchange risk relates to sales and is
the result of revenue contracts signed
in USD and EUR. For 2012, approximately 71% (parent company: 71%) of
revenues were in USD and 22% (parent
company: 22%) in EUR. The Board and
management carefully monitor the foreign exchange risks, although there
are no hedging strategies that can be
employed to eliminate the fluctuations
in NOK reported revenues, given that
close to 100% of Opera’s revenues are
denominated in USD and EUR.
The majority of the Group’s purchases
are made in the following denominations: NOK, USD, SEK, PLN, GBP, JPY,
CZK, CNY, KRW, TWD, AUD, UAH,
ISK, SGD, EUR, and INR. Exchange
rate fluctuations in these currencies
do impact Opera’s income statement.
For FY 2012 approximately 36% (2011:
19%) in USD, 30% (2011: 47%) were
in NOK, 7% (2011: 10%) in SEK, 7%
(2011: 8%) in PLN, 5% (2011: 0%) in
GBP, 3% (2011: 2%) in AUD, 3% (2011:
3%) in CNY, 3% (2011: 5%) in JPY and
6% (2011: 6%) in other currencies.

Liquidity and Credit Risk

Opera is exposed to customer-related
credit risk, which is primarily influenced
by the financial strength and characteristics of each customer. There is always
a risk of loss on accounts receivable
from our customers and reduced sales
to our customers if they face liquidity
challenges.
As of December 31, 2012, Opera had
no current funding requirements and
no interest-bearing debt, and the
cash balance was MUSD 57 (parent

company: MUSD 128). Investments
are only made in funds operated by
institutions rated by S&P or Moody’s,
with a minimum rating of BBB or Baa2,
respectively. As of December 31, 2012,
the Company was invested in one
money market fund. Although Opera
does invest its money conservatively,
all its investments are subject to risk.
For example, Opera’s cash and other
investments placed in Norwegian
financial institutions are not guaranteed by the government above Mnok
2 per institution. If the financial institution were to go bankrupt, a portion of
Opera’s cash or investment could be
lost.

Tax Risk

From time to time, Opera faces tax
audits and investigations by both
domestic and foreign tax authorities,
and the outcome of any audit could
have a negative impact on our operating results and financial condition.
Furthermore, the tax treatment of many
transactions relies on the judgment of
the Company and its auditors, since
the tax codes are not always clear.
Based on the uncertainty that exists,
the ultimate tax outcome may differ
from the amounts recorded in our
financial statements and if Opera were
required to re-file its taxes based on an
adverse tax judgment, it could materially affect our financial results during
the relevant period(s).

Competition

Opera’s competitors include some of
the largest technology, advertisement,
IT, and telecommunication companies
in the world, with significantly larger
financial resources and headcount
and broader distribution channels
than Opera has. These large companies have a greater financial capacity
to make strategic acquisitions, invest
in new technology and research and
development, market their products,
and compete for customers. Furthermore, due to the dynamic nature of the
market, there is always a risk that our
large competitors, and even smaller
startup competitors, could take a large
share of the markets in which we are
operating within a short period of time,
by developing more attractive products and taking customers away from
our own products and services.

R&D / Product Development

Opera’s revenue is dependent on
expanding its user base and customer
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base by developing and marketing
products that are more attractive than
our competitors’ products. If the attractiveness of our products does not continuously improve and evolve to keep
pace with the industry, we will have
challenges retaining our current user
base and gaining new customers. Our
competitors are constantly improving
their products and associated services. In order to stay attractive, Opera
has to invest significant resources in
research and development. Investing
significantly in R&D is, however, no
guarantee that consumers and customers will, in fact, find our products to
be attractive enough to begin or continue using them, as it is impossible to
accurately predict the behavior of our
consumer and business customers.

Customer/Partner Risk

There is always a risk that existing
customers will terminate or fail to renew
their contracts with us if, for example,
Opera’s technology does not remain
competitive enough to provide value to
our customers or our customers’ products, which incorporate Opera’s technology, or does not generate revenue
and users as the customer expected.
There is also a risk that consumers
will stop using Opera’s technology
and begin using a competitor’s technology. The negative impact of a loss
of customer(s) and/or end users on
Opera’s revenues and business could
be significant. For example, in 2012,
Opera had sales to two customers that
accounted for more than 10% of total
revenues. Loss of those customers or
a change in the commercial terms of
that deal would negatively harm our
revenues and business. Similarly, not
being able to attract new customers,
partners, and consumers to our products would have a negative impact on
revenues and business.

Data-Center Risk

Many of our products and services
are dependent on the continuous
operation of data centers and computer hosting and telecommunications equipment. If Opera’s internal IT
systems fail or are damaged, or if a
third party gains unauthorized access
to such systems and data is lost or
compromised, it could have a material
impact on Opera’s operations. Downtime can, for example, hurt our reputation with our consumer customers,
as well as increase the risk of damage

claims and monetary penalties from
our customers.
If our data centers malfunction or
become damaged, service can be
interrupted for long periods of time.
Damage can result from any number
of factors, including natural disasters,
such as earthquakes, floods, lightning
strikes, and fires, terrorist attacks,
power loss or failure, telecommunication equipment failures, severed or
damaged fiber optic cables, computer
viruses, security breaches, sabotage,
vandalism, negligence of our suppliers, or deliberate attempts to harm our
equipment and/or systems. Furthermore, actions or inactions of third-party
hosting centers or telecommunications
providers, including financial difficulties, can result in service disruption,
which would have negative impact on
our products and services.
If our centers or systems are subject
to a security breach, customers’ confidential or personal information could
be obtained and used by third parties,
which could have a negative impact on
our brand and the market perception
that we are a reliable company, as well
as subjecting us to significant regulatory fines or claims or damages from
our customers.
For certain business models, we are
dependent on internal systems to collect and produce accurate statistics
regarding the use of our products and
services, especially for products that
rely on an active user royalty model.
Failures or malfunctioning of these
systems can have a significant impact
on our financial results. Failure to adequately back up our internal systems
can also have a material impact on the
running of our business.

Brand Name

Opera has a strong brand name in
its markets. In order to expand our
user and customer base, we must
maintain and strengthen the “Opera”
brand by producing excellent products and maintaining and improving
end users’ and customers’ perception
of Opera. Issues such as data privacy
and security issues, product and service outages, compatibility issues, and
product/service malfunctions can have
a negative impact on our brand name,
which can, in turn, impact our results
and business.

Opera is exposed to reputational risk
as Opera is heavily reliant on browser
products and other related products
and services, while maintaining a
relatively low marketing budget. In
the past, Opera’s reputation has been
spread via word of mouth by satisfied
users. Failure to continue to release
and develop high quality, user-friendly
and customer attractive products and
services would adversely impact our
reputation, this marketing channel, and
Opera’s business.

Growth or Change in Headcount

Our business has always experienced
growth and dynamic change, which
may require an increase in headcount
and/or the need to restructure the work
force’s competence, leading to downsizing and the rehiring of people with
different skill sets. If we fail to effectively manage this growth and change,
the quality of our products, services
and technology could be negatively
affected, and our business and operating results could be impacted. Our
presence and expansion in many international markets amplifies these risks
due to multiple legal and regulatory systems, languages, cultures, and customs. Failing to continuously improve
our operational, financial, management, reporting, and compliance procedures could negatively impact our
growth and financial position.

Senior Management and Key
Employees

Executing on our strategic objectives
depends on our ability to retain and
attract key executives and members of
senior management, as well as skilled
personnel, including software engineers, and developers. There is strong
competition for employees in our business, and our competitors often try to
lure away our personnel. If our competitors are able to offer more competitive
compensation arrangements and/or
more attractive workplaces, our ability
to attract and retain key employees will
be hampered. Losing members of the
team can negatively affect our ability to
execute on our strategic objectives and
compete effectively.

Regulatory Risk

Opera operates on a global scale and
is therefore subject to regulatory
regimes across the globe. Not only is
it a challenge for a company the size
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of Opera to remain current on all the
regulatory regimes that may apply to
Opera at any one time, but also some
regulators have a particular interest
in the markets within which Opera
is operating. As a result, Opera may
become subject to increased regulatory scrutiny in the future. If lawmakers and regulators make new laws or
interpret current laws in different ways
or subject Opera to regulatory scrutiny, Opera may be required to, for
example, invest significant amounts of
money to participate in or defend itself
in regulatory proceedings in multiple
jurisdictions and to adapt its products
and services to conform to the regulatory regimes in multiple jurisdictions.
Such product adaptations may be very
costly and might ultimately result in
Opera’s products and services becoming less attractive to its customers and
end users and/or in Opera being forced
to maintain different software builds for
different countries.

and partners, so, in the event they are
sued for alleged intellectual property
infringement, Opera would be required
to defend them and pay their damages.
Furthermore, an adverse judgment
could require Opera to cease using
certain technologies in its products or
names for its products, requiring Opera
to re-engineer or re-name its products.

Lawsuits, Government
Investigations, and Other Claims

Acquisitions

Opera has many customers, partners,
and end users around the world, and,
as a result, Opera can be exposed to
lawsuits, government investigations,
and other claims or proceedings on a
global basis. Such lawsuits, investigations and proceedings could be related
to, for example, intellectual property
(issues including trademark and patent
suits), labor law issues, commercial
lawsuits, data protection and privacy
matters, consumer law, marketing law,
tax issues, etc. All such proceedings
can have a significant impact on Opera,
whether we are ultimately successful
or not, due to the legal cost and the
internal resources Opera would have
to employ to defend itself. In the event
of an adverse result against Opera in
such a proceeding, Opera could be
required to pay significant monetary
damages or fines and/or re-design its
products or services, causing a material impact on Opera’s business, financial results, operations, and cash flow.
Intellectual property lawsuits are
very common in the market within
which Opera operates. Regardless of
the merits of such lawsuits, they are
extremely expensive to defend and
litigate, and the damages awarded
in such suits can be high. In addition,
Opera has contractually undertaken
to indemnify certain of its customers
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Compared to Opera, many of our
competitors own large numbers of
patents and other intellectual property
rights. Although we do seek patent
protection for certain innovations, we
may not have sufficient protection for
important innovations. Furthermore,
because many large companies are
able to settle intellectual property lawsuits by cross-licensing each other’s
technology, the fact that our patent
portfolio is not as extensive as our
competitors’ portfolios could have a
negative impact in a cross-licensing
situation.
Opera has made a number of acquisitions in the past and will likely make
future acquisitions. Acquisitions and
other strategic transactions can create
operational and integration challenges,
diversion of management attention,
dilution, cultural challenges, assumption of liabilities or debt, and other challenges that can impact our business
and results. In addition, making such
acquisitions requires significant costs
for legal and financial advice and can
take management’s focus away from
achieving other strategic objectives.

Fluctuations

Opera’s operating results fluctuate
from period to period, due to, for example, changing business models and
factors that are outside our span of
control. Furthermore, our business and
the market are dynamic and evolving,
and our spending has historically been
cyclical in nature and user traffic tends
to be seasonal.

Shareholders and Equity-Related
Issues

As of December 31, 2012, Opera
Software had 119,574,782 outstanding shares. Total stock option costs
for employees in 2012 were MUSD
3.6 (parent company: 2.4) compared
to MUSD 2.4 (parent company: 1.4) in
2011.
As of December 31, 2012, the Group

had MUSD 81.9 in additional paid in
capital. Total equity was MUSD 143.8
(parent company: 152.2). Free equity
for Opera Software ASA per December
31, 2012, was MUSD 65.2.

Allocation of the Annual Profit

The total comprehensive income for
the period for Opera Software ASA
was MUSD 30.3 in 2012. The Board
of Directors recommends a NOK 0.22
per share dividend payment for the
2012 accounting year. The proposed
dividend payout is consistent with
the Company’s dividend policy. The
dividend disbursement amounts to
approximately MUSD 4.7. The Board
proposes that the remainder of the
total comprehensive income for the
period is transferred to other equity.
As the financial statements for the
parent company are reported according to IFRS, the total comprehensive
income is included in other equity. The
Company’s unrestricted capital as of
December 31, 2012, after deducting
allocations for the proposed dividend
disbursement for the 2012 accounting year, amounted to approximately
MUSD 60.5.

Going Concern

In accordance with Norwegian
accounting regulations, the Board
confirms the annual financial statements have been prepared on a going
concern basis.

Subsequent Events
Skyfire Labs, Inc.
On March 14, 2013, Opera Software
ASA acquired 100% of the shares and
voting interest of the privately-held
company Skyfire Labs, Inc., a leader
in mobile video optimization and cloud
solutions for mobility. Opera believes
Skyfire adds capabilities to our portfolio around video, app optimization,
smartphones and tablets, and strength
in North America, and we are excited to
extend Opera’s solutions for operators.
Skyfire, headquartered in Mountain
View, California, is known for its Rocket
Optimizer software. This allows mobile
operators to leverage cloud computing to optimize virtually any video and
other multimedia on crowded cell
towers, including 3G and 4G LTE networks. Rocket Optimizer on average
provides mobile networks a significant
boost in capacity by reducing the size

of video and other multimedia content
as needed to fit the available bandwidth. Skyfire can detect when specific users are facing poor quality of
experience or connections that need
assistance, and intervenes in milliseconds. This can minimize the long start
times, rebuffering, and stalls on video
trend toward SDN (software-defined
networking) and NFV (network function
virtualization) among telecommunications operators, thanks to its elastic
and virtualization-friendly cloud architecture.
Skyfire also offers Skyfire Horizon, a
mobile browser extension and toolbar
platform that allows users to personalize their smartphone browsers and
operators to gain new monetization
opportunities.
The acquisition price includes a mix of
cash and stock, with an upfront consideration of MUSD 50 (including MUSD 8
of cash on the Skyfire balance sheet)
and performance-based earnout payments over three years, including
MUSD 26 in cash held in escrow and
funded upfront, that can bring the total
deal size to MUSD 155.

Credit facility

In February 2013, Opera Software
signed a MUSD 100 secured revolving credit facility with DNB Bank ASA.
The facility will primarily be secured
through a share pledge in Opera Software International AS, as well as floating charges over accounts receivable
in Opera Software ASA and certain of
its U.K. and U.S. subsidiaries. The facility has a term of 3 years and bears an
interest rate of LIBOR +1.75% p.a. (plus
a utilization fee varying with the amount
drawn). On the undrawn portion of the
facility, a commitment fee of 0.61% p.a.
will be paid. Opera Software intends to
use the financing for general corporate
purposes and potential acquisitions.
No subsequent events have occurred
after the reporting date that would
require the consolidated financial
statements to be adjusted.
More information about subsequent
events is given in the accompanying
note 16 to the consolidated financial
statements.

Share Incentive Program

The Annual General Meeting held
on June 14, 2011, approved a new
stock incentive program. The maximum number of options to be granted
during 2011, 2012, 2013, and 2014 is
11,950,000. This represents slightly less
than 10% of the registered share capital of the Company. However, options
cannot be granted if the aggregate of
all issued, un-exercised, and not-terminated options represents more than
10% of the then registered share capital of the Company. No employee can
be granted options annually which in
value exceed 200% of that employee’s
base salary. The value is to be based
on valuation principles for options as
applied under IFRS and in accordance
with Opera Software’s financial statements. The options are to be granted in
accordance with the Company’s standard option agreement as approved
by the Ordinary General Meeting in
2010, which means that the vesting
structure is 50% after 3 years and
50% after 4 years, with a strike price
equal to the market price at grant. After
June 14, 2011, and up to December
31, 2012, 3,513,850 options have been
granted under the program. All grants
have been made in accordance with
approved program.

Stock Buyback Program

During 2012, Opera did not purchase
any own shares.

Shareholders

As of December 31, 2012, there
were 119,574,782 (119,574,782 as of
December 31, 2011) shares outstanding. The Company had 3,286 (2011:
2,387) shareholders at year‘s end. At
that times, 74.2% (2011: 72.1%) of the
shares were held in Norway-based
accounts, 8.8% (2011: 11.9%) in U.K.based accounts, 6.3% (2011: 6.4%)
in U.S.-based accounts, and 10.7%
(2011: 9.6 %) in accounts based elsewhere.
A key concept in Opera’s approach
to Corporate Governance is the equal
treatment of shareholders. Opera has
one class of shares and all shares
are freely transferable (with possible
exceptions due to foreign law restrictions on sale and offering of securities).
Opera is not aware of any agreements
between shareholders that restrict the
ability to transfer shares or cast votes.
All shares in the Company carry equal

voting rights. Any decision to waive the
preemption rights of existing shareholders to subscribe for shares in the
event of an increase in share capital
will be explained. Where the Board
of Directors resolves to carry out an
increase in the share capital and waive
the preemption rights of the existing
shareholders on the basis of a mandate granted to the Board, an explanation will be publicly disclosed in a
stock exchange announcement issued
in connection with the increase of the
capital. Please see the section entitled
“Principles of Corporate Governance”
in the Annual Report for more information.

Environmental Statement

Opera Software ASA understands
the importance of protecting the
environment. Opera shall:
• Act according to environmental laws.
• Commit to using environmentally
safe products in the workplace.
• Evaluate the consumption of energy
and other resources to determine
means of control.
• Ensure the development of environmentally protective procedures.

OUTLOOK
Opera remains positive about the
Company’s overall growth prospects,
which are expected to be driven
primarily by its mobile businesses
going forward.
Within its mobile business, Opera
continues to drive a compelling value
proposition for operators, helping
them increase data and services revenue streams and profitability. With
the acquisition of Skyfire, Opera has
added a robust portfolio of smartphone targeted products and services
which the Company can now offer to
existing and prospective operator customers. As a result, Opera expects to
generate solid revenue growth from its
operator business in 2013.
Moreover, Opera continues to deliver
a very compelling value proposition
to its rapidly burgeoning mobile consumer base, providing a fast and data
saving, and thereby cheaper, browsing
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experience. Opera’s strategy is to
capitalize on its more than 230million-strong mobile browser user
base by building and expanding
Opera´s owned and operated properties and monetizing these properties
via mobile advertising, mobile search
and mobile applications.
Within Opera’s Mobile Publisher &
Advertiser business (Opera Network
Members), Opera expects to generate
meaningfully more revenue from this
business in 2013 compared to 2012, as
Opera continues to ramp up revenue
directly from advertisers and ad agencies via its mobile advertising network
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subsidiaries, Mobile Theory and 4th
Screen Advertising, and capitalizes on
AdMarvel’s strong position with premium USA publishers.
Opera’s key operational priorities going
into 2013 include continuing to (i) sign
operator agreements for Opera’s existing and new products and services,
including Skyfire´s; (ii) grow revenues
and users of Opera’s mobile consumer
products, particularly on the Android
and iOS smartphone platforms, and
expand usage and monetization of
Opera’s owned and operated properties; (iii) increase revenue from Mobile
Publishers and Advertisers (Opera Net-

work Members), by expanding Opera’s
demand side advertising reach and
capabilities; (iv) grow Opera’s desktop
user base, particularly in Russia/CIS;
and (v) increase Opera’s overall profitability and margins.

Report from the Board of
Directors — Parent Company
Information Only
Below, please find financial information
and commentary on Opera Software
ASA, the Opera Software parent company. Please note that the numbers
and comments below are only applicable to the parent company and not
for the Group. However, the information described above for the Group is
also applicable for the parent company
except for the information below.

FINANCIAL SUMMARY
Opera’s operating revenues grew
by 9% to MUSD 160.8 in 2012 (2011:
147.4 in 2011). Operating expenses
increased by 7% to MUSD 120.5 (2011:
112.5), with non-headcount expenses

increasing primarily due to higher intercompany costs related to purchases of
marketing and technical services from
the subsidiaries, and overall increase in
marketing expenses. Opera delivered
EBIT (excluding costs for restructuring the business) of MUSD 40.4 (2011:
34.8), an increase of 16%, and profit
before income taxes (including costs
for restructuring the business) ended
at MUSD 33.1 (2011: 34.4). Income
taxes were MUSD 9.3 (2011: 10.9), and
the Company’s profit for the period
was MUSD 21.0 (2011: 27.4). Earnings
per share was USD 0.18 (USD 0.23),
and diluted earnings per share was
USD 0.17 (USD 0.23).

ties in 2012 totaled MUSD 38.3 (2011:
31.1). Opera’s cash balance in 2012
versus 2011 was impacted positively
by pre-tax profits and proceeds from
the exercise of stock options of MUSD
3.4 (2011: 5.9). Opera’s cash balance
in 2012 versus 2011 was reduced by
MUSD 0.8 (2011: 0.0) related to acquisitions, capital expenditure of MUSD
5.2 (2011: 4.7), and a dividend payment of MUSD 4.0 (2011: 4.0). As of
December 31, 2012, the Company had
a cash balance of MUSD 128.2 (2011:
102.3) and no interest-bearing debt. It
is the Board’s opinion that the annual
accounts provide a true and fair view of
the Company’s activities in 2012.

Net cash flow from operating activi-
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Statement by the
Board of Directors and the
Chief Executive Officer
The Board of Directors and the Chief Executive Officer (CEO) have reviewed and approved the Board of Directors’ Report
and the financial statements for Opera Software Group and Opera Software ASA as of December 31, 2012, (Annual Report
for FY 2012).
The consolidated financial statements and the financial statements for the parent company have been prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) adopted by the EU and the interpretations adopted by the
International Accounting Standards Board (IASB). The consolidated financial statements have also been prepared according to applicable regulations and paragraphs in the Norwegian Accounting Act and the relevant paragraphs in the Security
Trading Act.

To the best of our knowledge:
• The consolidated financial statements and the financial statements for the parent company for 2012 have been
prepared in accordance with applicable accounting standards.
• The consolidated financial statements and the financial statements for the parent company give a true and fair view of
the assets, liabilities, financial position and profit as a whole as of December 31, 2012, for the Group and the parent
company.
• The Board of Directors’ Report for the group and the parent company includes a true and fair review of:
o The development and performance of the business and the position of the Group and the parent company
o The principal risks and uncertainties the Group and the parent company face
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Tapping into the
grassroots power
of mobile to shape
innovative products
and services
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Presentation of the
Board of Directors
Chairman, Arve Johansen

Member, Greg Coleman

Johansen has a background as a technical manager for EB
Telecom, where he served as chief engineer on several largescale projects. This career foundation led him to Norway’s
telecom giant, Telenor, first as CEO of Telenor International
and later as Deputy Group CEO, responsible for all Telenor
activities in Asia. He has been a key figure in shaping Telenor
into the global company that it is today. Johansen currently
serves as an independent board member for multiple
companies. He holds degrees from both the Norwegian
Institute of Technology (NTNU) and the Harvard Business
School.

Coleman is President at Criteo, a global leader in performance
display advertising, which drives search-like performance for
online display advertising, managing campaigns of all sizes
that are measurable, scalable, and powered by user intent.

Member, Marianne Blystad
Marianne Heien Blystad has been an Attorney-at-Law with
the law firm Ro and Sommernes since 2008. Apart from
her professional legal experience from corporate banking,
shipping and offshore, she holds directorships with
Eksportfinans ASA, Sørenga Utvikling AS, Edda Utvikling
AS, and Songa Shipping and sits on the Corporate Assembly
of Orkla ASA. Ms. Blystad holds a business degree from the
Norwegian School of Management, (Handelshøyskolen BI)
and a Law degree from the University of Oslo.

Member, Kari Stautland
Kari Stautland has a background in human resources. Most
recently, she was Human Resources Manager at GE Healthcare AS, a leading global medical company. She has worked
in HR for many years and has extensive knowledge within
this area. Kari holds a Master’s degree in Business and
Marketing.

Member, Audun Wickstrand Iversen
Audun Wickstrand Iversen is a private investor and CEO of
EAM Solar ASA, a listed company on the OSE. Over the last
ten years, he has focused primarily on the telecom, IT and
alternative energy industries. Previously, Iversen worked as a
financial analyst at DnB Markets and as a portfolio manager
at DnB Asset Management, with responsibility for global
telecoms and alternative energy. He holds a degree in Business Administration from the Norwegian School of Management (BI), as well as degrees from the Norwegian School
of Economics and Business Administration (NHH) and the
University of Oslo.
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Coleman has extensive general management and sales
leadership experience and has been on the executive
management team for several influential media and technology companies. His experience includes being President
and Chief Revenue Officer at The Huffington Post and EVP
of Global Sales at Yahoo!, as well as being an adjunct professor of Digital Marketing at New York University’s Stern
Business School.

Employee representative, Christian Uribe
Christian Uribe joined Opera Software in 2005, bringing with
him a varied and international professional and educational
background. Before taking up his role at Opera (currently
Director/Program Manager for Mobile), Uribe ran an IT
consultancy in Mexico. He holds a Law degree from the
Universidad de Valparaiso in Chile.

Employee representative, Erik Möller
Erik Möller is an experienced software engineer and joined
Opera Software in 2009 after having spent 14 years in the
computer games industry. Erik is currently employed as the
manager for the Android Sweden team.

Employee representative, Krystian Kolondra
Krystian Kolondra is responsible for Opera’s Desktop
product group. He joined Opera Software in 2006. Before
taking his current position, he was Country Manager for
Opera’s offices in Poland and had the role of SVP for TV Product Development. Prior to joining Opera, Krystian worked in
various managerial positions with Siemens and BenQ. Krystian holds a Master‘s degree in Computer Sciences from the
University of Wrocław and is a post graduate in Project
Management from the Higher School of Banking in Wrocław.

Consolidated Group
Annual Accounts Report 2012
Opera Software ASA
The annual accounts report for Opera Software ASA contains the following
documents:
Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income............................................................................................................. 30
Consolidated Statement of Financial Position ....................................................................................................................................31
Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows ....................................................................................................................................................... 33
Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity............................................................................................................................... 34
Consolidated Notes to the Financial Statements ....................................................................................................................... 36

The consolidated financial statements, which have been drawn up by the Board and
management, must be read in conjunction with the annual report and the independent auditor’s opinion.
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Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income
Note

1/1 - 12/31

1/1 - 12/31

2012

2011

216.0

159.8

216.0

159.8

[ Numbers in MUSD ]
Revenue

1, 2, 5

Total operating revenue
Cost of goods sold

1, 2

24.9

3.5

Payroll and related expenses

3, 5

94.7

79.6

Depreciation expenses
Other operating expenses

5, 7

9.7

6.2

3, 4, 5, 7, 14

36.4

32.3

165.8

121.7

50.2

38.1

12.8

1.7

37.4

36.4

1.3

1.4
4.5

Total operating expenses
Results from operating activities ("EBIT"). excl. restructuring costs
Costs for restructuring the business

12

Results from operating activities ("EBIT")
Interest income

5

Other financial income

5

1.8

Interest expenses

5

-0.1

0.0

Interest expense related to VAT case

11

0.0

-0.3

Interest expense related to contingent consideration

11

-7.7

-1.5

FX gains/losses related to contingent consideration. net

11

1.4

0.0

Revaluation of contingent consideration

11

0.2

0.6

Other financial expenses

5

-5.1

-3.3

Share of the profit/loss of associates accounted for using the equity method

8

-3.7

-0.7

25.6

37.1

-8.6

-11.8

17.0

25.4

4.4

-2.4

21.4

22.9

Owners of the Company

17.0

25.4

Non-controlling interest

0.0

0.0

17.0

25.4

Owners of the Company

21.4

22.9

Non-controlling interest

0.0

0.0

21.4

22.9

Profit before income tax
Income tax on ordinary result

6

Profit for the period
Foreign currency translation differences for foreign operations
Total comprehensive income for the period
Profit attributable to:

Profit for the period
Total comprehensive income attributable to:

Total comprehensive income for the period
Earnings per share:
Basic earnings per share (USD)

15

0.143

0.213

Diluted earnings per share (USD)

15

0.140

0.210
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position
1/1 - 12/31

1/1 - 12/31

Note

2012

2011

Goodwill

7, 8

70.3

27.2

Other intangible assets

7, 8

12.5

4.7

82.8

32.0

15.8

12.8

15.8

12.8

0.8

[ Numbers in MUSD ]
Assets
Non-current assets
Intangible assets

Total intangible assets
Property, plant, and equipment
Office machinery, equipment, etc.

7

Total property, plant, and equipment
Financial assets and deferred tax assets
Deferred tax assets

6

3.8

Investments in other shares

8

2.1

1.6

Other investments and deposits

4

3.6

2.9

9.4

5.2

108.0

49.9

5, 10

35.2

14.4

10

26.7

15.2

6, 10

12.4

4.4

74.3

34.0

57.2

83.1

Total current assets

131.5

117.1

Total assets

239.5

167.0

Total financial assets and deferred tax assets
Total non-current assets
Current assets
Trade and other receivables
Accounts receivable
Unbilled revenue
Other receivables
Total trade and other receivables
Cash and cash equivalents

5
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position
1/1 - 12/31

1/1 - 12/31

2012

2011

0.4

0.4

Share premium reserve

81.9

76.2

Other reserves

17.0

12.4

Total paid in capital

99.3

89.0

Other equity

44.4

28.5

Total retained earnings

44.4

28.5

143.8

117.5

26.1

1.7

26.1

1.7

Note
[ Numbers in MUSD ]
Shareholders' equity and liabilities
Equity
Paid in capital
Share capital

9

Retained earnings

Total equity
Liabilities
Non-current liabilities
Provisions

11

Total non-current liabilities
Current liabilities
Accounts payable
Taxes payable
Social security, VAT, and other taxation payable

10

19.6

4.0

6

7.7

3.3

10

5.9

5.0

Deferred revenue

5

11.2

14.5

Option liability

3

0.1

0.0

5, 10

22.4

13.4

10, 11

2.7

7.7

Total current liabilities

69.7

47.8

Total liabilities

95.8

49.5

239.5

167.0

Other short-term liabilities
Provisions

Total equity and liabilities

Oslo, April 15, 2013

Arve Johansen
Chairman

Audun Wickstrand Iversen

Kari Stautland

Marianne H. Blystad

Gregory Gerard Coleman

Erik Möller
Employee representative

Christian Mauricio Uribe Espinoza
Employee representative

Krystian Kolondra
Employee representative

Lars Boilesen
CEO
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows
Note

1/1 - 12/31

1/1 - 12/31

2012

2011

[ Numbers in MUSD ]
Cash flow from operating activities
Profit/loss before taxes

25.6

37.1

Taxes paid

6

-9.2

-4.6

Depreciation expenses

7

9.7

6.2

0.1

0.3

3.0

0.8

Profit/loss from sales of property, plant, and equipment
Impairment of assets ***

7, 12

Changes in accounts receivable **

-24.3

2.4

Changes in accounts payable

5.4

-0.4

Changes in other liabilities and receivables, net

4.9

-7.4

Equity method accounting for associate companies

8

4.6

0.7

Share-based remuneration

3

3.6

2.5

8, 11

6.0

0.9

8.1

-1.8

37.6

36.7

Interest and FX related to contingent payment */***
Conversion discrepancy
Net cash flow from operating activities
Cash flow from investment activities
Capital expenditures

7

-10.4

-10.6

4, 7

-3.4

0.0

Acquisitions ***

8

-44.2

-12.1

Other investments ****

8

-4.9

-2.4

-62.9

-25.1

5.9

Investment in R&D *****

Net cash flow from investment activities
Cash flow from financing activities
Proceeds from exercise of stock options

9

3.4

Proceeds of share issues, net

9

0.0

0.0

Dividends paid

9

-4.0

-4.0

Purchase of own shares

9

0.0

-16.3

-0.6

-14.4

Net cash flow from financing activities
Net change in cash and cash equivalents

-25.9

-2.8

Cash and cash equivalents (beginning of period)

83.1

86.0

Cash and cash equivalents ******/*******

57.2

83.1

*

Interest income and interest expenses are included in the profit and loss. Interest paid and interest received are recognized in the same year that interest income and interest expenses are
recognized in the profit and loss,with the exception of interest related to re-evaluation of the
contingent payment related to acquisitions. Conversion differences and interest related to revaluation of the contingent payment are booked on a separate line as net cash flow from operating activities.

On February 16, 2012, Opera Software International AS acquired 100% ofthe shares and voting
interest of the privately-held company 4th Screen Advertising Ltd. The acquisition comprised an
initial payment of MUSD 5.1 for the shares acquired and an escrow payment of MUSD 3.0 for
future earnouts. 4th Screen’s net cash of MUSD 0.8 on the day of acquisition has been netted
in acquisitions in the statement of cash flows. In 2Q 2012, Opera paid a subsequent payment of
MUSD 0.2 for the shares and voting interests.

**

Changes in unbilled revenue are included in changes in accounts receivables in the statement of
cash flows.

***

On April 30, 2010, Opera entered into an Asset Purchase Agreement with the FastMail Partnership. The final earnout payments related to this deal were made in 1Q 2012, and totaled MUSD
0.9. The payments have been included in acquisitions in the statement of cash flows. Please see
note 11 for more information.

On May 14, 2012, Opera Software ASA acquired 100% of the shares and voting interest of the
privately held company Netview Technology AS, following a payment of MUSD 0.8 for the shares
acquired. Net cash of MUSD 0.0 in Netview Tecnology at acquisition day has been netted in
acquisitions in the statement of cashflows.

In 4Q 2012, Opera booked an estimated impairment cost related to the write down of FastMail’s
goodwill value. FastMail’s operations were acquired by operations in April 2010. Please see note
11 for more information. In 1Q 2012, Opera paid the final earnout payment of MUSD 6.5 related to
the AdMarvel acquisition deal. The payment has been included in acquisitions in the statement of
cash flows. Please see note 11 for more information.
On February 16, 2012, Opera Software International AS acquired 100% of the shares and voting
interest of the privately-held company Mobile Theory, Inc. The acquisition comprised an initial
payment of MUSD 3.9 for the shares acquired and an escrow payment of MUSD 13.0 for future
earnouts. Mobile Theory’s net cash of MUSD 0.3 on the day of acquisition has been netted in
acquisitions in the statement of cash flows. In 4Q 2012, Opera prepaid the 2012 earnout payment of MUSD 17.8 (of which MUSD 11.8 had a cash flow effect in 4Q 2012).

****

In 2012, Opera invested MUSD 2.4 in both 3Q and 4Q in nHorizon Innovation. These investments
come in addition to the MUSD 2.4 already invested in 2011. Please see note 8 for more
information.

***** In 2012, MUSD 3.4 (2011: 0.0) of Opera’s investment in product development was capitalized in
the consolidated statement of financial position.
****** Cash and cash equivalents of MUSD 1.8 were restricted assets as of December 31, 2012, and
cash and cash equivalents of MUSD 1.5 were restricted assets as of December 31, 2011.
******* As of December 31, 2012, the conversion discrepancy profit booked on cash and cash equivalents was MUSD 1.3, and the comparative number as of December 31, 2011, was MUSD -0.5.
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity

[ Numbers in MUSD ]
Balance as of 12/31/2011

117.9

0.4

77.4

12.8

0.0

-2.4

29.4

117.5

17.0

17.0

Comprehensive income for the
period
Profit for the period
Other comprehensive income
Foreign currency translation differences
Total comprehensive income for the
period

4.4

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

4.4

4.4

17.0

21.4

-4.0

-4.0

Contributions by and distributions
to owners
Dividend to equity holders
Own shares acquired

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

Own shares sold

1.3

0.0

3.4

3.4

0.7

0.7

0.0

0.0

Tax deduction loss own shares
Issue expenses
Tax deduction on equity bookings

0.0

Share-based payment transactions
Total contributions by and
distributions to owners

4.8

1.3

0.0

0.0

4.8

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

4.8

0.1

4.9

0.0

0.0

Other equity changes
Other changes
Total other equity changes
Balance as of 12/31/2012

0.0
0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

119.2

0.4

77.4

17.6

0.0

2.0

46.4

143.8

Face value of the shares					
The face value of the shares are NOK 0.02.
Other reserves					
Other reserves consists of option costs booked according to the equity settled method and issued shares registered
in the period after the current financial year.
Reserve for own shares					
The reserve for the Group’s own shares comprises the face value cost of the Company’s shares held by the Company.
Translation reserve
The translation reserve consists of all foreign currency differences arising from the translation of the financial statements
of foreign operations
Other equity
Other equity consists of all other transactions, including but not limited to, total recognized income and expense for
the current period and excess value of the Company’s own shares.
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Statement of Changes in Equity (continued)

[ Numbers in MUSD ]
Balance as of 12/31/2010

119.0

0.4

77.4

10.3

0.0

0.0

17.5

105.6

25.4

25.4

Comprehensive income
for the period
Profit for the period
Other comprehensive income
Foreign currency translation differences
Total comprehensive income for the
period

-2.4

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

-2.4

-2.4

25.4

22.9

Contributions by and distributions
to owners
Dividend to equity holders
Own shares acquired
Own shares sold

-4.0

-4.0

-3.3

0.0

-16.3

-16.3

2.2

0.0

5.8

5.9

0.9

0.9

Tax deduction loss own shares
Issue expenses

0.0

Tax deduction on equity bookings

0.0

Share-based payment transactions
Total contributions by and
distributions to owners

0.0
2.5

-1.1

0.0

0.0

2.5

2.5

0.0

0.0

-13.5

-11.0

Other equity changes
Other changes
Total other equity changes
Balance as of 12/31/2011

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

117.9

0.4

77.4

12.8

0.0

-2.4

29.4

117.5
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Note 1 – Accounting Principles
Opera Software ASA (the “Company”) is a company domiciled
in Norway. The consolidated financial statements of the Company for the year ending December 31, 2012, comprise the
Company, its subsidiaries Hern Labs AB, Opera Distribution
AS, Netview Technology AS, and Opera Software International
AS (which, in turn, includes the subsidiaries Opera Software
Korea Ltd, Opera Software Technology (Beijing) Co., Ltd, Opera
Software Poland Sp. z o.o, Opera Software Australia PTY LTD,
AdMarvel, Inc., Handster, Inc., Mobile Theory, Inc, 4th Screen
Advertising Ltd, 4th Screen Advertising Holdings Ltd., Opera
Software Singapore PTE. Ltd., Opera Software Ukraine LLC,
LLC Opera Software (Russia), Opera Software Iceland ehf, and
Opera Web Technologies Pvt. Ltd), and the limited company
Beijing Yuege Software Technology Service Co., Ltd. (of which
Opera had full control) together referred to as the “Group”. In
2012, Opera Software International AS had branches in the
Czech Republic, Japan, Poland, USA and Taiwan.

statements.

Statement of compliance

Business combinations are accounted for using the acquisition method as at the acquisition date, which is the date on
which control is transferred to the Group. Control is the power
to govern the financial and operating policies of an entity so as
to obtain benefits from its activities. In assessing control, the
Group takes into consideration potential voting rights that currently are exercisable.

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared in
accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards
(IFRS) adopted by the EU and the interpretations adopted by
the International Accounting Standards Board (IASB). The
consolidated financial statements have also been prepared
according to applicable regulations and paragraphs in the
Norwegian Accounting Act and the relevant paragraph in the
Securities Trading Act.

Basis of preparation

The consolidated financial statements are presented in USD,
rounded to the nearest hundred thousand. They are prepared
on a historical cost basis.
Except for liabilities for derivative financial instruments, cashsettled, share-based payment arrangements, and contingent
considerations obtained in business combinations, no other
assets or liabilities are stated at their fair value. Receivables and
debts are assumed to have a market value equal to book value.
The preparation of consolidated financial statements, in conformity with IFRS, requires management to make judgments,
estimates, and assumptions that affect the application of policies and reported amounts of assets, liabilities, income, and
expenses. The estimates and associated assumptions are
based on historical experience and various other factors that
are believed to be reasonable under the circumstances, the
results of which form the basis of making the judgments about
carrying values of assets and liabilities. Actual results may differ
from these estimates.
The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed
on an ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are
recognized in the period in which the estimate is revised,
if the revision affects only that period, or in the period of
the revision and future periods, if the revision affects both
current and future periods.
Judgments made by management in the application of IFRS,
that have a significant effect on the consolidated financial statements and estimates, with a significant risk of material adjustment in the next year, are discussed in note 13.
The accounting policies set out below have been applied consistently to all periods presented in these consolidated financial
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The accounting policies have been applied consistently by
Group entities.

Changes in accounting policies

The Group has not changed its accounting policies during FY
2012. However see the comments regarding “Research and
development”.

Basis of consolidation
Business combinations
From January 1, 2010, the Group has applied IFRS 3 Business
Combinations (2008) in accounting for business combinations.
The change in accounting policy has been applied prospectively and has had no material impact on earnings per share.

Acquisitions on or after January 1, 2010
For acquisitions on or after January 1, 2010, the Group
measures goodwill at the acquisition date as:
• The fair value of the consideration transferred; plus
•
		
		
		

The recognized amount of any non-controlling interests in
the acquiree, plus if the business combination is achieved
in stages, the fair value of the existing equity interest in the
acquire; less

• The net recognized amount (generally, fair value) of the
		 identifiable assets acquired and liabilities assumed.
When the excess is negative, a bargain purchase gain is
recognized immediately in the profit or loss. The consideration
transferred does not include amounts related to the settlement of pre-existing relationships. Such amounts are generally
recognized in the profit or loss.
Costs related to the acquisition, other than those associated
with the issue of debt or equity securities, that the Group incurs
in connection with a business combination are expensed as
incurred. Any contingent consideration payable is recognized
at fair value at the acquisition date. If the contingent consideration is classified as equity, it is not premeasured and settlement is accounted for within equity. Otherwise, subsequent
changes to the fair value of the contingent consideration are
recognized in the profit or loss.
When share-based payment awards (replacement awards)
are required to be exchanged for awards held by the
acquiree’s employees (acquirer’s awards) and relate to
past services, then all or a portion of the amount of the
acquiree’s replacement awards is included in measuring the
consideration transferred in the business combination. This
determination is based on the market-based value of the
replacement awards compared with the market-based value of

the acquiree’s awards and the extent to which the replacement
awards relate to past and/or future service.
Acquisitions between January 1, 2004,
and January 1, 2010
For acquisitions between January 1, 2004, and January 1,
2010, goodwill represents the excess of the cost of the acquisition over the Group’s interest in the recognized amount
(generally, fair value) of the identifiable assets, liabilities, and
contingent liabilities of the acquiree. When the excess was
negative, a bargain purchase gain was recognized immediately
in profit or loss.
Transaction costs, other than those associated with the issue
of debt or equity securities that the Group incurred in connection with business combinations, were capitalized as part of the
cost of the acquisition.
Acquisitions prior to January 1, 2004
(date of transition to IFRS)
As part of its transition to IFRS, the Group elected to restate
only those business combinations that occurred on or after
January 1, 2004. A portion of the goodwill relates to the
purchase of Hern Labs AB. As the goodwill existed before
January 1, 2004, the goodwill is based on the amount recognized according to NGAAP. Goodwill from the purchase of
Hern Labs AB booked on December 31, 2010, has the same
value as goodwill on January 1, 2004.
Subsidiaries
Subsidiaries are entities controlled by the Company. Control
exists when the Company has the power, directly or indirectly, to govern the financial and operating policies of an
entity so as to obtain benefits from its activities. In assessing
control, potential voting rights that presently are exercisable
or convertible are taken into account. The financial statements of subsidiaries are included in the consolidated financial statements from the date that control commences until the
date that control ceases.
Loss of control
Upon the loss of control, the Group derecognizes the assets
and liabilities of the subsidiary, any non-controlling interests,
and the other components of equity related to the subsidiary.
Any surplus or deficit arising on the loss of control is recognized
in the profit or loss. If the Group retains any interest in the previous subsidiary, then such interest is measured at fair value at
the date that control is lost. Subsequently, it is accounted for as
an equity-accounted investee or as an available-for-sale financial asset depending on the level of influence retained.
Investments in associates
Associates are those entities in which the Group has significant influence, but not control, over the financial and operating policies. Significant influence is presumed to exist when the
Group holds between 20 and 50 percent of the voting power
of another entity.
Investments in associates are accounted for using the equity
method (equity-accounted investees) and are recognized
initially at cost. The cost of the investment includes transaction
costs.

The consolidated financial statements include the Group’s
share of the profit or loss and other comprehensive income,
after adjustments, to align the accounting policies with those of
the Group from the date that significant influence or joint control commences until the date that significant influence or joint
control ceases.
When the Group’s share of losses exceeds its interest in an
equity-accounted investee, the carrying amount of that interest,
including any long-term investments, is reduced to zero, and
the recognition of further losses is discontinued except to the
extent that the Group has an obligation or has made payments
on behalf of the investee.
Transactions eliminated on consolidation
Intra-group balances, any unrealized gains and losses, or
income and expenses arising from intra-group transactions
are eliminated in preparing the consolidated financial statements. Unrealized gains arising from transactions with equityaccounted investees are eliminated against the investment to
the extent of the Group’s interest in the investee. Unrealized
losses are eliminated in the same way as unrealized gains, but
only to the extent that there is no evidence of impairment.
Accounting for acquisitions of non-controlling
interests
Acquisitions of non-controlling interests are accounted for
as transactions with owners in their capacity as owners, and
therefore no goodwill is recognized as a result of such transactions. The adjustments to non-controlling interests are based
on a proportionate amount of the net assets of the subsidiary.

Foreign currency
Foreign currency transactions
Transactions in foreign currencies are translated at the foreign exchange rate prevailing on the date of the transaction. Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign
currencies at the balance sheet date are translated to USD
at the foreign exchange rate prevailing on that date. Foreign
exchange differences arising on translation are recognized
in the statement of comprehensive income. Non-monetary
assets and liabilities that are measured in terms of historical
cost in a foreign currency are translated using the exchange
rate prevailing on the date of the transaction. Non-monetary
assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies that are
stated at fair value are translated to USD at foreign exchange
rates prevailing on the date the fair value was determined.
Foreign operations
The assets and liabilities of foreign operations, including
goodwill and fair value adjustments arising from consolidation, are translated to USD at foreign exchange rates
prevailing on the balance sheet date. Revenues and expenses
of foreign operations are translated to USD using the
approximate foreign exchange rates prevailing on the transaction date. Foreign exchange differences arising from
re-translation are recognized directly in a separate component
of equity.
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Property, plant, and equipment
Owned assets
Property, plant, and equipment are stated at cost, less accumulated depreciation (see below) and impairment losses (see
accounting policy regarding impairment).
Where parts of property, plant, and equipment have different
useful lives, they are accounted for as separate items of property, plant, and equipment.
Leased assets
Leases, where the Group assumes substantially all the risks
and rewards of ownership, are classified as finance leases. The
group has only operational lease contracts as of December 31,
2012. Expenses concerning the upgrading of leased premises
have been capitalized and are amortized over the remaining
term of the contract.
Subsequent costs
The Group recognizes, in the carrying amount of an item of
property, plant, and equipment, the cost of replacing part of
such an item when that cost is incurred, if it is probable that the
future economic benefits embodied with the item will flow to the
Group, and the cost of the item can be measured reliably. All
other costs are recognized in the statement of comprehensive
income as an expense as incurred.
Depreciation
Depreciation is charged to the statement of comprehensive
income on a straight-line basis over the estimated useful lives
of each part of an item of property, plant, and equipment. The
estimated useful lives are as follows:
• Leasehold improvements

Up to 5 years

• Machinery and equipment

Up to 5 years

• Fixtures and fittings

Up to 5 years

The residual value, if not insignificant, is reassessed annually.

Intangible assets
Goodwill
Goodwill that arises upon the acquisition of subsidiaries is
included in intangible assets. For the measurement of goodwill
at initial recognition, see above.
Goodwill is stated at cost, less any accumulated impairment
losses. Goodwill is allocated to cash-generating units and is
no longer amortized but is tested annually for impairment (see
accounting policy regarding impairment).
			
Negative goodwill arising on an acquisition is recognized
directly in the profit or loss.
Research and development
Expenses related to research activities, which are expected to
lead to scientific or technological knowledge and understanding, are recognized as costs in the statement of comprehensive
income in the period they are incurred.
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The Company develops specifically designed browsers for use
in its customers’ products. A fee is paid to the Company for
this service, and this fee should cover the costs related to the
development of these custom-made browsers. As the customer’s payment covers the development costs, these costs
are not reported in the statement of financial position. See also
principles of revenue recognition.
Cost of building new features, together with significant and
pervasive improvements of the core platform, provided that
the significant and pervasive improvements of parts or main
components of the core platform will generate probable future
economic benefits, are capitalized as development costs and
amortized on a straight line 3-year basis. These costs were not
capitalized in FY 2011, as Opera has from FY 2012 enabled
internal reporting and bookkeeping systems to account
distinctly for these costs.
The Company’s desktop and mobile browser share one
core code, with its TV and mini browsers sharing another
core. This means core updates performed by our engineering department affect multiple products. Engineering also
makes some product-specific changes, but the core functionality is the same for those in the same core family.
A significant portion of the work that engineering performs
(beyond specifically designed browsers) is related to the implementation of the ongoing updates that are required to maintain
the browser’s functionality. Examples of updates include “bug
fixes”, updates made to comply with changes in laws and regulations, and updates made to keep pace with the latest web
trends. These costs are expensed as maintenance cost.
Other intangible assets
Other intangible assets, excluding deferred tax assets (see
accounting policy regarding income tax) that are acquired by
the Group, are stated at cost less accumulated amortization
(see below) and impairment losses (see accounting policy
regarding impairment).
Subsequent expenditure
Subsequent expenditure on capitalized intangible assets is
capitalized only when it increases the future economic benefits embodied in the specific asset to which it relates. All other
expenditures are expensed as incurred.
Amortization
Amortization is charged to the statement of comprehensive
income on a straight-line basis over the estimated useful lives of
intangible assets, unless such lives are indefinite. Goodwill and
intangible assets with indefinite useful lives are systematically
tested for impairment at each balance sheet date.

Financial instruments
Non-derivative financial instruments
Non-derivative financial instruments are initially measured at fair
value plus transaction costs, except for those non-derivative
financial instruments classified as at fair value through profit or
loss, which are initially measured at fair value without transaction costs. Subsequent to initial recognition, non-derivative
financial instruments are measured as described below.

Derivative financial instruments
From time to time, the Group holds derivative financial instruments to hedge its foreign currency exposures. Derivatives are
recognized initially at fair value; associated transaction costs
are recognized in the profit or loss when incurred. Subsequent
to initial recognition, derivatives are measured at fair value, and
changes in fair value are recognized in the profit or loss. No
hedge accounting has been applied.
Trade and other receivables
Trade and other receivables are stated at their cost less impairment losses (see accounting policy regarding impairment).
Cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash balances and call
deposits. Deposits in money market funds are included in cash
and cash equivalents, as the funds can be withdrawn from the
money market fund at will.

Impairment
Financial assets
A financial asset is assessed at each reporting date to determine whether there is any objective evidence that it is impaired.
A financial asset is considered to be impaired if objective
evidence indicates that one or more events have had a negative
effect on the estimated future cash flows of that asset.
Non-financial assets
The carrying amounts of the Group’s assets are reviewed at
each balance sheet date to determine whether there is any indication of impairment. If any such indication exists, the asset’s
recoverable amount is estimated (see below).
For goodwill, assets that have an indefinite useful life and
intangible assets that are not yet available for use, the recoverable amount is estimated at each balance sheet date.
An impairment loss is recognized whenever the carrying
amount of an asset or its cash-generating unit exceeds its
recoverable amount. Impairment losses are recognized in the
statement of comprehensive income.
Impairment losses recognized in respect of cash-generating
units are allocated first to reduce the carrying amount of any
goodwill allocated to cash-generating units (group of units) and
then to reduce the carrying amount of the other assets in the
unit (group of units) on a pro rata basis.
When a decline in the fair value of an available-for-sale financial asset has been recognized directly in equity, and there is
objective evidence that the asset is impaired, the cumulative
loss that had been recognized directly in equity is recognized in
the profit or loss even though the financial asset has not been
derecognized. The amount of the cumulative loss that is recognized in the profit or loss is the difference between the acquisition cost and current fair value less any impairment loss on that
financial asset previously recognized in the profit or loss.
Calculation of recoverable amount
The recoverable amount of the Group’s assets is the greater of
their net selling price and value in use. In assessing value in use,

the estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present
value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current market
assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific
to the asset. For an asset that does not generate largely independent cash inflows, the recoverable amount is determined
for the cash-generating unit to which the asset belongs.
Reversals of impairment
An impairment loss in respect of goodwill is not reversed.
With respect to other assets, an impairment loss is reversed if
there has been a change in the estimates used to determine
the recoverable amount. An impairment loss is reversed only
to the extent that the assets carrying amount does not exceed
the carrying amount that would have been determined, net of
depreciation or amortization, if no impairment loss had been
recognized.

Determination of fair values

The fair value of forward exchange contracts is based on their
listed market price, if available. If a listed market price is not
available, then fair value is estimated by discounting the difference between the contractual forward price and the current
forward price for the residual maturity of the contract using a
risk-free interest rate (based on government bonds).

Dividends

Dividends on shares are recognized as a liability in the period in
which they are declared.

Distributions of non-cash assets to owners
of the Company

The Group book a liability to distribute non-cash assets as a
dividend to the owners of the Company at the fair value. The
carrying amount of the dividend is re-measured at each reporting date and at the settlement date, with any changes recognized directly in equity as adjustments to the amount of the
distribution. On settlement of the transaction, the Group recognizes the difference, if any, between the carrying amounts of
the assets distributed and the carrying amount of the liability in
the profit or loss.

Treasury shares

The purchase and sale of treasury shares have been recognized directly in equity.

Employee benefits — Defined contribution plans

A defined contribution plan is a post-employment benefit
plan under which an entity pays fixed contributions into a
separate entity and will have no legal or constructive obligation to pay further amounts. Obligations for contributions
to defined contribution pension plans are recognized as an
employee benefit expense in the profit or loss in the periods
during which services are rendered by employees. Prepaid
contributions are recognized as an asset to the extent that
a cash refund or a reduction in future payments is available.
Contributions to a defined contribution plan that are due
more than 12 months after the end of the period in which
the employees render the service are discounted to their
present value.
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Termination benefits

Termination benefits are recognized as an expense when the
Group is demonstrably committed, without realistic possibility of withdrawal, to a formal detailed plan to either terminate
employment before the normal retirement date, or to provide
termination benefits as a result of an offer made to encourage voluntary redundancy. Termination benefits for voluntary
redundancies are recognized as an expense if the Group has
made an offer encouraging voluntary redundancy, it is probable
that the offer will be accepted, and the number of acceptances
can be estimated reliably.

Share-based payment transactions

The share option program allows Group employees to acquire
shares of the Company. The fair value of options granted is
recognized as an employee expense with a corresponding
increase in equity. The fair value is measured at grant date and
spread over the period during which the employees become
unconditionally entitled to the options. The fair value of the
options granted is measured using the Black & Scholes model,
taking into account the terms and conditions upon which the
options were granted. The amount recognized as an expense
is adjusted to reflect the actual number of share options that
vest except where forfeiture is only due to share prices not
achieving the threshold for vesting. For options granted before
March 2007, Opera has programs for options that last for four
years. The program gives the option holder the right to exercise 25% of the options after one year, the next 25% after two
years, the next 25% after three years, and the last 25% after
four years. The option costs are accrued according to the principle of graded vesting. The social security taxes connected
to the options are accrued according to the intrinsic value.
This means that the expensed social security tax is calculated
based on the difference between the market value and the
strike price and accrued over the vesting period. For options
granted between March 2007 and June 15, 2010, 20% of the
options vest after one year, another 20% after two years, 25%
after three years and the last 35% after four years. For options
granted from June 16, 2010, 50% of the options vest after three
years and the last 50% after four years. Option costs related
to the options granted in 2007-2012 are accrued according to
the principle of graded vesting. Those employees, who were
granted options in 2007-2012, are responsible for the social
security taxes. Opera pays the social security taxes, but is
reimbursed by the employee. The employees can exercise the
options until three years after they have vested. This condition is
included in the calculation of the fair value of the options.

Provisions

A provision is recognized in the statement of financial position
when the Group has a current existing legal or constructive
obligation as a result of a past event, and it is probable that
an outflow of economic benefits will be required to settle the
obligation. If the effect is material, provisions are determined
by discounting the expected future cash flows at a pre-tax rate
that reflects current market assessments of the time value of
money and, where appropriate, the risks specific to the liability.
The fair value of a contingent consideration is calculated
using the income approach based on the expected payment
amounts and their associated probabilities (i.e., probabilityweighted). Since a part of the contingent consideration is longterm in nature, it is discounted to present value.
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Warranties

A provision for warranties is recognized when the underlying
products or services are sold. The provision is based on
historical warranty data and a weighting of all possible outcomes against their associated probabilities.

Onerous contracts

A provision for onerous contracts is recognized when the
expected benefits to be derived by the Group from a contract
are lower than the unavoidable cost of meeting its obligations
under the contract.

Trade and other payables

Trade and other payables are stated at cost.

Revenue recognition

The Company has the following primary sources of revenue:
• Licenses/royalties
• Development fees
• Maintenance, support, and hosting
• Search
• Affiliate
• Advertising
• Application and content
• Payment
• Subscription
Opera’s main revenue recognition principles are as follows:
Opera only recognizes revenues when: (i) persuasive evidence
of an arrangement exists (signed agreement), (ii) delivery of the
product and/or service has occurred, (iii) revenue is fixed and
determinable, and the amount of revenue can be measured
reliably, and (iv) collection is reasonably assured.
Licenses/royalties
Customer device agreements typically involve multiple
sources of revenue, including license/royalty income, development fees and maintenance and support. For customer
contracts where development and customization have
already been completed, or, if no development or customization is required, Opera typically recognizes license/
royalty revenue in the same period as the customer ships the
devices with Opera preinstalled. In cases where Opera is not
preinstalled, Opera recognizes license/royalty income when
the customer or customer’s customer downloads the Opera
browser to their device.
In some contracts, the customer prepays for a minimum
number of copies of the customized browser. Opera receives
this license/royalty fee irrespective of whether the customer
actually uses or ships the number of minimum licenses.
Where there is significant customization of the browser or
significant engineering is required to port the browser to the
operating system, the prepaid minimum license/royalty fees

are recognized on a percentage-of-completion basis along
with the development fee revenue. Where there is no customization, no significant customization of the browser is
required, or, if there is no porting or no significant engineering is required to port the browser to the operating system,
the prepaid minimum license/royalty fees are typically
recognized when the master copy of the product is delivered
to the customer. For certain agreements, a customer commits
on contract signature to pay, on an installment basis, for a fixed
or unlimited number of licenses over an extended time period.
In these cases, provided that Opera has no substantive customization obligations attached to these committed licenses,
Opera recognizes revenues on these licenses in the accounting period in which the installment payment is due from the
customer, as these contracts include extended payment terms.
Opera also enters into customer agreements for a customerbranded or joint customer/Opera “co-branded” version of its
Opera Mini product offering (typically with operators), where
license/royalty income is generated over a defined period
predicated on the number of active users of the browser in that
period (where an active user is generally defined as a user who
uses the Opera Mini browser to access the internet at least
once in that period). Opera also enters into agreements with
operators where a portion of revenue generated by the operator from data services and content is shared with Opera. For
these revenue-share agreements, Opera typically hosts the
Opera Mini solution and recognizes the revenue according to
revenue-share reports provided by the operator. For the active
user agreements, Opera typically hosts the Opera Mini solution
and recognizes the revenue based on the active user information the Company has available from its own computer servers. Opera also enters into customer agreements where the
customer pays for delivery of an unlimited number of copies
of active user licenses in a limited time frame with no future
obligations for Opera. These revenues are recognized on an
installment basis as these contracts include extended payment
terms. Some customers also pay a fee that covers the set-up
of the co-branded Opera Mini product and the right to use
the co-branded product technology, links, trademarks, etc.,
as specified in the agreements. These revenues are typically
recognized ratably over the term of the agreements.
Development fees
Development fees are recognized in the month the service is
provided. Development fees, or non-recurring engineering,
where the Company customizes the browser for its customers and/or ports the browser to an operating system, typically
spans a number of accounting periods. Consequently, a portion of the revenue is taken each period using the percentage
of completion method. This calculation is made by taking the
total number of hours delivered during an accounting period
divided by the total estimated hours to fulfill the terms of the
contract. The total estimated hours to fulfill the contract are
constantly monitored by the Company and updated periodically where appropriate. The portion of income not yet invoiced
to the customer is presented as unbilled revenue. Percentage of completion calculations are made using the contract
currency and converted to USD.
Maintenance, support, and hosting
Maintenance, support, and hosting revenues are recognized
ratably over the term of the maintenance, support, and hosting

agreements with the customer.
Search
Search revenue is generated when an Opera user conducts
a qualified search using an Opera search partner (such as
Google and Yandex) through the built-in search bars provided
on the Opera desktop browser and the Opera Mini and Opera
Mobile browsers.
Affiliate
Affiliate revenue is generated from the Opera browsers downloaded free of charge from the internet. Affiliate revenue is
mostly earned on a “click-through” basis where revenue is
shared by the advertising partner from traffic generated by
users coming from an Opera property (for example, from the
“Speed Dial” entries on Opera’s desktop and mobile browser
products). Invoicing of affiliate revenue typically occurs on
a monthly basis and the sales are booked as income in the
period that the income is generated.
Advertising
We recognize revenue based on the activity of mobile users
viewing ads through Opera-owned properties, developer applications and mobile websites. Our revenue is recognized when
our advertising services are delivered based on the specific
terms of the advertising contract, which are commonly based
on the number of ads delivered, or views, clicks, or actions by
users on mobile advertisements. At that time, our services have
been provided, the fees charged are fixed or determinable, persuasive evidence of an arrangement exists, and collectability is
reasonably assured.
We sell advertising on several bases: CPM (cost per thousand),
where we charge advertisers and recognize revenue based on
when an ad is delivered to a consumer; CPC (cost per click),
where we charge advertisers and recognize revenue for each
ad clicked on by a consumer; and CPA (cost per action), where
we charge advertisers, and recognize revenue each time a
consumer takes a specified action, such as downloading an
application. The vast majority of our revenue today is earned on
a CPM basis, although we expect advertising revenue delivered
on a CPC and CPA basis to increase in the future
For the revenue generated through Opera-owned properties,
revenue is reported on a gross basis, as we are the principal in our transactions with advertisers. We are responsible
for identifying and contracting with third-party advertisers,
establishing the selling prices of the advertisements sold,
and performing all billing and collection activities, including
retaining credit risk, as well as bearing sole responsibility for
fulfillment of the advertising. Accordingly, we act as the principal in these arrangements and, therefore, report revenue
earned and costs incurred related to these transactions on a
gross basis.
In the normal course of business, we act as an intermediary in
executing transactions with third parties. The determination of
whether revenue should be reported on a gross or net basis is
based on an assessment of whether we are acting as the principal or an agent in our transactions with advertisers. The determination of whether we are acting as a principal or an agent in
a transaction involves judgment and is based on an evaluation
of the terms of each arrangement. While none of the factors
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individually are considered presumptive or determinative, in
reaching our conclusions on gross versus net revenue recognition, we place the most weight on the analysis of whether we are
the primary obligor in the arrangement. For agreements where
we have a contractual relationship with both the publisher and
the associated advertisement supplier, we are responsible for
identifying and contracting with third-party advertisers, establishing the selling prices of the advertisements sold, and performing all billing and collection activities, including retaining
credit risk, as well as bearing sole responsibility for fulfillment
of the advertising. Accordingly, we act as the principal in
these arrangements and therefore report revenue earned and
costs incurred related to these transactions on a gross basis.
For agreements where the publisher has a direct contractual
relationship with the advertiser, revenue is recognized on a net
basis, as we are not the primary obligor and do not assume the
fulfillment and credit risk.

receives a fee that covers development, licenses, maintenance,
and other services. The total fee is allocated to the different
elements, if measurable, and the allocated fee is recognized
according to the principles described above.

We also offer additional services to assist in both forecasting
and/or transmission of information between publishers and
advertisers. We recognize revenue once our services have
been provided, the fees charged are fixed or determinable, persuasive evidence of an arrangement exists, and collectability is
reasonably assured.

Other income (costs)

Application and content
Content revenue is generated when a user purchases a premium application from the Opera-branded Opera Mobile
Store (OMS), or a white-label, operator-controlled version of
the mobile store. When a transaction occurs in OMS, Opera
collects the payment and shares a percentage of the revenue
with the developer. When a transaction occurs in an operatorcontrolled version of the mobile store, two payment methods
will exist. The user may pay using the Opera Payment
Exchange, in which case Opera would collect and share a percentage of the revenue with both the operator and the developer, or the user may use a form of carrier billing, where the
operator would collect the payment and share a portion of the
revenue with Opera, who would in turn share a percentage of
revenue with the developer. The revenue will occur on a transaction basis and the sales are booked as income in the period
in which the transaction occurs.

Operating lease payments
Payments made under operating leases are recognized in the
statement of comprehensive income on a straight-line basis
over the term of the lease. Lease incentives received are recognized in the statement of comprehensive income as an integral
part of the total lease expense.

Payment
Payment revenue is generated through the Opera Payment
Exchange (OPX), when a user completes a transaction using a
payment service that was made available via OPX. Opera generally receives a percentage of the transaction value and the
income is booked in the period in which the transaction occurs.
Subscription
Subscription revenue is generated by our FastMail email service. FastMail provides both a paid premium subscription
based email service and a free email service. For FastMail’s
paid premium, subscription-based email service, the company
offers subscription based options to customers for a range of
periods, generally one year, all of which require payment in
advance. Revenue is recognized on a straight-line basis over
the period in which the subscription relates. That portion of revenue recorded as received in advance is carried on the balance
sheet as deferred income.
Bundled agreements
Some agreements are bundled agreements, where Opera
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Cost of goods sold

Cost of goods sold comprises publisher costs and the cost of
licenses purchased from third-party suppliers. Publisher costs
consist of the agreed-upon payments Opera makes to publishers for their advertising space, in which we deliver mobile
ads. These payments are typically determined in advance as
either a fixed percentage of the advertising revenue we earn
from mobile ads placed on the publisher’s application or website, or as a fixed fee for that ad space. We recognize publisher
cost at the same time we recognize the associated revenue.
License costs are the costs of licenses purchased from thirdparty suppliers.
Material income and costs, which are not related to the normal
course of business, are classified as other operating income
(cost).

Expenses

Net financing costs
Other finance income and costs comprise foreign exchange
gains and losses and contingent consideration, which are
recognized in the statement of comprehensive income.
Interest income is recognized in the statement of comprehensive income as it accrues, using the effective interest method.
Dividend income is recognized in the statement of comprehensive income on the date upon which the entity’s right to receive
payments is established.

Income tax

Income tax on the profit or loss for the year comprises current
and deferred taxes. Income tax is recognized in the
statement of comprehensive income except to the extent that
it relates to items recognized directly in equity, in which case it
is recognized in equity.
Current tax is the expected tax payable on the taxable income
for the year, using tax rates enacted or substantially enacted at
the balance sheet date, and any adjustment to tax payable in
respect of previous years.
Deferred tax is provided using the balance sheet liability
method, providing for temporary differences between the
carrying amounts of assets and liabilities for financial reporting purposes and the amounts used for taxation purposes. The following temporary differences are not provided
for: goodwill not deductible for tax purposes, the initial
recognition of assets or liabilities that affect neither accounting or taxable profit, nor differences relating to investments in

subsidiaries to the extent that they will probably not reverse in
the foreseeable future. The amount of deferred tax provided
is based on the expected manner of realization or settlement
of the carrying amount of assets and liabilities, using tax rates
enacted or substantively enacted at the balance sheet date.
A deferred tax asset is only recognized to the extent that it is
probable that future taxable profits will be available against
which the asset can be utilized.
Deferred tax assets are reduced to the extent that it is no longer
probable that the related tax benefit will be realized.
Additional income taxes that arise from the distribution of dividends are recognized at the same time as the liability to pay the
related dividend.
Taxes paid abroad for the parent company will be deducted in
Norwegian taxes if the Company has taxes payable in Norway.
If Opera has no Norwegian taxes payable, the taxes paid
abroad will be carried forward as a deductible in future taxes
payable.

Financial risk management
Overview
The Group has exposure to the following risks from its use of
financial instruments:
• Credit risk
• Liquidity risk
• Market risk
This note presents information about the Group’s exposure
to each of the above risks, the Group’s objectives, policies
and processes for measuring and managing risk, and the
Group’s management of capital. Further quantitative disclosures are included throughout these consolidated financial
statements.
The Board of Directors has overall responsibility for the
establishment and oversight of the Group’s risk management framework. The Group’s risk management policies have
been established to identify and analyze the risks faced by the
Group, to set appropriate risk limits and controls, and to monitor risks and adherence to limits. Risk management policies
and systems are reviewed regularly to reflect changes in market
conditions and the Group’s activities.
Credit risk
Credit risk is the risk of financial loss that exists due to the
potential failure of a customer or counterparty meeting their
contractual obligations. Credit risk arises principally from the
Group’s customer receivables.
The Group’s exposure to credit risk is primarily influenced by the
characteristics of each customer. The majority of the Group’s
customers are large global companies. Each new customer is
analyzed individually for creditworthiness, and large customers
are arranged by region and monitored by the account executive
responsible for that region. The guidelines for extending credit
to customers are determined by management and the credit
risk exposure is evaluated continuously.

The Group establishes an allowance for impairment that represents its estimate of incurred losses in respect of trade and
other receivables. The main components of this allowance are
a specific loss component that relates to individual exposures.
The provision for bad debt is determined case by case upon
evaluation of each customer in addition to a collective loss component. The collective loss allowance is determined based on
historical data of payment statistics for similar financial assets.
Liquidity risk
Liquidity risk is the risk that the Company will not be able to
meet its financial obligations as they fall due. The Group’s
approach to managing liquidity is to ensure, as much as
possible, that it will always have sufficient liquidity to meet
its liabilities when due, under both normal and abnormal
circumstances, without incurring unacceptable losses or risking damage to the Group’s reputation.
The Board has instructed management to invest surplus cash
in instruments with low credit and liquidity risk. Investments
are only made in funds operated by institutions rated by S&P or
Moody’s, with a minimum rating of BBB or Baa2, respectively.
Market risk
Market risk is the risk that changes in market prices, such as
foreign exchange rates, interest rates, and equity prices, will
affect the Group’s income or the value of its holdings of financial instruments. The objective of market risk management is to
manage and control market risk exposures within acceptable
parameters, while optimizing the return.
The majority of the financial risk that the Group carries,
as a result of its subsidiaries, relates to foreign exchange
fluctuations. The Group is exposed to currency risk on both
sales and purchases.
Capital management
In order to achieve the Company’s aggressive, long-term objectives, the policy has been to maintain a solid equity-to-asset
ratio and to maintain a strong capital base so as to maintain
investor, creditor, and market confidence and to sustain future
development of the business.
The Company has issued options to its employees in accordance with its objective that employees shall hold company
shares.
From time to time, the Group purchases its own shares on the
market, as determined by the Board of Directors, if mandated
by the General Assembly. These shares are primarily intended
to be used for issuing shares under the Group’s share option
program.

Earnings per share

The Group presents basic and diluted earnings per share
(EPS) data for its ordinary shares. Basic EPS is calculated
by dividing the profit or loss attributable to ordinary shareholders of the Company by the weighted average number
of ordinary shares outstanding during the period. Diluted
EPS is determined by adjusting the profit or loss attributable to ordinary shareholders and the weighted average
number of ordinary shares outstanding for the effects of all
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dilutive potential ordinary shares, which include share options
granted to employees.

Segment reporting

An operating segment is a component of the Group that
engages in business activities from which it may earn
revenues and incur expenses, including revenues and
expenses that relate to transactions with any of the Group’s
other components. Opera’s chief operating decision makers
are members of the Executive Team. The Executive Team
meets regularly to review the period’s assets, liabilities,
revenues, and costs for the Group as a whole and to make
decisions about how resources are to be allocated based on
this information.

New standards and interpretations
not yet adopted

A number of new standards, amendments to standards,
and interpretations are not yet effective for the year ending
December 31, 2012, and have not been applied in preparing
these consolidated financial statements.
The most significant new standards are:
• IFRS 9 Financial instruments
• IFRS 10 Consolidated financial statements
• IFRS 11 Joint arrangements
• IFRS 12 Disclosure of interest in other entities
• IFRS 13 Financial instruments
• IAS 19 Employee benefits (amendments not yet adopted)
• IAS 27 Separate financial (amendments not yet adopted)
• IAS 28 Investment in Associates and Joint Ventures
		 (amendments not yet adopted)
None of these is expected to have a significant effect on the
consolidated financial statements of the Group.
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Note 2 – Revenue, Cost of Goods Sold, and
Segment Information
The Group’s business activities stem from browser related sales (i.e., revenue generated from Opera’s owned and operated
properties, such as license, search, and advertising revenue) and advertising revenue generated from the Opera Advertising
Network (i.e., non-Opera-owned-and-operated properties (primarily from Opera´s AdMarvel, Mobile Theory, and 4th Screen
Advertising subsidiaries).
Opera’s chief operating decision makers are members of the Executive Team. The Executive Team meets regularly to review the
period’s assets, liabilities, revenues, and costs for the Group as a whole, as well as to make decisions about how resources are
to be allocated based on this information.
Members of the Executive Team are specified in note 3.
Based on the above, Opera has determined that it has one segment. Please see note 1 for a definition of products and services
for each reportable segment.

Revenue by region

2012

2011

[ Numbers in MUSD ]
EMEA
Americas
Asia Pacific
Total

78.1

47.1

107.0

71.8

31.0

40.9

216.0

159.8

The geographical revenue breakdown reflects revenues from external customers attributed to the entity’s country of domicile.
Consequently, the revenue breakdown reflects the location of Opera’s customers and partners. Because the products of
Opera’s customers and partners are distributed globally, the breakdown above does not accurately reflect where Opera’s
derivative products are actually used.
In 2012, Opera had sales to two customers that accounted for more than 10% of total Group revenues. FY 2012 revenue from
these two customers, on combined basis, range between MUSD 65 and MUSD 75 in total. Revenue attributed to customers
domiciled in USA amounted to MUSD 104.0 (2011: 65.8).
Revenues attributed to Norway for 2012 were MUSD 0.2 (2011: 1.0), and revenues attributed to all foreign countries in total
were MUSD 215.9 (2011: 158.8).			
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Note 2 (continued)
Non-current assets

2012

2011

[ Numbers in MUSD ]
Non-current assets located in Norway

17.8

7.2

Non-current assets located in foreign countries

86.4

42.0

104.3

49.2

Total

The breakdown above reflects non-current assets (other than financial instruments, deferred tax assets, post-employment
benefit assets, and rights arising under insurance contracts) located in Norway and located in all foreign countries.
Assets located in the United States account for MUSD 70.6 of the total non-current assets. The vast majority of the value is
related to the acquisitions described in more details in note 8.
A more detailed overview of the assets domiciled in Norway is provided in the Statement of Financial Position for the parent
company.
Cost of goods sold

2012

2011

24.9

3.5

[ Numbers in MUSD ]
Publisher cost
License cost
Total

0.0

0.1

24.9

3.5

Publisher cost consists of the agreed-upon payments we make to publishers for their advertising space in which we deliver
mobile ads. These payments are typically determined in advance as either a fixed percentage of the advertising revenue we earn
from mobile ads placed on the publisher’s application or website, or as a fixed fee for that ad space. We recognize publisher cost
at the same time we recognize the associated revenue.
License cost is cost from the purchase of licenses from third-party suppliers.
Revenue type

2012

2011

Licenses/royalties

67.3

68.0

Development fees

10.8

12.2

[ Numbers in MUSD ]

Maintenance, support, and hosting

6.7

7.5

Search

62.6

52.7

Advertising

63.1

14.8

Application and content

4.3

2.8

Subscription

1.2

1.6

Other revenue

0.1

0.1

Total

216.0

159.8

Revenue customer type

2012

2011

[ Numbers in MUSD ]
Operators

41.7

47.4

Mobile OEMs

3.7

12.0

Device OEMs

28.2

27.5

Mobile Consumers

19.5

6.1

Mobile Publishers and Advertisers

54.1

10.8

Desktop Consumers

67.5

53.8

Other

1.2

2.2

Total

216.0

159.8
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Note 2 (continued)
Operators: Opera is a trusted partner for operators worldwide. In 2012, the Company offered a co-branded Opera/operatorbranded hosted solution to operators around Opera Mini and Opera Mobile with Turbo. Opera Mini is a hosted solution for massmarket phones that offers server-side content compression and fast internet download speeds. A similar cloud-based content
compression technology is also offered for Opera Mobile for smartphones, packaged for distribution to operators and OEMs as
Opera Turbo. Opera Mini and Opera Mobile with Turbo offer up to 90% content compression, all increasing an operator’s implied
throughput capacity of its mobile network. Opera’s revenue sources from this hosted solution include active user fees, data fees,
NRE/development fees, hosting services, advertising, and maintenance and support.
Mobile Original Equipment Manufacturers (Mobile OEMs): The Company has focused on Mobile OEMs as a key source
of distribution to drive Opera’s overall mobile internet user base. Opera has been focused not only on the distribution of Opera
Mini, but also on the distribution of Opera Mobile with Turbo, with a particular focus on the Android platform.
Overall, Mobile OEM distribution has become a very important complement to the distribution of Opera’s products on
www.opera.com, with approximately 30% of Opera Mini users coming via this distribution channel.
In addition, Opera has been focused on expanding its distribution partners in this space to include the chipset manufacturers.
Global Device Original Equipment Manufacturers (Device OEMs): As device manufacturers seek to enhance their
relationships with and provide compelling applications and services to their consumers, they are increasingly developing
internet-connected devices.
Traditionally, television has been referred to as a “lean-back” medium, where interaction is passive. Today, television manufacturers are trying to encourage consumers to become more actively engaged with their TV sets, referred to as a “lean-forward”
model, by providing apps, web browsing, and other digital content on TVs. This has been spurred on not only by the desire of
the TV manufacturers to differentiate, obtain premium pricing for their product offerings, and generate new revenue streams,
but also by the perceived opportunity to bring many of the same services that have been deployed successfully in the mobile
phone ecosystem, such as mobile web browsing and app stores, to their TV consumer customers.
Mobile Consumers (Opera-owned-and-operated properties): Opera’s tremendous worldwide success with mobile
consumers across all mobile platforms has occurred largely because of Opera Mini. First, Opera Mini is faster than the competition, due to the up to 90% compression compared to a normal, full web browser. This makes for a much more enjoyable and
efficient browsing experience for consumers. Second, Opera Mini is much cheaper for consumers – i.e., consumers save up to
90% by browsing with Opera Mini compared to competitive products, due to Opera’s unique proxy browsing technology. Third,
Opera works on the vast majority of mobile phones, supporting more than 3,000 different mobile phone models. Fourth, Opera
believes its user interface design and rendering quality is superior to the competition.			
Mobile Publishers and Advertisers (Opera Network Members): Revenue generated from mobile publishers and advertising customers relates to non-Opera-owned-and-operated properties. Opera’s goal is to power the mobile advertising
ecosystem through innovative and differentiated mobile advertising services and technology solutions, targeting premium
advertisers, ad agencies, publishers, and developers. Opera’s ultimate mission is to help both premium publishers to increase
revenue from their mobile properties and content and advertisers to reach and acquire potential customers.
Through Opera’s mobile advertising network subsidiaries, Mobile Theory (USA) and 4th Screen Advertising (UK) (both acquired
in 1Q12) and Opera’s mobile ad technology platform, AdMarvel, Opera is able to offer premium mobile advertisers the ability
to build their brands and engage with consumers by offering creative services, sophisticated targeting capabilities, significant
audience and publisher reach, high levels of transparency and measurability on ad campaigns, and support for highly interactive
and engaging advertising experiences on a full range of mobile devices, including display banner ads, interactive rich media ads,
and video ads.
Desktop Consumers: Opera’s monetization strategy for its desktop browser revolves predominantly around search. Google
is Opera’s global search partner and provides the majority of desktop monetization. This global partnership is supplemented
by local search partnerships in certain markets, such as Russia, Japan, and China, where Opera works with Yandex, Yahoo!
Japan,and Baidu, respectively. In addition, Opera has signed up e-commerce players such as Amazon (USA, Germany, Japan),
Booking.com (64 countries), and Ozon (Russia) to further enhance ARPU.
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Note 3 – W
 age Costs / Number of Employees/
Remuneration
Wage costs

2012

2011

70.2

58.7

Social security cost

9.4

10.6

Pension cost

2.9

3.0

Share-based remuneration including social security cost

3.6

2.4

Other payments

6.0

3.4

Consultancy fees for technical development

2.5

1.6

94.7

79.6

854

750

[ Numbers in MUSD ]
Salaries/bonuses

Total
Average number of employees

The company has incorporated the requirements with regards to Obligatorisk Tjeneste Pensjon (OTP).
Fees to the CEO and Chairman of the Board
In January 2010, Opera appointed Mr. Lars Boilesen as the new Chief Executive Officer. He has waived his rights under
Section 15-16 of the Norwegian 2005 Act related to Employees’ protection, etc. As compensation, Mr. Boilesen is entitled to a
termination amount of two years’ base salary if the employment is terminated by the Company.
As of December 31, 2012, there was no existing severance agreement between Opera and the Chairman of the Board.
The Group has not given any loans or security deposits to the CEO, the Chairman of the Board, or their related parties.
A bonus program exists for the senior Executive Team at Opera. For each individual executive, there is a limited amount of
bonus that can be achieved. The size of the bonus payment is dependent on actual company performance compared to a
set of predefined targets.
2012 bonuses for senior executives have been accrued for in the accounts. Bonuses will be paid in 2013.
Independent auditors
The total fees billed by independent auditors during 2012 was MUSD 0.5 (2011: 0.5). This is broken down as follows:
Audit fees

2012

2011

Statutory audit

0.4

0.3

Assurance services

0.0

0.0

Tax advisory fee

0.0

0.0

Other services

0.1

0.2

Total

0.5

0.5

[ Numbers in MUSD ]

Other services include services from KPMG Law.
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Note 3 (continued)

Employee Stock Option Plan
The Company has established a stock option program for eligible employees.
Stock option program in 2007
On March 14, 2007, the Board of Directors approved a stock option program. Options were granted by the Board of Directors at
an exercise price equal to the market price at grant date. Options vested 20% in year 1 after the grant, 20% in year 2, 25% in year
3 and 35% in year 4. Option holders have an exercise period of 1 year after vesting, and the option holder loses his/her right to
those options unless exercised during that period.
Option holders are responsible for paying any social security tax resulting from the exercise of options.
The options are considered non-transferable. If the option holder leaves the company for any reason, any options which vest
after the termination date are lost. However, the option holder may keep shares purchased through previously exercised options.
The number of options and exercise prices will be adjusted for any share or reverse share splits.
Modification to the option program in 2009
In 2009, the conditions for some options were modified by extending the lifetime of the options. The original fair value of
the options continues to be accrued over the vesting period. In addition, the increased value of the options, calculated with
assumptions at the date of the modification, is expensed over the vesting period. The modification applied to 1,779,000 options.
The increased cost in 2009 due to the modifications was MUSD 0.2. The increased average value of the options due to the
modifications was NOK 0.74. After this, the option holders that are granted options have an exercise period of 3 years after
vesting, and the option holder loses his/her right to those options unless exercised during that period. Each tranche that has
become exercisable may be exercised in whole or in part at any of the dates set out below during a period of three years from
the vesting date set out in the employee contract, which are: March 1, June 1, September 1, or December 1.
Modification to the option program in June 2009
The Annual General Meeting approved the proposal from the Nomination Committee to change the exercise period of vested
options from one to three years for new and current options held by the shareholder elected Directors of the Board. The option
program for the Executive Team has also been changed accordingly. For all other employees, the exercise period of vested
options has been increased from one to three years for options granted in FY 2009.
The Annual General Meeting approved the proposal from the Nomination Committee to reduce the strike price for unvested
options to shareholder elected Directors by the amount of any accumulated dividend. The option program for the Executive
Team and Company employees has also been changed accordingly. The strike price of non-vested options was adjusted for the
dividend of NOK 0.40 that was paid out following the resolution of the Annual General Meeting.
The Annual General Meeting approved the proposal from the Nomination Committee that all granted options to the shareholder
elected Directors of the Board shall be vested in the case of a Change of Control. The option program for the Executive Team
and employees of the Company has also been changed accordingly.
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Note 3 (continued)
Modification in January 2010
In January 2010, Opera appointed Mr. Lars Boilesen as the new Chief Executive Officer. Mr. Boilesen was granted 1,200,000
options with a strike price of NOK 19,90, and the options will vest over a four-year period based on the following dates:
December 1, 2010 (25%); December 1, 2011 (25%); December 1, 2012 (25%), and December 1, 2013 (25%). Any tranche of the
options that have become exercisable may be exercised in whole or in part during a period of three years from the vesting date
Modification to the option program in June 2010
Agreements prior to June 15, 2010, provided for vesting over four years on a 20%, 20%, 25%, and 35% basis. On June 15,
2010, the Annual General Meeting approved the proposal from the Board of Directors to implement the new option program with
the new vesting structure of 50% after 3 years and 50% after 4 years. The program has also clarified the effect of termination.
Now, all unvested options are lost in the event of termination for cause or voluntary termination, and any vested options not
exercised during the next exercise period are also lost. In the event of no-fault termination, unvested options accelerate by one
year and vested options not exercised within one year of termination are lost. Subject to any contractual restrictions, the Opera
standard option agreement shall be applicable to all options in the Company that are granted but not terminated, with the caveat
that the new vesting structure of 50% after 3 years and 50% after 4 years applies only for options granted after June 15, 2010.
The strike price of non-vested options was adjusted for the dividend of NOK 0.16 that was paid out following the resolution of the
Annual General Meeting.
Modification to the option program in June 2011
The strike price of non-vested options was adjusted for the dividend of NOK 0.18 that was paid out following the resolution
of the Annual General Meeting.
Modification to the option program in June 2012
The strike price of non-vested options was adjusted for the dividend of NOK 0.20 that was paid out following the resolution
of the Annual General Meeting.
Options to Executives
On June 5, 2012, the Board of Directors granted 400,000 options each to executives Erik Harrell and Andreas Thome. Rikard
Gillemyr was granted 250,000 options. 200,000 of the options granted to Erik Harrell and Andreas Thome, and 50,000 of the
options granted to Rikard Gillemyr, are subject to approval from the AGM. The vesting period started from June 6, 2012, and the
options are currently booked as option liability and included in total current liabilities.
Approval of maximum number of options
The Annual General Meeting held on June 14, 2011, passed the following resolutions:
a) The maximum number of options to be granted during 2011, 2012, 2013, and 2014 is 11,950,000. This represents slightly
less than 10% of the registered share capital of the Company. However, options cannot be granted if the aggregate of all
issued, un-exercised, and not-terminated options represents more than 10% of the then registered share capital of the
Company.
b) No employee can be granted options annually that in value exceed 200% of that employee’s base salary. The value is
to be based on valuation principles for options as applied under IFRS and in accordance with Opera Software’s financial
statements.
c) The options are to be granted in accordance with the Company’s standard option agreement as approved by the 		
Ordinary General Meeting in 2010, which means that the vesting structure is 50% after 3 years and 50% after 4 years,
with a strike price equal to the market price at grant.
d) No changes are made to the already approved standard option agreement. The proposal does not constitute any 		
authority for the Board to change the terms in the standard agreement, including strike price and time of vesting, for the
options that may be granted, and does not include the possibility to grant options to Board members.
After June 14, 2011, and up to December 31, 2012, 3,513,850 options have been granted under the program. All grants have
been made in accordance with approved program.
Own shares and Capital increase
On June 5, 2012, the General Meeting decided to give the Board of Directors the authority to increase the share capital.
Please see note 9 for more information.
On June 5, 2012, the General Meeting decided to authorize the Board of Directors to buy back Opera shares.
Please see note 9 for more information.
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Note 3 (continued)
Weighted average exercise price

The number and weighted average exercise price of share options are as follows:
Weighted
average exercise
price 2012 (NOK)

Number of
options 2012

Weighted
average exercise
price 2011 (NOK)

Number of
options 2011

9,521

[In thousands of options]
Outstanding at the beginning of the period

23.24

9,391

20.09

Terminated (employee terminations)

25.10

156

18.95

274

0

0

22

751

Forfeited during the period
Expired during the period

0

0

0

0

Exercised during the period

18.05

1,552

17.34

2,195

Granted during the period

37.97

1,894

28.29

3,090

Outstanding at the end of the period

9,577

9,391

Exercisable at the end of the period

2,210

2,458

The fair value of services received in return for stock options granted is measured by using the Black & Scholes option pricing
model.
The expected volatility is based on historic volatility (calculated using the weighted average remaining life of the share options),
adjusted for any expected changes to future volatility based on publicly available information.
Share options are granted under service conditions, not market-based conditions. Such conditions are not taken into account
in the grant date fair-value measurement. There are no market conditions associated with the share option grants. For both
2012 and 2011, an annual average attrition rate of 15% is used. This average attrition rate, and the employees responsibility for
paying the Company`s contributions related to the options, are taken into consideration when estimating the cost of the options
in accordance with IFRS 2. Given that employees have the right to exercise their options one or three years after the vesting date
(depending on when the options were granted), the estimate is based on an assumption that the employees, on average, are
exercising their options 18 months after the vesting date.
The total number of options granted in 2012 was 1,893,850 (2011: 3,090,000).			

Fair value of share options and assumptions

2012

2011

Fair value at measurement date (average per option)

13.66

9.79

Expected volatility (weighted average)

45.00

45.00

[Numbers in NOK]

Option life (adjusted for expectations of early exercise)

4.62

4.16

Expected dividends

0.00

0.00

Risk-free interest rate (based on national government bonds)

1.40

2.22

Options that have not yet vested shall be adjusted for any dividend paid out during the vesting period.
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Note 3 (continued)
The table below shows the number of options issued to employees at various strike prices and exercise dates.

Total outstanding options

Vested options

[In thousands of options]
Outstanding
options per
12/31/2012

Exercise price

Weighted average
remaining lifetime

Weighted average
exercise price
(NOK)

Vested options
12/31/2012

Weighted
average exercise
price (NOK)

10.00 - 12.30

90

1.14

11.46

89

11.46

12.30 - 15.00

300

0.74

14.30

300

14.30

15.00 - 20.00

750

1.97

18.46

525

18.38

20.00 - 25.00

3,187

3.92

21.92

994

21.13

25.00 - 30.00

3,256

4.39

28.04

272

27.82

30.00 - 35.00

150

4.17

32.32

30

32.32

35.00 - 40.00

1,814

6.90

38.05

0

0.00

40.00 - 45.00

30

7.14

44.40

0

0.00

9,577

4.38

26.68

2,210

20.13

Total

Exercise price = strike price

The table below shows the date, number, and achieved selling price of options exercised.
Date of exercise

Number of exercised options

Achieved selling price (NOK)

[In thousands of options]
1/2/2012

206

34.05

3/8/2012

849

35.96

6/13/2012

164

38.37

9/25/2012

99

35.30

11/2/2012

190

31.14

52 | Opera Software ASA

Note 3 (continued)
Compensation to Executive Management

The Group has an Executive Management team consisting of senior executives hired in Opera Software ASA.

Compensation to Executive Management 2012
Remuneration

Other
compensation

Pension
compensation

Benefit
exercised
options

Total
compensation

Salary

Bonus

Lars Boilesen, Chief Executive Officer

0.57

0.46

0.05

0.01

0.70

Erik C. Harrell,
Chief Financial Officer/Chief Strategy Officer

0.29

0.28

0.00

0.01

0.90

1.48

Rikard Gillemyr, EVP Product Development

0.27

0.12

0.00

0.01

0.24

0.64
0.38

[Numbers in MUSD]
Executives

Tove Selnes, EVP Human Resources

0.24

0.07

0.04

0.01

0.02

Andreas Thome, EVP Sales & Marketing

0.28

0.28

0.00

0.01

0.05

Mahi de Silva, EVP Consumer Mobile

0.24

0.22

Tom Christian Gotschalksen,
EVP Mobile Services from June 1, 2012

0.13

0.02

1.79

0.62
0.46

0.02

0.17

0.01

The Board of Directors
Arve Johansen, Chairman

0.10

0.00

0.10

Alberto Torres,
Board Member until November 13, 2012

0.10

0.00

0.10

Gregory Gerard Coleman,
Board Member from November 14, 2012

0.02

Kari Stautland, Board Member

0.05

0.00

Audun Wickstrand Iversen, Board Member

0.05

0.02

0.07

Marianne Blystad, Board Member

0.04

0.02

0.06

Stig Halvorsen, Employee Representative

0.01

0.14

0.00

0.01

0.01

0.16

Karl Anders Øygard,
Employee Representative

0.01

0.14

0.00

0.01

0.04

0.20

Christian Mauricio Uribe Espinoza,
Employee Representative from June 6, 2012

0.00

0.13

0.00

0.01

0.01

0.15

Charles McCathieNevile,
Employee Representative to June 5, 2012

0.00

0.08

0.00

0.00

0.01

0.09

0.02
0.05

The Nomination Committee
Jakob Iqbal, Chairman

0.01

0.01

Michael Tetzschner, Member

0.01

0.01

Nils Foldal, Member

0.01

Total

0.40

0.01
2.49

1.44

0.12

0.08

2.02

6.56

Presented above are the actual bonuses paid out in 2012, which are based on the 2011 results. Bonuses earned, but unpaid
in 2012, have been excluded from the table.
Other remuneration mentioned in the Norwegian Accounting Act § 7-31b has no relevance for the Company.
The Executive Group is included in the Company´s employee pension scheme, which is a defined contribution plan.
There has been no compensation or other economic benefit provided to any member of the Executive Group or Board of
Directors from the Company or any business owned by the Company, except that mentioned above.
There has been no significant additional compensation given to directors with regard to special services performed outside
of their normal function.
Christian Mauricio Uribe Espinoza was reelected as the companies employee representative in 2013. Effective from
February 1, 2013, Stig Halvorsen and Karl Anders Øygard have stepped down as Employee Representatives while
Erik Möller and Krystian Kolondra have joined the Board of Directors as Employee Representatives.
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Note 3 (continued)
Compensation to Executive Management 2011
Remuneration

Other
compensation

Pension
compensation

Benefit
exercised
options

Total
compensation

Salary

Bonus

Lars Boilesen, Chief Executive Officer

0.38

0.53

0.00

0.01

0.92

Erik C. Harrell, Chief Financial Officer/
Chief Strategy Officer

0.26

0.32

0.00

0.01

0.58

Rikard Gillemyr,
EVP Product Development

0.22

0.11

0.00

0.01

Tove Selnes, EVP Human Resources

0.21

0.04

0.00

0.01

0.03

Andreas Thome,
EVP Sales & Marketing

0.22

0.29

0.00

0.01

0.03

Mahi de Silva, EVP Consumer Mobile

0.20

[Numbers in MUSD]
Executives

0.34
0.29
0.55
0.20

The Board of Directors
Arve Johansen, Chairman of the
Board from June 14. 2011

0.07

0.07

Alberto Torres,
Board Member from June 14. 2011

0.05

0.05

Kari Stautland, Board Member

0.05

0.05

Audun Wickstrand Iversen,
Board Member

0.05

0.05

Marianne Blystad, Board Member

0.05

0.05

Stig Halvorsen,
Employee Representative

0.01

0.13

Karl Anders Øygard,
Employee Representative

0.01

0.14

Charles McCathieNevile,
Employee Representative

0.01

0.10

William J Raduchel,
Chairman of the Board to June 14. 2011

0.08

0.08

Jakob Iqbal,
Chairman from June 14. 2011

0.01

0.01

Michael Tetzschner, Member

0.01

0.01

Nils Foldal,
Member from June 14. 2011

0.01

0.01

Christian Jebsen,
Chairman to June 14. 2011

0.01

0.01

Torkild Varran,
Member to June 14. 2011

0.00

Total

0.41

0.01
0.00

0.03

0.17

0.02

0.18

0.02

0.14

The Nomination Committee

0.00
1.86

1.28

0.01

0.06

0.13

3.75

Presented above are the actual bonuses paid out in 2011, which are based on the 2010 results. Bonuses earned, but unpaid in
2011, have been excluded from the table.						
Other remuneration mentioned in the Norwegian Accounting Act § 7-31b has no relevance for the Company.
The Executive Group is included in the Company’s employee pension scheme, which is a defined contribution plan.
There has been no compensation or other economic benefit provided to any member of the Executive Group or Board of
Directors from the Company or any business owned by the Company, except that mentioned above.
There has been no significant additional compensation given to directors with regard to special services performed outside
of their normal function.						
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Note 3 (continued)
Options to Executive Management 2012

There are no existing agreements regarding the dispensation of loans or security deposits to key personnel, members of the
board, or their related parties.
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The following table shows the number of options held by Executive Management.

[In thousands of options]
Executives
Lars Boilesen,
Chief Executive Officer

1,750

250

17.0

1,500

19.34

2.50

3.0

0.4

400

250

11.7

923

27.20

5.17

1.2

0.2

250

70

12.1

785

25.14

4.80

0.1

0.2

175

44

28.6

131

28.62

1.01

0.1

0.1

187

8

24.4

179

24.10

4.87

0.2

0.1

150

37.80

6.93

0.0

0.0

972

30.56

5.65

0.6

0.3

5.2

1.3

Erik C. Harrell,
Chief Financial Officer/Chief
Strategy Officer

773

Rikard Gillemyr,
EVP Product Development

605

Mahi de Silva,
EVP Consumer Mobile
Tove Selnes,
EVP Human Resources
Tom Christian Gotschalksen,
EVP Mobile Services
Andreas Thome,
EVP Sales & Marketing

Total

150
591

400

4,081

1,200

19
-

641

15.4

4,640

A – average exercise price for options executed in the financial year
B – average exercise price for the number of options held by the end of the financial year
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Note 3 (continued)
Options to Executive Management 2011

There are no existing agreements regarding the dispensation of loans or security deposits to key personnel, members of the
board, or their related parties.
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The following table shows the number of options held by Executive Management.

[In thousands of options]
Executives
Lars Boilesen,
Chief Executive Officer

1,750

Erik C. Harrell,
Chief Financial Officer/Chief
Strategy Officer

673

Rikard Gillemyr,
EVP Product Development

505

Mahi de Silva,
EVP Consumer Mobile

1,750

18.90

3.26

3.2

0.5

100

773

16.76

3.49

1.7

0.1

100

605

18.32

4.33

1.2

0.1

175

175

28.82

1.51

0.0

0.1

Tove Selnes,
EVP Human Resources

141

60

14

12.9

187

24.00

6.09

0.2

0.1

Andreas Thome,
EVP Sales & Marketing

365

240

14

16.0

591

25.00

5.59

0.4

0.2

3,434

675

6.7

1.1

Total

-

28

4,081

A – average exercise price for options executed in the financial year
B – average exercise price for the number of options held by the end of the financial year
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Note 3 (continued)
Shares and options owned by members of the Board and the Chief Executive Officer as of December 31, 2012

Name

Weighted
average strike
price (NOK)

Commission

Shares

Options

Total

Arve Johansen

Chairman

70

100

30.50

170

Kari Stautland *

Board Member

11,012

50

32.32

11,062

Alberto Torres

Board Member

0

50

32.32

50

Audun Wickstrand Iversen****

Board Member

90

40

22.90

130

Marianne Blystad

Board Member

10

30

24.66

40

Stig Halvorsen ***

Board Member

3

4

16.60

7

[In thousands of shares and options]

Christian Mauricio Uribe Espinoza ***

Board Member

0

15

20.01

15

Karl Anders Øygard **, ***

Board Member

754

74

24.48

828

10

1,500

19.34

11,949

1,862

Lars Boilesen

Chief Executive Officer

1,510
13,811

*
Kari Stautland owns 100% of Arepo AS, which owns 11,012,120 shares in Opera Software ASA.
**	Karl Anders Øygard holds 753,931 shares in Opera Software through Villemhaugen Invest AS, which is 100% owned by
Øygard. In addition, Karl Anders Øygard holds 200 shares in the Company.
*** Employee representative
**** Audun Wickstrand Iversen holds 90,000 shares in the company through Naben, 100% owned by Iversen.

Shares and options owned by other leading employees as of December 31, 2012

Name

Title

Shares

Options

Weighted
average strike
price (NOK)

Total

[In thousands of shares and options]

Erik C. Harrell

Chief Financial Officer/
Chief Strategy Officer

Rikard Gillemyr

EVP Product Development

Mahi De Silva

77

923

27.20

1,000

360

785

25.14

1,145

EVP Consumer Mobile

0

131

28.62

131

Tove Selnes

EVP Human Resources

9

179

24.10

188

Tom Christian Gotschalksen

EVP Mobile Services

Andreas Thome

EVP Sales & Marketing

0

150

37.80

150

10

972

30.56

982

456

3,140

3,596

Options granted by Opera Software ASA are assigned an exercise price equal to the assumed market price
on the date of grant.

Annual Report 2012 | 57

Note 3 (continued)
Shares and options owned by members of the Board and the Chief Executive Officer as of December 31, 2011

Name

Commission

Shares

Options

Weighted
average strike
price (NOK)

Total

[In thousands of shares and options]

Arve Johansen

Chairman

Kari Stautland *

Board Member

Alberto Torres
Audun Wickstrand Iversen

0

100

30.78

100

12,012

50

32.52

12,062

Board Member

0

50

32.52

50

Board Member

90

50

22.80

140
50

Marianne Blystad

Board Member

0

50

24.48

Stig Halvorsen ***

Board Member

3

6

16.42

9

Charles McCathieNevile ***

Board Member

8

2

16.42

10

Karl Anders Øygard ** , ***

Board Member

754

86

23.56

840

Lars Boilesen

Chief Executive Officer

0

1,750

18.90

1,750

12,867

2,144

15,011

*
Kari Stautland owns 100% of Arepo AS, which owns 12,012,120 shares in Opera Software ASA.
**	Karl Anders Øygard holds 753,931 shares in Opera Software through Villemhaugen Invest AS,
which is 100% owned by Øygard. In addition, Karl Anders Øygard holds 200 shares in the Company.
*** Employee representative

Shares and options owned by other leading employees as of December 31, 2011

Name

Title

Shares

Options

Weighted
average strike
price (NOK)

Total

[In thousands of shares and options]

Erik C. Harrell

Chief Financial Officer/
Chief Strategy Officer

Rikard Gillemyr

EVP Product Development

Mahi De Silva

EVP Consumer Mobile

Tove Selnes

EVP Human Resources

Andreas Thome

EVP Sales & Marketing

60

773

16.76

833

360

605

18.32

965

0

175

28.82

175

9

187

24.00

196

0

591

25.00

429

2,331

591
2,760

Options granted by Opera Software ASA are assigned an exercise price equal to the assumed market price on the date of grant.
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Note 4 – Other Expenses
Other expenses

2012

2011

[Numbers in MUSD]
Rent and other office expenses

6.1

7.7

Equipment

2.4

1.9

Audit, legal, and other advisory services

4.6

4.4

Marketing expenses

4.7

3.1

Travel expenses

5.9

5.4

Hosting expenses, excl. depreciation cost

8.4

7.1

Other expenses
Total

4.2

2.8

36.4

32.3

Research

Engineering salaries are the primary expense incurred in terms of costs related to source code research, development,
and maintenance. For FY 2012, engineering salaries, expensed in the financial statement, were MUSD 45.9 (2011: 41.5).
Development costs capitalized in FY 2012 were MUSD 3.4 (2011: 0.0). For additional information, please see notes 7 and 13.

Other investments and deposits

Rental deposits in various countries comprise the majority of other non-current investments and deposits.

Note 5 – Financial Risk
The majority of the financial risk carried by the Group, as a result of its subsidiaries, relates to foreign exchange fluctuations. Both
sales and expenses are exposed to currency risk.
Most of the Group’s foreign exchange risk relates to sales and is the result of revenue contracts signed in USD and EUR. For FY
2012, approximately 22% (2011: 46%) of revenues were in EUR and 71% (2011: 53%) in USD.
The majority of the Group’s purchases are made in the following denominations: NOK, USD, SEK, PLN, GBP, JPY, CZH, CNY,
KRW, TWD, AUD, UAH, ISK, SGD, EUR, and INR. Exchange rate fluctuations in these currencies do impact Opera’s income
statement. For FY 2012 approximately 36% (2011: 19%) were in USD, 30% (2011: 47%) in NOK, 7% (2011: 10%) in SEK, 7%
(2011: 8%) in PLN, 5% (2011: 0%) in GBP, 3% (2011: 2%) in AUD, 3% (2011: 3%) in CNY, 3% (2011: 5%) in JPY,
and 6% (2011: 6%) in other currencies.
For FY 2012, Opera had a foreign exchange loss of MUSD 1.9 that was comprised of MUSD 4.3 realized foreign exchange gain
and MUSD 6.2 net unrealized foreign exchange loss. Opera has not entered into any foreign exchange contracts as of December
31, 2012.
For FY 2011, Opera had a foreign exchange gain of MUSD 1.1. MUSD 0.4 of the foreign exchange gain was realized, and MUSD
0.7 was net unrealized foreign exchange gain. Opera has not entered into any foreign exchange contracts as of December 31,
2011.
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Note 5 (continued)
Currency risk

As the majority of the Groups’s income is earned in USD and EUR, changes in exchange rates have an immediate effect on the
Group’s revenue.
2012
MUSD

2011
%

MUSD

%

[Numbers in MUSD]
NOK

0.2

0.11

0.2

0.14

USD

152.4

70.54

83.4

52.17

GBP

9.6

4.45

0.1

0.06

JPY

0.8

0.39

0.8

0.47

CAD

0.0

0.01

0.0

0.01

ZAR

0.0

0.00

0.0

0.02

PLN

0.0

0.02

0.0

0.02

CNY

2.6

1.20

0.2

0.13

BYR

1.8

0.83

1.7

1.06

SGD

0.1

0.04

0.0

0.00

EUR

47.3

21.88

72.9

45.63

AUD

1.2

0.54

0.5

0.30

216.0

100.00

159.8

100.00

Total

Conversion of the Group’s revenues from foreign currencies into USD yields the following average exchange rates:
2012

2011

NOK

0.173

0.179

GBP

1.592

1.593

JPY

0.012

0.013

CAD

1.001

1.003

PLN

0.305

0.353

CNY

0.159

0.162

BYR

0.000

0.000

SGD

0.801

EUR

1.293

1.397

AUD

1.034

1.019

ZAR

0.141

A 10% increase in the average exchange rate would have the following positive effect on the Group’s revenue (MUSD):
2012

2011

NOK

0.0

0.0

GBP

1.0

0.0

JPY

0.1

0.1

CAD

0.0

0.0

ZAR

0.0

0.0

PLN

0.0

0.0

CNY

0.3

0.0

BYR

0.2

0.2

SGD

0.0

0.0

EUR

4.7

7.3

AUD

0.1

0.0

Conversely, a 10% decrease in the average exchange rate would have a similar negative effect on the Group’s revenue as shown
above (MUSD).			
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Note 5 (continued)
Accounts receivable as of December 31, 2012, are converted using the following exchange rates: EUR 1.3204, JPY 0.0116, GBP
1.6188, PLN 0.3237, and CNY 0.1585		

The receivables, as of December 31, are distributed as follows:
2012

2011

USD

22.2

7.6

EUR

9.1

5.1

JPY

3.5

2.5

NOK

0.1

0.0

GBP

2.2

0.0

PLN

0.0

0.5

CAD

0.0

0.0

ZAR

0.0

0.0

CNY

2.9

0.0

CZK

0.0

0.0

TWD

0.0

0.0

AUD

0.0

0.0

SGD

0.0

0.0

The numbers above are presented in local currencies.

Credit risk

Opera conducts most of its business with large global companies. Throughout last year, the Group conducted business with a
number of its customers without suffering significant credit-related losses.
The customers have not committed any collateral or other means to secure their outstanding debt.			

Credit risk regarding accounts receivable may be specified per region as follows (MUSD):

EMEA

2012

2011

8.9

5.5

Americas

19.5

8.7

Asia Pacific

10.0

1.9

Total

38.3

16.2

Accounts receivable, as of December 31, by age, are as follows (MUSD):
2012
Gross receivables

2011
Provision
for bad debt

Gross receivables

Provision
for bad debt

Not past due

17.0

0.0

7.5

0.0

Past due 0-30 days

10.0

0.2

2.7

0.0

Past due 31-60 days

2.7

0.1

2.0

0.3

Past due 61-90 days

2.9

0.1

0.3

0.1

More than 90 days

5.8

2.6

3.7

1.4

38.3

3.1

16.2

1.8

Total

The majority of the 2012 receivables that are more than 90 days outstanding have been paid in 2013 or booked against deferred
income in the Statement of Financial Position.			

Annual Report 2012 | 61

Note 5 (continued)
Changes in the provision for bad debt may be specified as follows (MUSD):
2012

2011

Provision as of January 1

1.8

1.4

Change in the provision for bad debt recognized
in the Statement of Comprehensive Income

0.7

0.3

Change in the provision for bad debt not recognized
in the Statement of Comprehensive Income*

0.5

0.0

Change in the provision for bad debt not recognized
in the Statement of Comprehensive Income **

0.1

0.0

Provision as of December 31

3.1

1.8

Realized losses, recognized directly in the Statement of Comprehensive Income

0.2

0.1

Received from previously written-down bad debts

0.0

0.2

*
**

Opening balance acquisitions 2012.
Currency adjustment provision as of January 1.

Interest risk and cash unit trust
As of December 31, 2012, the Group was invested in one money market fund. The Group’s money market fund is booked at fair
value of MUSD 14.3 (2011: 30.7) and is included in cash and cash equivalents, since the money can be redeemed from the fund at
will. Risk of loss does exist on the redemption of units occurring after December 31, 2012. 				

Liquidity risk

During FY 2012 and FY 2011, the Group had no exposure to financial risk, since the Group did not use forward exchange
contracts to hedge its currency risk, and Opera had not entered into any foreign exchange contracts as of December 31, 2012.
As of December 31, 2012, Opera had no current funding requirements, no interest-bearing debt and the cash balance was
MUSD 57.2 (2011: 83.1).
Deferred revenue consists of prepaid license/royalty payments, prepaid maintenance support, and prepaid development fees
and prepaid campaigns. Of the Group’s total current liabilities, MUSD 11.2 (2011: 14.5) relates to deferred revenue, and MUSD
10.8 (2011: 11.4) relates to deferred revenue that has no future cash payments.
Foreign exchange forward contracts
As of December 31, 2012, and as of December 31, 2011, Opera had not entered into or structured forward contracts or any
ordinary forward contracts for USD or EUR. 					

Capital management

In order to achieve the Group’s ambitious, long-term objectives, the policy has been to maintain a high equity-to-asset ratio and
to maintain a solid capital base so as to maintain investor, creditor, and market confidence and to sustain future development of
the business. The Group still possesses a business model that anticipates considerable cash flow in the future.
The Company has issued options to the Group’s employees in accordance with its objective that employees shall hold company
shares.
The Board of Directors has as of December 31, 2012, used its authorization to buy the Company’s own shares. Please see note
9 for more information.
Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries are subject to externally imposed capital requirements.			
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Note 6 – Tax
Tax expense

2012

2011

[Numbers in MUSD]
Current tax
Deferred tax — gross changes

9.7

4.8

-4.3

3.2

Taxes on capital raising costs

0.0

0.0

Tax payable abroad

3.2

3.8

Too much/little tax booked previous year

0.0

0.0

Total

8.6

11.8

2012

2011

Tax payable
[Numbers in MUSD]
Current tax

9.7

5.1

Tax payable abroad

2.9

4.0

Too much/little tax booked previous year

0.2

0.0

Tax settlement previous year
Prepaid tax subsidiaries/branches
Taxes on capital raising costs

0.0

0.0

-1.4

-0.8

0.0

0.0

Withholding tax paid to a foreign country

-2.9

-4.1

Tax effect on losses from sales of own shares*

-0.7

-0.9

Withholding tax utilized

0.0

0.0

Total

7.7

3.3

2012

2011

Prepaid tax subsidiaries/branches

1.0

0.0

Withholding tax paid to a foreign country

0.0

0.0

Sum other receivables

1.0

0.0

* Booked against equity

Specification of prepaid tax
[Numbers in MUSD]

Annual Report 2012 | 63

Note 6 (continued)
Recognized deferred tax assets and liabilities

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are attributable to the following:
Assets
2012

Liabilities
2011

2012

Net
2011

2012

2011

[ Numbers in MUSD ]
Inventory, office machinery, etc.

-1.0

0.1

4.6

2.0

3.6

2.1

Accounts receivables

-0.7

-0.6

0.0

0.0

-0.7

-0.6

Derivatives

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

Other liabilities

-3.1

-1.1

0.9

0.0

-2.2

-1.1

Tax value of loss carry-forwards utilized

-4.5

-1.2

0.0

0.0

-4.5

-1.2

Deferred taxes/ (tax assets)

-9.3

-2.8

5.5

2.0

-3.8

-0.8

5.5

2.0

-5.5

-2.0

0.0

0.0

-3.8

-0.8

0.0

0.0

-3.8

-0.8

Set-off of tax
Net deferred taxes / (tax assets)

Deferred tax assets and liabilities

Movement in temporary differences during the year

Balance
1/1/11

Posted to
P/L

Posted
directly to
the equity

Acquired in
business
combinations
(note 8)

Balance
12/31/11

[Numbers in MUSD]
Inventory, office machinery, etc.

1.3

0.0

0.0

0.8

2.1

-0.6

-0.1

0.1

0.0

-0.6

Liabilities

-1.9

0.9

-0.1

0.0

-1.1

Tax value of loss carry-forwards utilized

-3.8

2.7

0.0

0.0

-1.2

Deferred taxes / (tax assets)

-5.0

3.4

0.0

0.8

-0.8

Posted to
P/L

Posted
directly to
the equity

Acquired in
business
combinations
(note 8)

Balance
12/31/12

Accounts receivables

Balance
1/1/12

[Numbers in MUSD]
Inventory, office machinery, etc.
Accounts receivables

2.1

0.3

1.4

0.0

3.8

-0.6

-0.1

0.0

0.0

-0.7

Liabilities

-1.1

-1.1

-0.2

0.0

-2.4

Tax value of loss carry-forwards utilized

-1.2

-3.4

-0.1

0.2

-4.5

Deferred taxes / (tax assets)

-0.8

-4.3

1.1

0.2

-3.8

It is Opera’s opinion that the deferred tax asset can be utilized in future periods. Its measure is based on the expected and
estimated future income. Consequently, Opera has capitalized the deferred tax asset.				
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Note 6 (continued)

Change in deferred tax asset directly posted against the equity capital

2012

2011

Changes due to foreign currency changes

1.1

0.0

Capital raising costs and losses from sales of own shares

0.0

0.0

Total deferred taxes posted directly against the equity

1.1

0.0

[Numbers in MUSD]

Reconciliation of effective tax rate

2012

2011

[Numbers in MUSD]
Profit before tax
Income tax using the domestic corporate tax rate
Overbooked taxes, previous year

25.6
7.2

28.0%

37.1
28.0%

10.4
0.0

3.3%

0.8

0.0%

-0.8%

-0.2

-0.1%

0.0

Effect of different tax rates between countries

1.2%

0.3

-0.1%

0.0

Taxes on other permanent differences

2.1%

0.5

3.8%

1.4

33.7%

8.6

31.7%

11.8

Tax paid to a foreign country

Total tax expense for the year

Permanent differences

Permanent differences include non-deductable costs and share-based remuneration.
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Note 7 – P
 roperty, Plant, and Equipment
Cost
rented
premises

Machinery
and
equipment

Fixtures
and
fittings

Goodwill

Development

Other
intangible
assets

2012
Total

2011
Total

Acquisition cost as of 1/1/12

3.1

21.4

Acquisitions through business
combinations

1.1

27.7

0.0

6.6

59.9

43.3

0.0

0.4

0.0

46.0

0.0

6.9

53.3

9.0

[Numbers in MUSD]
Acquisition cost

Other acquisitions

0.8

8.7

0.9

0.0

3.4

0.0

13.8

10.2

-3.0

-0.1

-0.7

0.0

0.0

0.0

-3.7

-2.6

Currency differences

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.4

0.0

0.1

0.6

-0.1

Acquisition cost as of
12/31/12

1.0

30.4

1.3

74.1

3.4

13.6

123.8

59.9

Depreciation and impairment
losses as of 1/1/12

2.5

9.1

0.7

0.8

0.0

2.0

15.1

10.2

Acquisitions through business
combinations

0.0

0.2

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.2

0.0

Disposal

Depreciation and
impairment losses

Disposal

-2.6

-0.1

-0.6

0.0

0.0

0.0

-3.2

-2.2

Currency differences

0.0

0.4

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.3

0.1

Accumulated depreciation
and impairment losses as of
12/31/12

0.1

16.4

0.3

3.8

0.0

4.6

25.2

15.1

Net book value as of
12/31/12

0.8

14.0

1.0

70.3

3.4

9.1

98.6

44.8

Depreciation for the year

0.2

6.7

0.2

0.0

0.0

2.6

9.7

6.2

Impairment losses for the
year (see note 12)

0.0

0.0

0.0

3.0

0.0

0.0

3.0

0.8

Up to 5
years

Up to 5
years

Up to 5
years

Undetermined

Up to 4
years

Up to 5
years

Linear

Linear

Linear

No depreciation

Linear

Linear

Useful life
Depreciation plan

Goodwill relates to the acquisition of Hern Labs AB, Opera Software Poland Sp. z o.o., AdMarvel, Inc., Handster, Inc.,
Mobile Theory, Inc., 4th Screen Advertising, Ltd., Netview Tehnology AS, and FastMail. See note 8.
Other intangible assets relate to the acquisition of Opera Distribution AS, AdMarvel, Inc., Handster, Inc., Mobile Theory,
Inc., 4th Screen Advertising, Ltd., and FastMail. See note 8.
Please see note 8 for asset additions related to business combinations.					
Operating leases
The most significant agreements relate to the rental of premises in United States, Norway, the United Kingdom, Australia, Sweden,
and Poland.
In 2012, the Company entered into a new lease for the rental of its Norwegian offices at Gjerdrums vei 19. The new lease
will run through November 2019. The lease agreement, according to IAS 17, is considered an operating lease.			
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2012

2011

5.6

5.2

11/30/19

3/31/16

2012

2011

[Numbers in MUSD]
Leasing costs expensed
Duration of the lease contract

Non-terminable operating leases due in:
Less than one year
Between one to five years
More than five years
Total

4.9

4.7

10.1

13.2

2.5

0.2

17.5

18.1

Note 8 – Investments in Subsidiaries, Associated
Companies, and Other Shares
Hern Labs AB

Opera
Software
International AS

Opera
Distribution
AS

Netview
Technology AS

Date of purchase

12/13/2000

1/5/2005

12/16/2008

5/14/2012

Registered office

Linköping,
Sweden

Oslo, Norway

Oslo, Norway

Oslo, Norway

Ownership interest

100%

100%

100%

100%

Proportion of votes

100%

100%

100%

100%

Subsidiaries
[Numbers in MUSD]
Formal information

Information related to the date of purchase (in the year of purchase)
Purchase cost

1.3

0.2

0.3

0.8

Goodwill at acquisition cost

1.3

0.0

0.0

0.5

Other intangible assets at acquisition
cost

0.0

0.0

0.3

0.5

On May 14, 2012, Opera Software ASA acquired 100% of the shares and voting interest of the privately-held company Netview
Technology AS, following a payment of MUSD 0.8 for the shares acquired.
Opera Software ASA’s financial statements are available at the Company’s headquarters located at Gjerdrums vei 19 in Oslo,
Norway.				
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Note 8 (continued)
Associated companies
nHorizon Innovation (Beijing) Software, Ltd.

In 1Q 2011, Opera and China’s Telling Telecom announced that they planned to establish a company in greater China with the
goal of becoming the most popular consumer mobile web browser and web services platform in China. Opera will provide its
browser technology, and Telling Telecom will contribute a local operations team and strong distribution capabilities.
Telling Telecom is a leading mobile phone distributor in China.
nHorizon Innovation (Beijing) Software Ltd was co-founded by Opera Software ASA and Telling Telecom in August 2011.
nHorizon is committed to developing and marketing the Oupeng mobile browser, providing users with a simple, fast, and
smooth mobile internet experience and to helping people enjoy a comfortable mobile internet life. For more information,
please visit www.oupeng.com.
The focus of the company will be on the massive consumer mobile internet market and revenue opportunity in China. Opera
China will continue to target the operator, mobile OEM, device OEM, and desktop markets independent from the company.

Information regarding nHorizon Innovation

nHorizon Innovation had the following numbers as of December 31, 2012:
2012

2011

[ Numbers in MUSD ]
Revenue

2.0

0.1

EBIT

-18.4

-2.7

Net profit

-18.5

-2.7

Assets

0.9

9.8

Short-term liabilities

6.2

1.9

Equity

0.7

7.9

Investment in associate

The investments in nHorizon Innovation are accounted for using the equity method. In 2012, Opera invested MUSD 2.4 in both
3Q and 4Q. These investments come in addition to the MUSD 2.4 already invested in 2011. In addition, Opera is guaranteed a
minimum amount of revenue from the company corresponding to Opera’s initial capital contribution over the three-year period
starting from the establishment of the company.
As of December 31, 2012, Opera owned 25% of nHorizon Innovation, and Opera has booked the following fair value on the
accounting line “Other investments and deposits”:					

2012

2011

Investment (Booked value January 1)

1.5

0.0

Investment during the fiscal year

4.8

2.4

FX adjustment

0.3

-0.2

Share of the profit/loss

-3.7

-0.7

Elimination portion of sale

-0.9

0.0

2.0

1.5

[ Numbers in MUSD ]

Booked value
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Note 8 (continued)
Other shares

Opera Software ASA owns 20% of the European Center for Information and Communication Technologies — EICT GmbH. The
booked value of the share is USD 0.1. The market value of the company is unknown. The EICT is a public/private partnership of
scientific institutions, institutes of applied research, and leading industrial companies. The strategic innovation partnership pools
and specifically links research and development activities in industry and science to information and communication technologies. For more information about EICT, please see the website at www.eict.de.					

Mobile Theory, Inc.

On February 16, 2012, Opera Software International AS acquired 100% of the shares and voting interest of the privately-held
company Mobile Theory, Inc. Mobile Theory (www.mobiletheory.com) is a leading premium mobile advertising network based
in San Francisco, California, USA, with offices in New York, Chicago, Los Angeles, and Seattle. The company is focused on
the fast-growing U.S. mobile advertising market. Mobile Theory’s acquisition transaction highlights include: (i) $4 million cash
at closing; (ii) $13 million cash in escrow (to be paid to the Sellers in 2013 and 2014 based on minimum 2012 and 2013 revenue
performance targets); and (iii) $0 - $32 million in potential earnout cash consideration (to be paid to the Sellers in 2013 and 2014,
based on aggressive 2012 and 2013 revenue and EBIT targets), plus additional potential limited consideration, based on over
performance on EBIT in 2012 and 2013.
The acquisition enables Opera to: (i) broaden its value proposition to U.S.-based mobile advertisers and publishers, by providing
demand-side advertising services and (ii) bring in-house mobile advertising capabilities that will help better monetize Opera’s
own properties and traffic that is generated by Opera’s vast user base.
Mobile Theory, Inc., currently employs 43 full-time equivalents. In 2012, the Group incurred acquisition-related costs of MUSD
0.0 related to external legal fees and due diligence costs. The legal fees and due diligence costs have been included in the
consolidated statement.
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Note 8 (continued)
Identifiable assets acquired and liabilities assumed
[ Numbers in MUSD ]
Other intangible assets

0.0

Other investments and deposits

0.0

Property, plant, and equipment

0.0

Accounts receivable*

2.0

Unbilled revenue

0.3

Other receivables

0.0

Cash and cash equivalents

0.3

Accounts payable

-1.8

Social security, VAT, and other taxation payable

-0.0

Other short-term liabilities

-1.2

Total net identifiable assets

-0.4

Cash consideration

-3.9

Contingent consideration

-32.7

Excess value

-37.0

Related customer relationships

3.6

Proprietary technology

0.8

Deferred tax on excess values
Goodwill

-1.7
34.4

* The provision for bad debt is MUSD 0.2.

The assets and liabilities that were recognized by Mobile Theory immediately before the business combination equaled the
carrying amount recognized by the Group on the acquisition date. In addition, the Group booked the excess price of the fair
value of the total identifiable assets as related customer relationships, proprietary technology, deferred tax on excess values,
and goodwill, since the excess price has been deemed to be related to these intangible assets. The substantial amount of
goodwill in the acquisition of Mobile Theory can be attributed to the synergies that exist between the two companies and
the qualified Mobile Theory workforce.
Opera calculated the fair value on the acquisition date and booked a contingent consideration of MUSD 32.7 in the financial
statements. The contingent consideration is revalued each quarter, and more information can be found in note 11.
The value of the related customer relationships and the proprietary technology are depreciated over a 4-year period.
The fair value of the net identifiable assets has not been calculated by an external company. Opera has treated the entire
contingent consideration as consideration for the purchase of the business and no part as remuneration. The evaluation is
based on the indicators outlined in IFRS 3.
Revenue and profit
The total Mobile Theory revenue, in the first 10.5 months after purchase, was MUSD 21.1, and the estimate for the 12-month
period beginning January 1, 2012, is MUSD 21.8.
The net profit for Mobile Theory, in the first 10.5 months after the purchase, was MUSD 2.2, and the estimate for the 12-month
period beginning January 1, 2012, is MUSD -2.6.				
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Note 8 (continued)
4th Screen Advertising Ltd.

On February 16, 2012, Opera Software International AS acquired 100% of the shares and voting interest of the privately-held
company 4th Screen Advertising Ltd. 4th Screen Advertising Ltd. (www.4th-screen.com) is a leading premium mobile-advertising
network in the United Kingdom. The company, which is focused on the fast growing mobile-advertising market in the United
Kingdom, is profitable and experienced strong revenue growth entering 2012. 4th Screen Advertising’s acquisition transaction
highlights include: (i) $5 million cash at closing; (ii) $3 million cash in escrow (to be paid to the Sellers in 2012 and 2014) and (iii) $0
- $6.5 million in potential earnout cash consideration (to be paid to the Sellers in 2013 and 2014 based on aggressive 2012 and
2013 revenue and EBIT targets), plus additional potential limited consideration based on over performance on EBIT in 2012 and
2013.
The acquisition enables Opera to: (i) provide demand-side advertising services and an even broader value proposition to mobile
publishers and mobile advertisers in Europe, which is a key strategic geographic market for Opera and (ii) bring in-house mobile
advertising capabilities that will help better monetize Opera’s own properties and traffic that is generated by Opera’s vast user
base.
4th Screen Advertising Ltd. currently employs 39 full-time equivalents. In 2012, the Group incurred acquisition-related costs of
MUSD 0.0 related to external legal fees and due diligence costs. The legal fees and due diligence costs have been included in
the consolidated statement of comprehensive income.

Identifiable assets acquired and liabilities assumed
[ Numbers in MUSD ]
Property, plant, and equipment

0.1

Accounts receivable*

1.5

Unbilled revenue

5.4

Other receivables*

0.4

Cash and cash equivalents

0.8

Accounts payable

-6.9

Social security, VAT, and other taxation payable

-0.5

Other short-term liabilities

-0.5

Total net identifiable assets

0.3

Cash consideration

-7.2

Escrow

-1.0

Contingent consideration

-4.9

Excess value
Related customer relationships

-12.8
2.0

Deferred tax on excess values

-0.5

Goodwill

11.3

* No provision for bad debt
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Note 8 (continued)
The assets and liabilities that were recognized by 4th Screen Advertising Ltd. immediately before the business combination
equaled the carrying amount recognized by the Group on the acquisition date. In addition, the Group booked the excess price of
the fair value of the total identifiable assets as related customer relationships, deferred tax on excess values, and goodwill, since
the excess price has been deemed to be related to these intangible assets. The substantial amount of goodwill in the acquisition
of 4th Screen Advertising Ltd. can be attributed to the synergies that exist between the two companies and the qualified 4th
Screen Advertising LTD.workforce.
Opera calculated the fair value on the acquisition date and booked a contingent consideration of MUSD 4.9 in the financial
statements. The contingent consideration is revalued each quarter, and more information can be found in note 11.
The value of the related customer relationships is depreciated over a 4-year period.
The fair value of the net identifiable assets has not been calculated by an external company. Opera has treated the entire
contingent consideration as consideration for the purchase of the business and no part as remuneration. The evaluation is based
on the indicators outlined in IFRS 3.
Revenue and profit
The total 4th Screen Advertising revenue, in the first 10.5 months after the purchase, was MUSD 9.7, and the estimate for the
12-month period beginning January 1, 2012, is MUSD 10.5.
The net profit for 4th Screen Advertising, in the first 10.5 months, after the purchase was MUSD 0.4, and the estimate for the
12-month period beginning January 1, 2012, is MUSD 0.5.
Information regarding goodwill
[Numbers in MUSD]]
Goodwill at acquisition cost for Hern Labs AB

1.3

Accumulated depreciation as of 12/31/2004

1.1

Net book value as of 12/31/2004

0.3

Reversed depreciation 2004

0.3

Net book value as of 1/1/2004 and 12/31/2008

0.5

Goodwill at acquisition cost for Opera Software Poland Sp. z o.o

2.2

Net book value as of 12/31/2009

2.8

Goodwill at acquisition cost for AdMarvel

13.2

Goodwill at acquisition cost for FastMail

4.0

Net book value as of 12/31/2010
Goodwill at acquisition cost for Handster
FX adjustment to the goodwill acquisition cost

20.0
7.2
-0.0

Net book value as of 12/31/2011

27.2

Goodwill at acquisition cost for Mobile Theory

34.4

Goodwill at acquisition cost for 4th Screen Advertising

11.3

Goodwill at acquisition cost for Netview Technology
Impairment of FastMail goodwill
FX adjustment to the goodwill acquisition cost
Net book value as of 12/31/2012

0.3
-3.0
0.1
70.3

In respect to business acquisitions that have occurred since January 1, 2004, goodwill represents the difference between the
cost of the acquisition and the fair value of the net identifiable assets acquired. A portion of the goodwill relates to the purchase
of Hern Labs AB. As the goodwill existed before January 1, 2004, the goodwill is based on the amount recognized according
to NGAAP. Goodwill from the purchase of Hern Labs AB booked on December 31, 2011, has the same value as goodwill on
January 1, 2004.
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Note 8 (continued)
Testing for decrease in value of cash-generating units, including goodwill
Hern Labs AB, Netview Technology AS, and Opera Software Poland Sp. z o.o

MUSD 3.1 of the recognized goodwill and MUSD 0.4 of the recognized other intangible assets is related to the acquisition of
Hern Labs AB, Netview Technology AS, and Opera Software Poland Sp. z o.o. Netview’s operations have been sold to Opera
Software ASA, and Hern Labs AB and Opera Software Poland Sp. z o.o are development companies that deliver development
services to Opera Software ASA. Hern Labs AB and Opera Software Poland Sp. z o.o use a cost plus model. Hence, it is difficult
to estimate the value of Hern Labs AB and Opera Software Poland Sp. z o.o on the basis of their cash flows. The browser
business of Opera Software ASA Group is thus considered to be the smallest cash-generating unit for the three acquisitions.
The Group has performed a complete impairment test as of December 31, 2012, according to IAS 36. The Group considers
it unnecessary to recognize an impairment loss concerning goodwill. This judgment has, among other things, been based
on estimated cash flows to the companies the coming 3-year period and the fact that the market value of the Opera Group is
considerably higher than the equity.
Value in use was determined by discounting the future cash flows, and the calculation was based on the following key
assumptions:
• Cash flows were projected using past experience, actual operating results, and the 3-year business plan 		
extending from FY 2013 to FY 2015. The terminal value has been calculated using the average of the estimated 		
cash flow in 2013 to 2015 and a 2% future growth rate.
• A pre-tax discount rate where Opera used a 4.0% current market risk-free rate of interest and added a risk of 		
6.5% (equity risk premium of 5% x beta 1.3).
A change in the discount rate with a risk up to 5% would still not cause the booked goodwill to be impaired, nor would a 5%
decrease of the cash flow.

AdMarvel, Inc.

MUSD 13.2 of the recognized goodwill and MUSD 1.1 of the recognized other intangible assets, as of December 31, 2012, are
related to the acquisition of AdMarvel, Inc. The Group has performed a complete impairment test as of December 31, 2012,
according to IAS 36. The Group considers it unnecessary to recognize an impairment loss concerning goodwill and other
intangible assets. This judgment has, among other things, been based on estimated cash flows to the company the coming
3-year period.
Value in use was determined by discounting the future cash flows, and the calculation was based on the following key
assumptions:
• Cash flows were projected using past experience, actual operating results, and the 3-year business plan extending
from FY 2013 to FY 2015. The terminal value has been calculated using the average of the estimated cash flow in
2013 to 2015 and a 2% future growth rate.
• A pre-tax discount rate where Opera used a 4.0% current market risk-free rate of interest and added a risk of 16.0%
(equity risk premium of 8% x beta 2.0).
A change in the discount rate with a risk up to 5% would still not cause the booked goodwill to be impaired, nor would a 5%
decrease of the cash flow.
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Note 8 (continued)
FastMail

The Group’s annual impairment test of the FastMail operations has estimated the company’s sales value, based on negotiations
with a potential buyer, to be MUSD 1.0, which includes MUSD 1.0 of goodwill and MUSD 0.8 of other intangible assets. To arrive
at this valuation, the Group has written down goodwill by MUSD 3.0 from MUSD 4.0 to 1.0 MUSD.

Handster, Inc

MUSD 7.3 of the recognized goodwill and MUSD 1.5 of the recognized other intangible assets, as of December 31, 2012, are
related to the acquisition of Handster, Inc. The Group has performed a complete impairment test as of December 31, 2012,
according to IAS 36. The Group considers it unnecessary to recognize an impairment loss concerning goodwill and other
intangible assets. This judgment has, among other things, been based on estimated cash flows to the company the coming
3-year period.
Value in use was determined by discounting the future cash flows, and the calculation was based on the following key
assumptions:
• Cash flows were projected using past experience, actual operating results, and the 3-year business plan extending
from FY 2013 to FY 2015. The terminal value has been calculated using the average of the estimated cash flow in
2013 to 2015 and a 2% future growth rate.
• A pre-tax discount rate where Opera used a 4.0% current market risk-free rate of interest and added a risk of 16.0%
(equity risk premium of 8% x beta 2.0).
A change in the discount rate with a risk up to 5% would still not cause the booked goodwill to be impaired, nor would a 5%
decrease of the cash flow.

Mobile Theory, Inc

MUSD 34.4 of the recognized goodwill and MUSD 3.5 of the recognized other intangible assets, as of December 31, 2012,
are related to the acquisition of Mobile Theory, Inc. The Group has performed a complete impairment test as of December 31,
2012, according to IAS 36. The Group considers it unnecessary to recognize an impairment loss concerning goodwill and other
intangible assets. This judgment has, among other things, been based on estimated cash flows to the company the coming
3-year period.
Value in use was determined by discounting the future cash flows, and the calculation was based on the following key
assumptions:
• Cash flows were projected using past experience, actual operating results, and the 3-year business plan extending
from FY 2013 to FY 2015. The terminal value has been calculated using the average of the estimated cash flow in
2013 to 2015 and a 2% future growth rate.
• A pre-tax discount rate where Opera used a 4.0% current market risk-free rate of interest and added a risk of 16.0%
(equity risk premium of 8% x beta 2.0).
A change in the discount rate with a risk up to 5% would still not cause the booked goodwill to be impaired, nor would a 5%
decrease of the cash flow.

4th Screen Advertising Ltd.

MUSD 11.3 of the recognized goodwill and MUSD 1.6 of the recognized other intangible assets, as of December 31, 2012, are
related to the acquisition of 4th Screen Advertising Ltd. The Group has performed a complete impairment test as of December
31, 2012, according to IAS 36. The Group considers it unnecessary to recognize an impairment loss concerning goodwill and
other intangible assets. This judgment has, among other things, been based on estimated cash flows to the company the
coming 3-year period.
Value in use was determined by discounting the future cash flows, and the calculation was based on the following key
assumptions:
• Cash flows were projected using past experience, actual operating results, and the 3-year business plan extending
from FY 2013 to FY 2015. The terminal value has been calculated using the average of the estimated cash flow in
2013 to 2015 and a 2% future growth rate.
• A pre-tax discount rate where Opera used a 4.0% current market risk-free rate of interest and added a risk of 16.0%
(equity risk premium of 8% x beta 2.0).
A change in the discount rate with a risk up to 5% would still not cause the booked goodwill to be impaired, nor would a 5%
decrease of the cash flow.
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Note 9 – Shareholder Information
The holders of ordinary shares are entitled to receive dividends as declared from time to time and are entitled to one vote per
share at the General Meeting.
All shares rank equally with regard to the Group’s residual assets. The Company does not have any preferred shares.
For information regarding share options, please see the accompanying note 3.
Authorization to acquire own shares
The Annual General Meeting (AGM) held on June 5, 2012, passed the following resolution:
a) The Board of Directors is authorized to acquire shares in the Company. The shares are to be acquired at market terms,
in or in connection with a regulated market where the shares are traded.
b) The shares may only be used to fulfill obligations under incentive schemes approved by the shareholders. No new 		
authority is granted by this item for new incentive schemes.
c) The maximum face value of the shares which the Company may acquire pursuant to this authorization is in total
NOK 238,000. The minimum amount which may be paid for each share acquired pursuant to this power of attorney is
NOK 10, and the maximum amount is NOK 100.
d) The authorization comprises the right to establish pledge over the Company’s own shares.
e) This authorization is valid from registration with the Norwegian Register of Business Enterprises until June 30, 2013.
f) The authorization replaces the current authorization when registered in the Norwegian Register of Business Enterprises.
During 2012, Opera purchased 0 shares as part of the share buyback program. During 2012, Opera has, as part of the
employees options exercise, sold 1,302,430 own shares for MUSD 3.4. As of December 31, 2012, Opera owned 339,500 shares.
Board authorization to increase the share capital by issuance of new shares
The Annual General Meeting held on June 5, 2012, passed the following resolutions:
1 Authorization regarding incentive program
a) The Board of Directors is authorized to increase the Company’s share capital by a total amount of up to NOK 239,000,
by one or several share issues of up to a total of 11,950,000 shares, each with a nominal value of NOK 0.02. The 		
subscription price and other terms will be determined by the Board of Directors.
b) The authorization includes the right to increase the Company’s share capital in return for non-cash contributions or the
right to assume special obligations on behalf of the Company.
c) The preferential rights pursuant to Section 10-4 of the Public Limited Liability Companies Act may be deviated from by
the Board of Directors.
d) The authorization may only be used for issuing new shares in relation to the Company’s incentive schemes existing at
any time in the Opera Group. The authorization cannot be used in connection with options that may be granted to 		
directors on or after June 15, 2010. 					
e) The authorization shall be effective from the date it is registered in the Norwegian Register of Business Enterprises and
shall be valid until June 30, 2013.
f) The authorization replaces the current authorization when registered in the Norwegian Register of Business Enterprises.
g) The authorization cannot be used if the Company, in the period of June 5, 2012, to June 30, 2013, pursuant to board
authorizations, has issued new shares in the Company representing more than 10% of the Company’s share capital.
				
2 Authorization regarding acquisitions
a) The Board of Directors is authorized to increase the Company’s share capital by a total amount of up to NOK 239,149,
by one or several share issues of up to a total of 11,950,000 shares, each with a nominal value of NOK 0.02. The 		
subscription price and other terms will be determined by the Board of Directors.
b) The authorization includes the right to increase the Company’s share capital in return for non-cash contributions or the
right to assume special obligations on behalf of the Company.
c) The preferential rights pursuant to Section 10-4 of the Public Limited Liability Companies Act may be deviated from by
the Board of Directors.					
d) The authorization may only be used in connection with acquisitions of businesses or companies, including mergers,
within the business areas operated by the Opera Group, or which relates thereto.					
e) The authorization shall be effective from the date it is registered in the Norwegian Register of Business Enterprises and
shall be valid until June 30, 2013.					
f) The authorization replaces the current authorization when registered in the Norwegian Register of Business Enterprises.
g) The authorization cannot be used if the Company, in the period of June 5, 2012, to June 30, 2013, pursuant to board
authorizations, has issued new shares in the Company representing more than 10% of the Company’s share capital.
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Note 9 (continued)
Dividends for 2011 of NOK 0.20 per share				
The Annual General Meeting held on June 5, 2012, passed the following resolution: NOK 0.20 per share is paid as dividend for
2011, constituting an aggregate dividend payment of KNOK 23,915. The dividend will be paid to those who are shareholders at
end of trading on June 5, 2012, and the shares will be trading exclusive of dividend rights as of June 6, 2012.
Other items passed at the AGM
For further details about the meeting held on June 5, 2012, please see the protocol from the Annual General Meeting published
on the Oslo Stock Exchange website (www.oslobors.no).
Options to Executives
On June 5, 2012, the Board of Directors granted 400,000 options each to executives Erik Harrell and Andreas Thome. Rikard
Gillemyr was granted 250,000 options. 200,000 of the options granted to Erik Harrell and Andreas Thome, and 50,000 of the
options granted to Rikard Gillemyr, are subject to approval from the AGM. The vesting period started from June 6, 2012, and
the options are currently booked as option liability and included in total current liabilities.
New Board Member
Greg Coleman replaced Alberto Torres as a board member on November 14, 2012.
Option programs				
For information about the employee option program, please see note 3.
Ownership structure
Shareholders with more than 1% of Opera Software ASA shares as of December 31, 2012, were:

Shares

Owner’s share

Voting share

Ludvig Lorentzen AS

11,064

9.25%

9.25%

Arepo AS

11,012

9.21%

9.21%

Vivaldi Invest AS

9,215

7.71%

7.71%

Ferd AS Invest

7,074

5.92%

5.92%

Sundt AS

6,499

5.44%

5.44%

Verdipapirfondet DNB Global Selekt

2,398

2.01%

2.01%

Skandinaviska Enskilda Banken

2,318

1.94%

1.94%

JP Morgan Chase Bank

2,266

1.90%

1.90%

Verdipapirfondet DNB Nordic Techno

2,230

1.87%

1.87%

Statoil Pensjon

2,046

1.71%

1.71%

State Street Bank and Trust CO.

1,698

1.42%

1.42%

State Street Bank and Trust CO.

1,682

1.41%

1.41%

KLP Aksje Norge VPF

1,352

1.13%

1.13%

Verdipapirfondet DNB SMB

1,335

1.12%

1.12%

Pactum AS

1,250

1.05%

1.05%

Sum

63,441

53.06%

53.06%

Other shareholders

56,134

46.94%

46.94%

119,575

100.00%

100.00%

[In thousands of shares]

Total numbers of shares

The Board of Directors proposes that the 2013 Annual General Meeting approves a dividend payment of NOK 0.22 per
share.
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Note 10 – Accounts Receivable, Other Receivables,
Accounts Payables, Other Payables, and Provisions
Financial assets and liabilities mainly comprise short-term items (non-interest-bearing). Based on this assessment, management
does not consider the Group to have financial assets or liabilities with potentially significant differences between net book value
and fair value.					

Note 11 – Contingent Liabilities and Provisions
Mobile Theory — Earnout agreement
Valuation techniques and key model inputs used to measure the contingent consideration:
Opera has estimated the total earnout value before discounting to be MUSD 45.5, at the acquisition date. Opera used a WACC
of 20% and foreign exchange rate of 5.7284, when calculating the earnout. Based on these assumptions and the earnout
valuation performed at the acquisition date, Opera calculated the fair value and booked a contingent consideration of KUSD
32.7 in the financial statements. The FY 2012 and FY 2013 earnout targets are both based on revenue and EBIT targets. The
maximum possible payment for both FY 2012 and FY 2013 is MUSD 45.0 plus additional potential limited consideration based
on over performance of EBIT in 2012 and 2013. At the acquisition date, Opera calculated the earnout value before discounting to
be MUSD 18.3 in FY 2012 and MUSD 27.3 in FY 2013. The weighted probability rates are estimated to change +/-10%.
The contingent consideration is revalued each quarter, and MUSD 21.8 has been booked as a non-current provision and MUSD
0.2 as a current provision as of December 31, 2012. For 2012, Opera booked MUSD 6.6 as an interest expense, MUSD 1.3 as an
FX income and MUSD 0.6 as change in likelihood. The weighted probability rates are estimated to change +/-10%. Please also
see note 8 for more details.
In 4Q 2012, Opera prepaid the 2012 earnout payment of MUSD 17.8.

4th Screen Advertising — Earnout agreement
Valuation techniques and key model inputs used to measure the contingent consideration:
Opera has estimated the total earnout value before discounting to be MUSD 6.9, at the acquisition date. Opera used a WACC of
20% and foreign exchange rate of 5.7284, when calculating the earnout. Based on these assumptions and the earnout valuation
performed at the acquisition date, Opera calculated the fair value and booked a contingent consideration of MUSD 4.9 in the
financial statements. The FY 2012 and FY 2013 earnout targets are both based on revenue and EBIT targets. The maximum possible payment for both FY 2012 and FY 2013 is MUSD 6.5 plus additional potential limited consideration based on over performance of EBIT in 2012 and 2013. At the acquisition date, Opera calculated the earnout value before discounting to be MUSD 2.2
in FY 2012 and MUSD 4.7 in FY 2013. The weighted probability rates are estimated to change +/-10%.
The contingent consideration is revalued each quarter, and MUSD 3.5 has been booked as a non-current provision and MUSD
1.9 as a current provision as of December 31, 2012. For 2012, Opera booked MUSD 0.7 as an interest expense, MNOK 0.2 as an
FX income and MUSD -0.2 as change in likelihood. The weighted probability rates are estimated to change +/-10%. Please also
see note 8 for more details.
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Note 11 (continued)
AdMarvel — Earnout agreement

The FY 2011 earnout of MUSD 6.5 was paid in March 2012. After this, there is no further contingent consideration to be paid.

FastMail — Earnout agreement

The final FY 2011 earnout portion of MUSD 0.9 was paid in March 2012. After this, there is no further contingent consideration to
be paid.
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Note 12 – Costs for Restructuring the Business
During 4Q 2012, the Opera Group recorded restructuring charges related to its strategic cost reduction program, which will
better align costs with revenues, as well as an impairment cost for its email business. Accordingly, Opera has booked an
estimated impairment cost related to the goodwill write down of the FastMail partnership that was acquired by operations in April
2010. The difference between the reassessed fair values of FastMail, less the cost to sell and the current fair value, has been
booked as an impairment cost.
During 2Q 2012, Opera Software ASA recorded restructuring charges related to a strategic cost reduction that will better align
costs with revenues and legal fees related to business combinations. Opera Software ASA has in 2Q 2012 signed a new office
lease agreement in Nydalen and a sub-lease agreement for the current real-estate building on Waldemar Thranes gate in Oslo,
Norway. The sub-lease agreement is signed with NAV and is effective from August 1, 2012, to March 31, 2016. The total booked
cost in 2Q for moving the office to Nydalen has been MUSD 3.1. The cost includes costs related to loss on contracts, broker
fees, lawyer fees, moving costs, VAT costs, impairment costs, and other fees. In addition, Opera incurred moving costs in the
United States of MUSD 0.0, severance costs of MUSD 1.0 and legal fees related to business combinations of MUSD 0.1.
During 1Q 2012, Opera Software ASA recorded legal fees related to business combinations of MUSD 0.7.
During 2011, Opera Software ASA recorded a one-time restructuring charge related to a strategic cost reduction that will better
align costs with revenues, legal fees related to business combinations, termination cost for switching to a new hosting provider,
and impairment costs for our hosting servers. Opera has currently changed the hosting business strategy, and we are now
looking for hosting providers that are a better fit for our future hosting strategy. For this purpose, we have booked an estimated
termination cost related to moving part of our hosting servers to a new hosting provider. We will also start selling our servers
after 3 years, and for a higher sales price, compared to our current strategy of selling our servers after 4 years. The difference
between the reassessed fair value, less costs to sell (based on the new strategy) and the current fair value, has been booked as
an impairment cost.

Costs for restructuring the business

2012

2011

[Numbers in MUSD]
Salary restructuring cost

5.9

0.8

Option restructuring cost

0.0

-0.8

Office restructuring cost

3.0

0.0

Termination cost — hosting center

0.0

0.6

Impairment cost

3.0

0.8

Legal fees related to business combinations

0.9

0.2

12.8

1.7

Total*

* As of December 31, 2012, MUSD 5.8 was not paid and was booked as other short-term liabilities in the consolidated
statement of financial position. The comparative number as of December 31, 2011, was 0.3.			
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Note 13 – A
 ccounting Estimates and Judgments
Management has evaluated the development, selection, and disclosure of the Group’s critical accounting policies and estimates
and the application of these policies and estimates.
The preparation of financial statements in accordance with IFRS requires the use of estimates and assumptions that affect the
reported amounts of assets and liabilities, the disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the financial statements,
and the reported amounts of revenues and expenses during the reporting periods. The estimates and associated assumptions
are based on historical experience and various other factors that are believed to be reasonable under the circumstances,
the result of which form the basis for making the judgments about carrying values of assets and liabilities that are not readily
apparent from other sources. Actual results may differ from these estimates. The estimates and underlying assumptions are
reviewed on an ongoing basis. Changes in accounting estimates are recognized in the period in which the estimate is revised,
if the revision affects only that period, or in the period of the revision and future periods if the revision affects both current and
future periods.
Key sources of estimation uncertainty
Based on signed contracts with large, established market participants, Opera develops and adjusts the Opera browser so that
it is compatible with mobile phones, game consoles, and many other devices. The adjustments and modifications are carried
out continuously over time. Hence, income and costs are booked in accordance with the percentage of completion method.
Estimation of the degree of completion is based on the best estimate. Management’s choice of estimates for the degree of
completion will have a considerable effect on booked income.
The Group has, in note 5, given a detailed analysis of the currency risk and risk related to changes in the foreign exchange rates.
The Group has entered into earnout agreements as specified in notes 8 and 11. Opera has in note 11 given a detailed analysis of
how the contingent considerations have been calculated. Changes in the chosen assumptions can have a significant impact on
the size of the earnout cost.
The Group has established an option program for its employees. The options are booked in accordance with IFRS 2. The option
costs are estimated on the basis of various assumptions, such as volatility, interest level, dividend, and an assumption of how
many will exercise their options, as well as other factors. The chosen assumptions can have a significant impact on the size of the
option costs. The assumptions are given in note 3. 					
Critical accounting judgments in applying the Group’s accounting policies
The Group has considered its activities related to technological development in terms of the requirements in IAS 38. The
Company develops specially designed browsers for use in its customers’ products. The reason the Group has entered into
contracts with customers, committing the Company to develop a custom-made browser for a settled fee, is that the fee received
is meant to cover Opera’s expenses related to this specific technological development. These projects are booked in accordance
with the percentage of completion method, which states that related income and expenses should be booked in the same
period.
Cost of building new features, together with significant and pervasive improvements of the core platform, provided that the
significant and pervasive improvements of parts or main components of the core platform will generate probable future
economic benefits, are capitalized as development costs and amortized on a straight-line, 3-year basis. These costs were not
capitalized in FY 2011, as Opera has from FY 2012 enhanced the internal reporting and bookkeeping systems. Please refer to
notes 4 and 7 for additional information.
The Company’s desktop and mobile browsers share one core code, with its TV and mini browsers sharing another core.
This means core updates performed by our engineering department affect multiple products. Engineering also makes
some product-specific changes, but the core functionality is the same for those in the same core family. A significant portion
of the work that engineering performs (beyond specifically designed browsers) is related to the implementation of the ongoing
updates that are required to maintain the browser’s functionality. Examples of updates include “bug fixes”, updates made to
comply with changes in laws and regulations, and updates made to keep pace with the latest web trends. These costs are
expensed as maintenance costs.
In some contracts, Opera receives a fee that covers development and a guaranteed number of licenses, as well as maintenance
in the subsequent period. The elements in the different contracts are assessed in accordance with the best estimate of true
value and booked as the elements are delivered. If the elements can not be separated, all income is booked in aggregate, in
accordance with the percentage of completion method.
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Note 14 – Related Parties
In FY 2012, except for the Group’s transactions with Hern Labs AB, Opera Software International AS, Opera Distribution AS,
Netview Technology AS, and Opera Software Poland Sp. z o.o, the Group did not engage in any related party transactions,
including with any members of the Board of Directors or the Executive Team. Please refer to notes 3 and 8 for additional
information.
Transactions with key management personnel					
Members of the Board of Directors and the Executive Team of the Group and their immediate relatives controlled 10.4% of the
Group’s voting share as per December 31, 2012. The Company has not provided any loans to directors or Executive Team
members as of December 31, 2012.
Executive Team members also participate in the Group’s stock option program (see note 3). Compensation for Executive Team
members can be found in note 3.

Note 15 – Earnings per Share
Earning per share

2012

2011

[Numbers in USD]
Earnings per share (basic)

0.143

0.213

Earnings per share, fully diluted

0.140

0.210

Shares used in earnings per share calculation

118,782,269

118,914,427

Shares used in earnings per share calculation, fully diluted

121,173,334

120,780,112

Earnings per share is calculated by dividing the profit attributable to equity holders of the Company by the weighted ordinary
shares in issue during the period.
The average stock exchange price for 2012 is used when calculating the options that are “in the money” and when calculating
the fully diluted number of shares. The options have varying exercise prices and would, upon exercise, mean payment to the
Company of MNOK 177.6. In relation to the accounting standard regarding earnings per share, the effect of these funds being
used by the Company to purchase shares in the market should be considered when calculating the fully diluted number of
shares outstanding. Opera has included options with a strike price below NOK 35.92 when calculating the fully diluted number of
shares outstanding. Total options used in the calculations are 7,758,356, of which 5,548,256 options are unvested and 2,210,100
are vested but not yet exercised.

2012

2011

118,782,269

118,914,427

Options

7,758,356

9,241,631

Total

7,758,356

9,241,631

Average number of shares
The following equity instruments have a diluting effect:

Options

7,758,356

9,241,631

Number of shares purchased (MNOK 177.6/35.92)

4,945,339

7,046,708

Number of shares with diluting effect

2,813,017

2,194,923

Expected options to be exercised

2,391,065

1,865,684
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Note 16 – S
 ubsequent Events
Skyfire Labs, Inc.
On March 14, 2013, Opera Software ASA acquired 100% of the shares and voting interest of the privately-held company Skyfire
Labs, Inc., a leader in mobile video optimization and cloud solutions for mobility. Opera believes Skyfire adds capabilities to our
portfolio around video, app optimization, smartphones, and tablets, and strength in North America, and we are excited to extend
Opera’s solutions for operators. Skyfire, headquartered in Mountain View, California, is known for its Rocket Optimizer software.
This allows mobile operators to leverage cloud computing to optimize virtually any video and other multimedia on crowded
cell towers, including 3G and 4G LTE networks. Rocket Optimizer on average provides mobile networks a significant boost in
capacity by reducing the size of video and other multimedia content as needed to fit the available bandwidth. Skyfire can detect
when specific users are facing poor quality of experience or connections that need assistance, and intervenes in milliseconds.
This can minimize the long start times, rebuffering, and stalls on video and audio streams that frustrate mobile users around the
world. The approach aligns with the trend toward SDN (software-defined networking) and NFV (network function virtualization)
among telecommunications operators, thanks to its elastic and virtualization-friendly cloud architecture.
Skyfire also offers Skyfire Horizon, a mobile browser extension and toolbar platform that allows users to personalize their
smartphone browsers and operators to gain new monetization opportunities.
The acquisition price includes a mix of cash and stock, with an upfront consideration of MUSD 50 (including MUSD 8 of cash
on the Skyfire balance sheet) and performance-based earnout payments over three years, including MUSD 26 in cash held in
escrow and funded upfront, that can bring the total deal size to MUSD 155.
The acquisition enables Opera to: (i) broaden its value proposition to U.S.-based mobile advertisers and publishers by providing
demand-side advertising services and (ii) bring in-house mobile advertising capabilities that will help better monetize Opera’s
own properties and traffic that is generated by Opera’s vast user base.

Identifiable assets acquired and liabilities assumed
[Numbers in MUSD]
Other intangible assets

4.2

Property, plant, and equipment

0.4

Accounts receivable*

0.5

Other receivables

0.1

Cash and cash equivalents

8.2

Accounts payable

-0.1

Social security, VAT, and other taxation payable

-0.3

Deferred revenue

-5.1

Other short-term liabilities

-2.7

Other long-term liabilities

-1.6

Non-current provisions

-3,3

Total net identifiable assets

0.3

Cash consideration

-49.7

Contingent consideration

-40.5

Excess value

-89.9

Related customer relationships
Proprietary technology
Non-compete

3.6
19.4
0.4

Deferred tax on excess values

-9.2

Goodwill

75.7

* No provision for bad debt
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Note 16 (continued)
The assets and liabilities that were recognized by Skyfire Labs immediately before the business combination equaled the
carrying amount recognized by the Group on the acquisition date. In addition, the Group booked the excess price of the fair
value of the total identifiable assets as related customer relationships, proprietary technology, deferred tax on excess values and
goodwill, since the excess price has been deemed to be related to these intangible assets. The substantial amount of goodwill in
the acquisition of Skyfire Labs can be attributed to the synergies that exist between the two companies, as well as the qualified
Skyfire Labs workforce.
Opera calculated the fair value on the acquisition date and booked a contingent consideration of MUSD 40.5 in the financial
statements.
The value of the related customer relationships and the proprietary technology are depreciated over a 6-year period.
The fair value of the net identifiable assets has not been calculated by an external company. Opera has treated the entire
contingent consideration as consideration for the purchase of the business and no part as remuneration. The evaluation is based
on the indicators outlined in IFRS 3.

Credit facility
Opera Software has, in 2013, signed a MUSD 100 secured revolving credit facility with DNB Bank ASA. The facility will primarily
be secured through a share pledge in Opera Software International AS, as well as floating charges over accounts receivable in
Opera Software ASA and certain of its U.K. and U.S. subsidiaries. The facility has a term of 3 years and bears an interest rate of
LIBOR +1.75% p.a. (plus a utilization fee varying with the amount drawn). On the undrawn portion of the facility, a commitment fee
of 0.61% p.a. will be paid. Opera Software intends to use the financing for general corporate purposes and potential acquisitions.
No subsequent events have occurred after the reporting date that would require the consolidated financial statements to be
adjusted.
For announcements of new contracts, please see announcements published on the Oslo Stock Exchange website
(www.oslobors.no).
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Parent Company
Annual Accounts Report 2012
Opera Software ASA

The annual accounts report for Opera Software ASA contains the following
documents:
Statement of Comprehensive Income................................................................................................................................................................ 85
Statement of Financial Position...................................................................................................................................................................................... 86
Statement of Cash Flows............................................................................................................................................................................................................. 88
Statement of Changes in Equity.................................................................................................................................................................................. 89
Notes to the Financial Statements ...........................................................................................................................................................................91

The financial statements, which have been drawn up by the Board and management, should be read in conjunction with to the annual report and the independent
auditor’s opinion.
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Statement of Comprehensive Income
Note

1/1 - 12/31

1/1 - 12/31

2012

2011

160.8

147.4

160.8

147.4

[ Numbers in MUSD ]
Revenue

1, 2, 5

Total operating revenue
Cost of goods sold
Payroll and related expenses
Depreciation expenses
Other operating expenses

3, 5
5, 7

2.2

2.2

73.9

66.1

120.5

112.5

40.4

34.8

7.3

0.5

33.1

34.4

Results from operating activities ("EBIT") excl. restructuring costs
12

Results from operating activities ("EBIT")
Interest income
Other financial income
Interest expenses
Other financial expenses

5, 9

3.3

2.3

5

1.8

4.5

5, 9

-0.1

0.0

5

-7.7

-2.8

30.3

38.3

-9.3

-10.9

21.0

27.4

9.3

-3.1

30.3

24.3

21.0

27.4

Profit before income tax
Income tax on ordinary result

0.1
44.2

3, 4, 5, 7, 13

Total operating expenses

Costs for restructuring the business

0.0
44.3

6

Profit for the period
Foreign currency translation differences for foreign operations
Total comprehensive income for the period

Profit attributable to:
Owners of the Company
Non-controlling interest
Profit for the period

0.0

0.0

21.0

27.4

30.3

24.3

Total comprehensive income attributable to:
Owners of the Company
Non-controlling interest
Total comprehensive income for the period

0.0

0.0

30.3

24.3

Earnings per share:
Basic earnings per share (USD)

15

0.177

0.231

Diluted earnings per share (USD)

15

0.173

0.227
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Statement of Financial Position
Note

12/31/2012

12/31/2011

3.2

0.0

3.2

0.0

3.5

3.1

3.5

3.1

6

3.0

1.2
8.4

[ Numbers in MUSD ]
Assets
Non-current assets
Intangible assets
Other intangible assets

7

Total intangible assets
Property, plant, and equipment
Office machinery, equipment, etc.

7

Total property, plant, and equipment
Financial assets and deferred tax assets
Deferred tax assets
Other receivables

9, 11

8.7

Investments in subsidiaries

8

7.3

4.9

Investments in other shares

8

7.3

2.2

Other investments and deposits

4

2.7

1.6

Total financial assets and deferred tax assets

29.0

18.3

Total non-current assets

35.8

21.5

5, 9, 11

17.1

10.7

11

16.8

15.2

6, 9, 11

2.5

2.4

36.4

28.2

128.2

102.3

Total current assets

164.6

130.5

Total assets

200.4

152.0

Current assets
Trade and other receivables
Accounts receivable
Unbilled revenue
Other receivables
Total trade and other receivables
Cash and cash equivalents
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5

Statement of Financial Position
Note

12/31/2012

12/31/2011

[ Numbers in MUSD ]
Shareholders' equity and liabilities
Equity
Paid in capital
Share capital

0.4

0.4

Share premium reserve

81.9

76.2

Other reserves

16.8

12.3

Total paid in capital

99.1

88.9

Other equity

53.1

29.4

Total retained earnings

53.1

29.4

152.2

118.3

9, 11

14.3

6.2

6

7.0

2.8

11

4.7

3.6

5

9.4

13.7

3

0.1

0.0

5, 9, 11

12.6

7.4

Total current liabilities

48.1

33.7

Total liabilities

48.1

33.7

200.4

152.0

10

Retained earnings

Total equity
Liabilities
Current liabilities
Accounts payable
Taxes payable
Social security, VAT, and other taxation payable
Deferred revenue
Option liability
Other short-term liabilities

Total equity and liabilities

Oslo, April 15, 2013

Arve Johansen
Chairman

Audun Wickstrand Iversen

Kari Stautland

Marianne H. Blystad

Gregory Gerard Coleman

Erik Möller
Employee representative

Christian Mauricio Uribe Espinoza
Employee representative

Krystian Kolondra
Employee representative

Lars Boilesen
CEO
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Statement of Cash Flows
Note

1/1 - 12/31

1/1 - 12/31

2012

2011

[ Numbers in MUSD ]
Cash flow from operating activities
Profit/loss before taxes

30.3

38.3

Taxes paid

6

-6.0

-3.2

Depreciation expenses

7

2.2

2.2

0.0

0.0

7, 12

0.0

0.3

8

0.0

0.1

-9.3

3.5

1.7

-0.1

7.4

-8.3

Profit/loss from sales of property, plant, and equipment
Impairment of assets
Loss on sale of shares
Changes in accounts receivable *
Changes in accounts payable
Changes in other liabilities and receivables, net
Share-based remuneration

3

Conversion discrepancy
Net cash flow from operating activities

2.4

1.4

9.5

-3.1

38.3

31.1

Cash flow from investment activities
Proceeds from sale of assets

7

0.8

4.1

Capital expenditures

7

-5.2

-4.7

4, 7

-1.7

0.0
0.0

Investment in R&D ****
Proceeds from sale of shares

8

0.0

Acquisition of shares **

8

-0.8

0.0

Other investments ***

8

-4.9

-2.4

-11.8

-3.0

Net cash flow from financing activities
Cash flow from financing activities
Proceeds from exercise of stock options

10

3.4

5.9

Proceeds of share issues, net

10

0.0

0.0

Dividends paid

10

-4.0

-4.0

Purchase of own shares

10

0.0

-16.3

Net cash flow from financing activities

-0.6

-14.4

Net change in cash and cash equivalents

25.9

13.7

Cash and cash equivalents (beginning of period)

102.3

88.6

Cash and cash equivalents *****`******

128.2

102.3

Interest income and interest expenses are included in the profit and loss. Interest paid and interest
received are recognized in the same year that interest income and interest expenses are recognized
in the profit and loss.
*

Changes in unbilled revenue are included in changes in accounts receivables in the statement
of cash flows.

**

On May 14, 2012, Opera Software ASA acquired 100% of the shares and voting interest of the
privately-held company Netview Technology AS, following a payment of MUSD 0.8 for the
shares acquired. Net cash of MUSD 0.0 in Netview Technology at acquisition day has been
netted in acquisitions in the statement of cash flows.

***

In 2012, Opera invested MUSD 2.4 in both 3Q and 4Q in nHorizon Innovation. These investments come in addition to the MUSD 2.4 already invested in 2011. Please see note 8 for more
information.
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****

In 2012, MUSD 1.7 (2011: 0.0) of Opera’s investment in product development was capitalized in
the consolidated statement of financial position.

***** Cash and cash equivalents of MUSD 1.8 were restricted assets as of December 31, 2012, and
and cash and cash equivalents of MUSD 1.5 were restricted assets as of December 31, 2011.
****** As of December 31, 2012, the conversion discrepancy profit booked on cash and cash
equivalents was was MUSD 4.3, and the comparative number as of December 31, 2011,
was MUSD -1.1
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Statement of Changes in Equity

[ Numbers in MUSD ]
Balance as of 12/31/2011

117.9

0.0

-3.1

31.1

118.3

21.0

21.0

Comprehensive income
for the period
Profit for the period
Other comprehensive income
Foreign currency translation
differences

9.3

Total comprehensive income
for the period

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

9.3

9.3

21.0

30.3

Contributions by and
distributions to owners
Dividend to equity holders

-4.0

-4.0

Own shares acquired

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

Own shares sold

1.3

0.0

3.4

3.4

Tax deduction loss own shares

0.7

0.7

Issue expenses

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

3.5

0.1

3.6

0.0

0.0

Tax deduction on equity bookings

0.0

Share-based payment
transactions

3.5

Total contributions by and
distributions to owners

1.3

0.0

0.0

3.5

0.0

0.0

Other equity changes
Other changes

0.0

Total other equity changes
Balance as of 12/31/2012

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

119.2

0.4

77.4

16.1

0.0

6.2

52.2

152.2

Face value of the share
The face value of the shares are NOK 0.02.
Other reserves
Other reserves consists of option costs booked according to the equity settled method and issued shares registered in the
period after the current financial year.
Reserve for own shares
The reserve for the Company’s own shares comprises the face value cost of the Company’s shares held by the Company.
Translation reserve
The translation reserve consists of all foreign currency differences arising from the translation of the financial statements
of foreign operations.
Other equity
Other equity consists of all other transactions, including but not limited to, total recognized income and expense for the current
period and excess value of the Company’s own shares.
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Statement of Changes in Equity (continued)

[ Numbers in MUSD ]
Balance as of 12/31/2010

119.0

0.4

77.4

10.2

0.0

0.0

17.2

105.2

27.4

27.4

Comprehensive income
for the period
Profit for the period
Other comprehensive income
Foreign currency translation
differences
Total comprehensive income
for the period

-3.1

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

-3.1

-3.1

27.4

24.3

-4.0

-4.0

Contributions by and
distributions to owners
Dividend to equity holders
Own shares acquired
Own shares sold

-3.3

0.0

-16.3

-16.3

2.2

0.0

5.8

5.9

0.9

0.9

Tax deduction loss own shares
Issue expenses

0.0

Tax deduction on equity bookings

0.0

Share-based payment
transactions
Total contributions by and
distributions to owners

0.0
2.4

-1.1

0.0

0.0

2.4

2.4

0.0

0.0

-13.5

-11.1

0.0

0.0

Other equity changes
Other changes
Total other equity changes
Balance as of 12/31/2011
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0.0
0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

117.9

0.4

77.4

12.6

0.0

-3.1

31.1

118.3

Note 1 – Accounting Principles
Information about the accounting principles is given in the accompanying note 1 in the consolidated financial statement.

Note 2 – Revenue and Segment Information
The Company’s business activities stem from browser related sales (i.e., revenue generated from Opera´s owned and operated
properties, such as license, search, and advertising revenue).
Opera’s chief operating decision makers are members of the Executive Team. The Executive Team meets regularly to review the
period’s assets, liabilities, revenues, and costs for the Group as a whole, as well as to make decisions about how resources are
to be allocated based on this information.
Members of the Executive Team are specified in note 3 in the consolidated financial statements.
Based on the above, Opera has determined that it has only one segment.

Revenue by region

2012

2011

[ Numbers in MUSD ]
EMEA

67.9

47.2

Americas

61.0

60.8

Asia Pacific
Total

31.9

39.3

160.8

147.4

The geographical revenue breakdown reflects revenues from external customers attributed to the entity’s country of domicile.
Consequently, the revenue breakdown reflects the location of Opera’s customers and partners. Because the products of Opera’s
customers and partners are distributed globally, the breakdown above does not accurately reflect where Opera’s derivative
products are actually used.
In 2012, Opera had sales to two customers that accounted for more than 10% of total Group revenues. FY 2012 revenue from
these two customers, on a combined basis, range between MUSD 65 and MUSD 75 in total. Revenue attributed to customers
domiciled in the United States amounted to MUSD 57.7 (2011: 55.5).
Revenues attributed to Norway for 2012 were MUSD 0.2 (2011: 1.0), and revenues attributed to all foreign countries in total were
MUSD 160.7 (2011: 146.4).
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Note 2 (continued)
Revenue type

2012

2011

Licenses/royalties

67.8

68.0

Development fees

11.2

12.2

6.7

7.5

62.6

52.9

[ Numbers in MUSD ]

Maintenance, support, and hosting
Search
Advertising

9.1

4.1

Application & content

3.0

2.6

Other revenue

0.4

0.2

Total

160.8

147.4

Revenue customer type

2012

2011

[ Numbers in MUSD ]
Operators

41.7

47.3

Mobile OEMs

3.7

12.0

Device OEMs

28.2

27.5

Mobile Consumers

19.4

6.2

Desktop Consumers

67.5

53.8

Other

0.4

0.5

Total

160.8

147.4

Operators: Opera is a trusted partner for operators worldwide. In 2012, the Company offered a co-branded Opera/operatorbranded hosted solution to operators around Opera Mini and Opera Mobile with Turbo. Opera Mini is a hosted solution for massmarket phones that offers server-side content compression and fast internet download speeds. A similar cloud-based content
compression technology is also offered for Opera Mobile for smartphones, packaged for distribution to Operators and OEMs as
Opera Turbo. Opera Mini and Opera Mobile with Turbo offer up to 90% content compression, all increasing an operator’s implied
throughput capacity of its mobile network. Opera’s revenue sources from this hosted solution include active user fees, data fees,
NRE/development fees, hosting services, advertising, and maintenance and support.
Mobile Original Equipment Manufacturers (Mobile OEMs): The Company has focused on Mobile OEMs as a key source of
distribution to drive Opera’s overall mobile internet user base. Opera has been focused not only on the distribution of Opera Mini,
but also on the distribution of Opera Mobile with Turbo, with a particular focus on the Android platform.
Overall, Mobile OEM distribution has become a very important complement to the distribution of Opera’s products on
www.opera.com, with approximately 30% of Opera Mini users coming via this distribution channel.
In addition, Opera has been focused on expanding its distribution partners in this space to include the chipset manufacturers.
Global Device Original Equipment Manufacturers (Device OEMs): As device manufacturers seek to enhance their
relationships with and provide compelling applications and services to their consumers, they are increasingly developing internetconnected devices.
Traditionally, television has been referred to as a “lean-back” medium, where interaction is passive. Today, television
manufacturers are trying to encourage consumers to become more actively engaged with their TV sets, referred to as a “leanforward” model, by providing apps, web browsing, and other digital content on TVs. This has been spurred on not only by the
desire of the TV manufacturers to differentiate, obtain premium pricing for their product offerings, and generate new revenue
streams, but also by the perceived opportunity to bring many of the same services that have been deployed successfully in the
mobile phone ecosystem, such as mobile web browsing and app stores, to their TV consumer customers.
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Mobile Consumers (Opera owned and operated properties): Opera’s tremendous worldwide success with mobile
consumers across all mobile platforms has occurred largely because of Opera Mini. First, Opera Mini is faster than the
competition, due to the up to 90% compression compared to a normal, full web browser. This makes for a much more enjoyable
and efficient browsing experience for consumers. Second, Opera Mini is much cheaper for consumers — i.e., consumers save
up to 90% browsing with Opera Mini compared to competitive products, due to Opera’s unique proxy browsing technology.
Third, Opera works on the vast majority of mobile phones, supporting more than 3,000 different mobile phone models. Fourth,
Opera believes its user interface design and rendering quality is superior to the competition.
Desktop Consumers: Opera’s monetization strategy for its desktop browser revolves predominantly around search. Google
is Opera’s global search partner and provides the majority of desktop monetization. This global partnership is supplemented
by local search partnerships in certain markets, such as Russia, Japan, and China, where Opera works with Yandex, Yahoo!
Japan, and Baidu, respectively. In addition, Opera has signed up e-commerce players such as Amazon (USA, Germany, Japan),
Booking.com (64 countries), and Ozon (Russia) to further enhance ARPU.

Note 3 – Wage Costs/Number of Employees/
Remuneration
Wage cost

2012

2011

32.0

33.9

5.3

4.8

Pension cost

1.6

1.6

Share-based remuneration including social security cost

2.4

1.4

Other payments

2.7

2.0

Consultancy fees for technical development

0.3

0.4

Total

44.3

44.2

Average number of employees

299

313

[ Numbers in MUSD ]
Salaries/bonuses
Social security cost

The company has incorporated the requirements with regards to Obligatorisk Tjeneste Pensjon (OTP).

Remuneration to key management personnel

Information about remuneration to key management personnel is given in the accompanying note 3 in the consolidated financial
statements.
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Note 3 (continued)
Independent auditors

The total fees billed by the independent auditors during 2012 was MUSD 0.3 (2011: 0.4). This is broken down as follows:
Audit fee

2012

2011

Statutory audit

0.2

0.2

Assurance services

0.0

0.0

Tax advisory fee

0.0

0.0

Other services

0.1

0.2

Total

0.3

0.4

[ Numbers in MUSD ]

Other services include services from KPMG Law.

Options

The number and weighted average exercise price of share options are as follows:

Weighted average
exercise price
2012 (NOK)

Number of
options 2012

Weighted average
exercise price
2011 (NOK)

Number
of options
2011

Outstanding at the beginning of the period

21.19

Terminated (employee terminated)

19.59

6,684

19.91

7,450

73

19.59

856

Forfeited during the period
Expired during the period

0.00

0

0.00

0

0.00

0

0.00

0

Exercised during the period

15.05

916

15.05

1,520

Granted during the period

28.09

1,489

28.09

1,610

[In thousands of options]

Outstanding at the end of the period

7,184

6,684

Exercisable at the end of the period

2,033

2,191

Fair value of share options and
assumptions

2012

2011

Fair value at measurement date (average per option)

13.20

10.19

Expected volatility (weighted average)

[Numbers in NOK]

45.00

45.00

Option life (adjusted for expectations of early exercise)

4.52

4.93

Expected dividends

0.00

0.00

Risk-free interest rate (based on national government bonds)

1.33

2.14

Options that have not yet vested shall be adjusted for any dividend paid out during the vesting period.
Additional information pertaining to options is given in the accompanying note 3 of the consolidated financial statements.
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Note 3 (continued)
The table below shows the number of options issued to employees at various strike prices and exercise dates.
Total outstanding options

Vested options

[In thousands of options]
Outstanding
options per
12/31/2012

Weighted average
remaining lifetime

Weighted average
exercise price
(NOK)

Vested options
12/31/2012

Weighted
average exercise
price (NOK)

10.00 - 12.30

90

1.14

11.46

90

11.46

12.30 - 15.00

301

0.74

14.30

301

14.30

15.00 - 20.00

670

2.04

18.48

455

18.41

20.00 - 25.00

2,618

3.71

21.87

975

21.09

25.00 - 30.00

1,917

5.48

27.88

183

27.86

30.00 - 35.00

150

4.17

32.32

30

32.32

35.00 - 40.00

1,438

6.92

37.71

0

0.00

Total

7,184

4.52

26.10

2,033

19.83

Exercise price

Exercise price = strike price

The table below shows the date, number, and achieved selling price of options exercised.
Date of exercise

Number of
exercised options

Achieved selling
price (NOK)

680

35.96

[In thousands of options]
3/8/2012
6/13/2012

73

38.37

9/25/2012

73

35.30

11/2/2012

90

31.14

Note 4 – Other Expenses
Other expenses

2012

2011

[Numbers in MUSD]
Intercompany services

57.5

48.5

Rent and other office expenses

1.9

3.5

Equipment

1.4

1.3

Audit, legal, and other advisory services

2.6

2.8

Marketing expenses

3.7

2.3

Travel expenses

3.1

3.0

Hosting expenses, excl. depreciation cost

0.8

2.5

Other expenses

2.9

2.1

73.9

66.1

Total

Intercompany services				

The company purchases marketing services and technical services from the subsidiaries Hern Labs AB and Opera Software
International AS (which has branches/subsidiaries in Japan, United States, the United Kingdom, Korea, China, Czech Republic,
Poland, Taiwan, Russia, Australia, Iceland, Singapore, and India). The cost is included in intercompany services above.

Research				

Engineering salaries are the primary expense incurred in terms of cost related to source code research, development, and
maintenance. For FY 2012 the engineering salaries, expensed in the financial statement, were MUSD 24.0 (2011: 21.7).
Development costs capitalized in FY 2012 were MUSD 1.7 (2011: 0.0). For additional information, please see notes 7 and 13.

Other investments and deposits

Rental deposits comprise the majority of other non-current investments and deposits.
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Note 5 – F
 inancial Risk
The majority of the financial risk carried by the Group, as a result of its subsidiaries, relates to foreign exchange fluctuations. Both
sales and purchases are exposed to currency risk.
Most of the Company’s foreign exchange risk relates to sales and is the result of revenue contracts signed in USD and EUR. For
FY 2012, approximately 29% (2011: 49%) of revenues were in EUR and 67% (2011: 48%) in USD.
For FY 2012, Opera had a foreign exchange loss of MUSD 6.0. MUSD 5.2 of the foreign exchange loss was realized, and MUSD
0.8 was net unrealized foreign exchange loss. Opera has not entered into any foreign exchange contracts as of December 31,
2012.
For FY 2011, Opera had a foreign exchange gain of MUSD 1.6. MUSD 1.5 of the foreign exchange gain was realized, and MUSD
0.2 was net unrealized foreign exchange gain. Opera has not entered into any foreign exchange contracts as of December 31,
2011.

Currency risk
As the majority of Opera Software’s income is earned in USD and EUR, changes in exchange rates have an immediate effect on
the Company’s revenue.
2012

2011

MUSD

%

MUSD

%

[Numbers in MUSD]
NOK

0.2

0.14

0.2

0.15

USD

107.6

66.88

71.1

48.26

GBP

0.1

0.08

0.1

0.06

JPY

0.8

0.52

0.8

0.51

CAD

0.0

0.01

0.0

0.01

ZAR

0.0

0.00

0.0

0.02

PLN

0.1

0.05

0.0

0.02

CNY

2.6

1.61

0.3

0.19

BYR

1.8

1.12

1.7

1.14

SEK

0.0

0.02

0.1

0.05

EUR

47.3

29.39

73.1

49.58

SGD

0.1

0.05

0.0

0.00

AUD

0.2

0.15

0.0

0.00

160.8

100.00

147.4

100.00

Total

Conversion of the Company’s revenues from foreign currencies into USD yields the following average exchange rates:
2012

2011

NOK

0.1729

0.1793

GBP

1.5900

1.5927

JPY

0.0124

0.0126

CAD

1.0015

1.0035

ZAR

0.1414

PLN

0.3106

CNY

0.1585

0.1617

BYR

0.0001

0.0002

SEK

0.1515

EUR

1.2932

SGD

0.8008

AUD

1.0457
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0.3529

1.3969

Note 5 (continued)
A 10% increase in the average exchange rate would have the following positive effect on the Company’s revenue (MUSD):
2012

2011

NOK

10.8

7.1

GBP

0.0

0.0

JPY

0.1

0.1

CAD

0.0

0.0

ZAR

0.0

0.0

PLN

0.0

0.0

CNY

0.3

0.0

BYR

0.2

0.2

SEK

0.0

0.0

EUR

4.7

7.3

SGD

0.0

0.0

AUD

0.0

0.0

Conversely, a 10% decrease in the average exchange rate would have a similar negative effect on the Company’s revenue as
shown above (MUSD).			
Accounts receivable as of December 31, 2012, are converted using the following exchange rates: EUR 1.3204, JPY 0.0116, GBP
1.6188, PLN 0.3237, and CNY 0.1585

The receivables as of December 31 are distributed as follows:
2012

2011

USD

7.0

3.8

EUR

8.9

5.1

JPY

3.5

2.5

NOK

0.1

1.7

GBP

0.0

0.0

PLN

0.1

0.0

CAD

0.0

0.0

SEK

0.2

0.0

KRW

0.0

0.0

AUD

0.0

0.0

CNY

2.9

0.0

ISK

0.0

0.0

INR

1.3

0.0

UAH

0.0

0.0

The numbers above are presented in local currencies.

Credit risk

Opera conducts most of its business with large global companies. Throughout last year, the Company conducted business
with a number of its customers without suffering significant credit-related losses.
The customers have not committed any collateral or other means to secure their outstanding debt.

Credit risk regarding accounts receivable may be specified per region as follows (MUSD):

EMEA
Americas

2012

2011

4.3

5.7

5.1

4.7

Asia Pacific

10.0

1.9

Total

19.4

12.3
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Note 5 (continued)
Accounts receivable, as of December 31, by age, are as follows (MUSD):
2012
Gross receivables

2011
Provision
for bad debt

Gross receivables

Provision
for bad debt

Not past due

7.3

0.0

6.0

0.0

Past due 0-30 days

6.9

0.2

1.5

0.0

Past due 31-60 days

1.0

0.1

1.3

0.3

Past due 61-90 days

2.0

0.1

0.4

0.1

More than 90 days

2.2

1.8

3.1

1.2

19.4

2.3

12.3

1.6

Total

The majority of the 2012 receivables that are more than 90 days outstanding have been paid in 2013 or booked against deferred
income in the Statement of Financial Position.			

Changes in the provision for bad debt may be specified as follows (MUSD):
2012

2011

Provision as of January 1

1.6

1.4

Change in the provision for bad debt recognized in
the Statement of Comprehensive Income

0.6

0.2

Change in the provision for bad debt not recognized in
the Statement of Comprehensive Income*

0.0

0.0

Change in the provision for bad debt not recognized in
the Statement of Comprehensive Income **

0.1

0.0

Provision as of December 31

2.3

1.6

Realized losses, recognized directly in the Statement of Comprehensive Income

0.2

0.1

Received from previously written-down bad debts

0.0

0.2

*
**

Booked against deferred income in the Statement of Financial Position
Previously written-down bad debts taken out of accounts receivable

Interest risk and cash unit trust
As of December 31, 2012, the Company was invested in one money market fund. The Company’s money market fund is booked
at fair value of MUSD 14.3 (2011: 30.7) and is included in cash and cash equivalents, since the money can be redeemed from the
fund at will. Risk of loss does exist on the redemption of units occurring after December 31, 2012. 				
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Note 5 (continued)
Liquidity risk

During FY 2012 and FY 2011, the Company had no exposure to financial risk, since the Group did not use forward exchange
contracts to hedge its currency risk, and Opera had not entered into any foreign exchange contracts as of December 31, 2012.
As of December 31, 2012, Opera had no current funding requirements, no interest-bearing debt and the cash balance was
MUSD 128.2 (2011: 102.3).
Deferred revenue consists of prepaid license/royalty payments, prepaid maintenance and support, and prepaid development
fees. Of the Company’s total current liabilities, MUSD 9.4 (2011: 13.7) relates to deferred revenue, and MUSD 8.9 (2011: 10.6)
relates to deferred revenue that has no future cash payments.
Foreign exchange forward contracts
As of December 31, 2012, and as of December 31, 2011, Opera had not entered into or structured forward contracts or ordinary
forward contracts for USD or EUR.

Capital management

In order to achieve the Company`s ambitious, long-term objectives, the policy has been to maintain a high equity-to-asset
ratio and to maintain a solid capital base so as to maintain investor, creditor, and market confidence and to sustain future
development of the business. The Company still possesses a business model that anticipates considerable cash flow in the
future.
The Company has issued options to its employees in accordance with its objective that employees shall hold company shares.
The Board of Directors has as of December 31, 2012, used its authorization to buy the Company’s own shares. Please see note
9 to the consolidated financial statements for more information.
Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries are subject to externally imposed capital requirements.
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Note 6 – T
 ax
Current tax

2012

2011

[Numbers in MUSD]
Profit before income tax

30.3

38.3

Permanent differences in profit and loss

0.3

-1.7

Tax deductible issue cost booked against equity

0.0

0.0

Taxes paid abroad

0.0

0.0

Changes in temporary differences

3.5

-1.9

Use of taxable loss carried forward

0.0

0.0

34.0

34.7

Basis for current tax

Tax 28%
Tax losses paid abroad carried forward
Current tax

9.5

9.7

-2.8

-6.8

6.7

2.9

2012

2011

* Including tax effect from equity bookings of MUSD 0.7.

Tax expense
[Numbers in MUSD]
Current tax

7.6

3.6

Deferred tax – gross changes

-1.0

3.5

Taxes on capital raising costs

0.0

0.0

Tax effect on losses from sales of own shares

0.0

0.0

Tax payable abroad

2.9

3.8

-0.1

0.0

9.3

10.9

2012

2011

Too much/little tax booked previous year
Total

Tax payable:
[Numbers in MUSD]
Current tax

7.6

3.6

Tax payable abroad

2.9

3.8

Too much/little tax booked previous year

0.2

0.0

Taxes on capital raising costs

0.0

0.0

Withholding tax paid to a foreign country

-2.9

-3.8

Tax effect on losses from sales of own shares*

-0.7

-0.9

Withholding tax utilized

0.0

0.0

Total

7.0

2.8

2012

2011

Prepaid tax

0.0

0.0

Withholding tax paid to a foreign country

0.0

0.0

Sum other receivables

0.0

0.0

*Booked against equity.

Specification of prepaid tax:
[Numbers in MUSD]
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Note 6 (continued)
Recognized deferred tax assets and liabilities

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are attributable to the following:
Assets
2012

Liabilities
2011

2012

Net
2011

2012

2011

[Numbers in MUDS]
Inventory, office machinery, etc.

-0.9

-0.1

0.0

0.0

-0.9

-0.1

Accounts receivables

-0.6

-0.4

0.0

0.0

-0.6

-0.4

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

Derivatives
Other liabilities

-1.4

-0.6

0.0

0.0

-1.4

-0.6

Tax value of loss carry-forwards utilized

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

Withholding tax paid to a foreign
country carried forward

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

-3.0

-1.2

0.0

0.0

-3.0

-1.2

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

-3.0

-1.2

0.0

0.0

-3.0

-1.2

Deferred taxes/ (tax assets)
Set off of tax
Net deferred taxes / (tax assets)

Deferred tax assets and liabilities

Movement in temporary differences during the year.

Balance
1/1/11

Posted
to P/L

Posted
directly to
the equity

Balance
12/31/11

[Numbers in MUDS]
Inventory, office machinery, etc.

0.1

-0.2

0.0

-0.1

Accounts receivables

-0.4

0.0

0.0

-0.4

Liabilities

-1.4

0.8

0.0

-0.6

Tax value of loss carry-forwards utilized

-3.0

3.0

0.0

0.0

Deferred taxes / (tax assets)

-4.7

3.5

0.0

-1.2

Balance
1/1/12

Posted to
P/L

Posted
directly to
the equity

Balance
12/31/12

[Numbers in MUDS]
Inventory, office machinery, etc.

-0.1

-0.8

0.0

-0.9

Accounts receivables

-0.4

-0.2

0.0

-0.6

Liabilities

-0.6

-0.8

0.0

-1.4

Tax value of loss carry-forwards utilized

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

Deferred taxes / (tax assets)

-1.2

-1.8

0.0

-3.0

It is the Company’s opinion that deferred tax assets can be substantiated in the future. The Company’s opinion is based on
expected and estimated future income.
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Note 6 (continued)
Change in deferred tax asset directly posted against the equity capital

2012

2011

Capital raising costs and losses from sales of own shares

0.0

0.0

Total deferred taxes posted directly against the equity

0.0

0.0

[ Numbers in MUSD ]

Reconciliation of effective tax rate

2012

2011

[ Numbers in MUSD ]
Profit before tax
Income tax using the domestic corporate tax rate

30.3
28.0%

38.3

8.5

28.0%

10.7
0.0

Overbooked taxes, previous year

2.3%

0.7

0.0%

Tax paid to a foreign country

0.0%

0.0

0.0%

0.0

Taxes on other permanent differences

0.4%

0.1

0.4%

0.2

30.7%

9.3

28.4%

10.9

Total tax expense for the year

Permanent differences

Permanent differences include non-deductable costs and share-based remuneration.
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Note 7 – Property, Plant, and Equipment
Cost
rented
premises

Machinery
and
equipment

Fixtures
and
fittings

Development

Other
intangible
assets

2012
Total

2011
Total

11.3

[Numbers in MUSD]
Acquisition cost
Acquisition cost as of 1/1/12

2.6

7.1

0.7

0.0

0.0

10.4

Acquisitions

0.6

2.0

0.7

1.7

1.8

6.9

4.7

-2.7

-0.8

-0.7

0.0

0.0

-4.2

-5.6

Currency differences

0.0

0.4

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.4

0.0

Acquisition cost as of
12/31/12

0.5

8.7

0.8

1.7

1.8

13.5

10.4

Disposal

Depreciation
Depreciation as of 1/1/12

2.2

4.5

0.5

0.0

0.0

7.2

6.3

-2.4

0.0

-0.6

0.0

0.0

-3.0

-1.5

Currency differences

0.0

0.2

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.3

0.0

Accumulated depreciation
as of 12/31/12

0.0

6.4

0.1

0.0

0.4

6.8

7.3

Net book value as of
12/31/12

0.5

2.3

0.7

1.7

1.5

6.7

3.1

Depreciation for the year

0.1

1.7

0.1

0.0

0.4

2.2

2.2

0.0

0.3

Disposal

Impairment losses for the
year (see note 12)
Useful life
Depreciation plan

Up to 5
years

Up to 5
years

Up to 5
years

Up to 4
years

Up to 5
years

Linear

Linear

Linear

Linear

Linear

Operating leases
In 2012, the Company entered into a new lease for the rental of its Norwegian offices at Gjerdrums vei 19. The new
lease will run through November 2019. The lease agreement, according to IAS 17, is considered an operating lease.		
		
2012

2011

[Numbers in MUSD]
Leasing costs expensed
Duration of the lease contract

1.9

2.0

11/30/2019

3/31/2016

2012

2011

Non-terminable operating leases due in:
Less than one year

1.3

2.1

Between one to five years

5.1

6.8

More than five years

2.5

0.0

Total

8.9

8.9
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Note 8 – Investments in Subsidiaries and
Other Shares
The shares in the subsidiaries are booked at the cost of acquisition.

Hern Labs AB

Opera Software
International AS

Opera
Distribution AS

Netview
Technology AS

Date of purchase

12/13/2000

1/5/2005

12/16/2008

5/14/2012

Registered office

Linköping,
Sweden

Oslo, Norway

Oslo, Norway

Oslo, Norway

Ownership interest

100%

100%

100%

100%

Proportion of votes

100%

100%

100%

100%

0.3

0.8

Subsidiaries
[Numbers in MUSD]
Formal information

Information related to the date of purchase (in the year of purchase)
Purchase cost

1.3

0.2

Group contribution

0.4

On May 14, 2012, Opera Software ASA acquired 100% of the shares and voting interest of the privately-held company Netview
Technology AS, following a payment of MUSD 0.8 for the shares acquired.
Opera Software ASA’s financial statements are available at the Company’s headquarters located at Gjerdrums vei 19 in Oslo,
Norway.

Booked value

2012

2011

[Numbers in MUSD]
Purchase price

2.6

1.8

-0.3

-0.3

Group contribution

0.5

0.5

Options issued*

4.3

3.4

FX adjustment

0.1

-0.5

Total

7.3

4.9

Impairment

* Options issued by the Company on behalf of employees in the subsidiaries.

Associated companies
nHorizon Innovation (Beijing) Software Ltd

In 1Q 2011, Opera and China’s Telling Telecom announced that they planned to establish a company in greater China with the
goal of becoming the most popular consumer mobile web browser and web services platform in China. Opera will provide
its browser technology, and Telling Telecom will contribute a local operations team and strong distribution capabilities. Telling
Telecom is a leading mobile phone distributor in China.
nHorizon Innovation (Beijing) Software Ltd was co-founded by Opera Software ASA and Telling Telecom in August 2011.
nHorizon is committed to developing and marketing the Oupeng mobile browser, providing users with a simple, fast, and smooth
mobile internet experience and to helping people enjoy a comfortable mobile internet life. For more information, please visit
www.oupeng.com.
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Note 8 (continued)

The focus of the company will be on the massive consumer mobile internet market and revenue opportunity in China. Opera
China will continue to target the operator, mobile OEM, device OEM, and desktop markets independent from the company.

Information regarding nHorizon Innovation

nHorizon Innovation had the following numbers as of December 31, 2012:
2012

2011

[Numbers in MUSD]
Revenue

2.0

0.1

EBIT

-18.4

-2.7

Net profit

-18.5

-2.7

Assets

0.9

9.8

Short term liabilities

6.2

1.9

Equity

0.7

7.9

Investment in associate

The investments in nHorizon Innovation are accounted for using the equity method. In 2012, Opera invested MUSD 2.4 in both
3Q and 4Q. These investments come in addition to the MUSD 2.4 already invested in 2011. In addition, Opera is guaranteed a
minimum amount of revenue from the company corresponding to Opera’s initial capital contribution over the three-year period
starting from the establishment of the company.
As of December 31, 2012, Opera owned 25% of nHorizon Innovation, and Opera has booked the following fair value on the
accounting line “Other investments and deposits”:

Booked value

2012

2011

Investment (Booked value January 1)

2.4

0.0

Investment during the fiscal year

4.8

2.4

FX adjustment

0.2

-0.2

Total

7.3

2.2

[Numbers in MUSD]

Other shares

Opera Software ASA owns 20% of the European Center for Information and Communication Technologies — EICT GmbH.
The booked value of the share is USD 0.1. The market value of the company is unknown. The EICT is a public/private partnership
of scientific institutions, institutes of applied research and leading industrial companies. The strategic innovation partnership
pools and specifically links research and development activities in industry and science to information and communication
technologies. For more information about EICT, please see the website at www.eict.de.
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Note 9 – O
 utstanding Accounts Between
Companies Within the Same Group
Other receivables (non-current)

Accounts receivables

Other receivables (current)

12/31/2012

12/31/2011

12/31/2012

12/31/2011

12/31/2012

12/31/2011

Entity within group

8.7

8.4

0.1

0.3

0.0

0.5

Sum

8.7

8.4

0.1

0.3

0.0

0.5

[Numbers in MUSD]

Accounts
payable

Other short-term
liabilities

12/31/2012

12/31/2011

12/31/2012

12/31/2011

Entity within group

10.9

4.3

0.0

0.0

Sum

10.9

4.3

0.0

0.0

[Numbers in MUSD]

All outstanding balances with the related parties are priced on an arm’s-length basis and are to be settled in cash within five years of the
reporting date. None of the balances are secured. The balances outstanding are specified as follows:

Balance outstanding

12/31/2012

12/31/2011

Opera Software Poland Sp. z o.o

3.4

1.6

Opera Software Australia PTY LTD

1.9

1.0

Opera Software Iceland ehf

1.7

4.1

Opera Software Technology (Beijing) Co., Ltd.

0.2

-0.3

Opera Software International AS Oddzial w Polsce

0.0

0.0

Opera Software International AS, US branch

0.0

0.0

Mobile Theory, Inc.

0.0

0.0

4th Screen Advertising Limited

0.0

0.0

Beijing Yuege Software Technology Service Co.,Ltd.

0.0

0.0

Opera Software Singapore PTE. LTD

-0.1

0.0

Opera Software Korea Ltd

-0.1

0.0

Opera Software India Private Limited

-0.1

0.0

LLC Opera Software Ukraine

-0.1

0.0

Opera Software, LLC

-0.1

-0.1

AdMarvel, Inc

-0.4

0.0

Netview Technology AS

-0.9

0.0

Opera Software International AS

-2.9

0.8

Hern Labs AB

-4.7

-2.2

2012

2011

[Numbers in MUSD]

[Numbers in MUSD]
Interest income from related parties

2.1

1.0

Interest expense from related parties

0.0

0.0
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Note 10 – Shareholder information
Free equity
The company had free equity of MUSD 65.2 as of December 31, 2012. The comparative number as of December 31, 2011,
was MUSD 40.5.
More shareholder information is given in the accompanying note 9 to the consolidated financial statements. 			

Note 11 – Accounts Receivables, Other
Receivables, Accounts Payables, Other
Payables, and Provisions
Financial assets and liabilities mainly comprise short-term items (non-interest-bearing). Based on this assessment, management
does not consider the Company to have financial assets or liabilities with potentially significant differences between net book
value and fair value.

Note 12 – Costs for Restructuring the Business
During 4Q 2012, the Company recorded restructuring charges related to its strategic cost reduction program, which will better
align costs with revenues, as well as an office restructuring cost reduction of MUSD 0.2.
During 2Q 2012, Opera Software ASA recorded restructuring charges related to a strategic cost reduction that will better align
costs with revenues and legal fees related to business combinations. Opera Software ASA has in 2Q 2012 signed a new office
lease agreement in Nydalen and a sub-lease agreement for the current real-estate building on Waldemar Thranes gate in Oslo,
Norway. The sub-lease agreement is signed with NAV and is effective from August 1, 2012, to March 31, 2016. The total booked
cost in 2Q for moving the office to Nydalen has been MUSD 3.1. The cost includes costs related to loss on contracts, broker
fees, lawyer fees, moving costs, VAT costs, impairment costs, and other fees. In addition, Opera incurred severance costs of
MUSD 0.2 and legal fees related to business combinations of MUSD 0.1.
During 1Q 2012, Opera Software ASA recorded legal fees related to business combinations of MUSD 0.7.
During 2011, Opera Software ASA recorded a one-time restructuring charge related to a strategic cost reduction that will better
align costs with revenues, legal fees related to business combinations, termination cost for switching to a new hosting provider
and impairment costs for our hosting servers. Opera has currently changed the hosting business strategy, and we are now
looking for hosting providers that are a better fit to our future hosting strategy. For this purpose, we have booked an estimated
termination cost related to moving part of our hosting servers to a new hosting provider. We will also start selling our servers
after 3 years, and for a higher sales price, compared to our current strategy of selling our servers after 4 years. The difference
between the reassessed fair value, less costs to sell (based on the new strategy) and the current fair value, has been booked as
an impairment cost.
Costs for restructuring the business

2012

2011

[Numbers in MUDS]
Salary restructuring cost

3.9

0.6

Option restructuring cost

0.0

-0.7

Office restructuring cost

2.3

0.0

Termination cost — hosting center

0.0

0.1

Impairment cost

0.0

0.3

Legal fees related to business combinations

1.0

0.2

Total

7.3

0.5

* As of December 31, 2012, MUSD 4.1 was not paid and was booked as other short-term liabilities in the statement of
financial position. The comparative number as of December 31, 2011, was 0.3.
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Note 13 – A
 ccounting Estimates and Judgments
Management has evaluated the development, selection, and disclosure of the Company’s critical accounting policies and
estimates and the application of these policies and estimates.
The preparation of financial statements in accordance with IFRS requires the use of estimates and assumptions that affect the
reported amounts of assets and liabilities, the disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the financial statements,
and the reported amounts of revenues and expenses during the reporting periods. The estimates and associated assumptions
are based on historical experience and various other factors that are believed to be reasonable under the circumstances,
the result of which form the basis for making the judgments about carrying values of assets and liabilities that are not readily
apparent from other sources. Actual results may differ from these estimates. The estimates and underlying assumptions are
reviewed on an ongoing basis. Changes in accounting estimates are recognized in the period in which the estimate is revised,
if the revision affects only that period, or in the period of the revision and future periods if the revision affects both current and
future periods.
Key sources of estimation uncertainty
Based on signed contracts with large, established market participants, Opera develops and adjusts the Opera browser so that
it is compatible with mobile phones, game consoles, and many other devices. The adjustments and modifications are carried
out continuously over time. Hence, income and costs are booked in accordance with the percentage of completion method.
Estimation of the degree of completion is based on the best estimate. Management’s choice of estimates for the degree of
completion will have a considerable effect on booked income.
The Company has, in note 5, given a detailed analysis of the currency risk and risk related to changes in the foreign exchange
rates.
The Company has established an option program for its employees. The options are booked in accordance with IFRS 2. The
option costs are estimated on the basis of various assumptions, such as volatility, interest level, dividend, and an assumption of
how many will exercise their options, as well as other factors. The chosen assumptions can have a significant impact on the size
of the option costs. The assumptions are given in note 3.
Critical accounting judgments in applying the Company’s accounting policies
The Company has considered its activities related to technological development in terms of the requirements in IAS 38. The
Company develops specially designed browsers for use in its customers’ products. The reason the Company has entered into
contracts with customers, committing the Company to develop a custom-made browser for a settled fee, is that the fee received
is meant to cover Opera’s expenses related to this specific technological development. These projects are booked in accordance
with the percentage of completion method, which states that related income and expenses should be booked in the same
period.
Cost of building new features, together with significant and pervasive improvements of the core platform, provided that the
significant and pervasive improvements of parts or main components of the core platform will generate probable future
economic benefits, are capitalized as development costs and amortized on a straight-line 3-year basis. These costs were not
capitalized in FY 2011, as Opera has from FY 2012 enhanced the internal reporting and bookkeeping systems. Please refer to
notes 4 and 7 for additional information.
The Company’s desktop and mobile browsers share one core code, with its TV and mini browsers sharing another core.
This means core updates performed by our engineering department affect multiple products. Engineering also makes
some product-specific changes, but the core functionality is the same for those in the same core family. A significant portion
of the work that engineering performs (beyond specifically designed browsers) is related to the implementation of the ongoing
updates that are required to maintain the browser’s functionality. Examples of updates include “bug fixes”, updates made to
comply with changes in laws and regulations, and updates made to keep pace with the latest web trends. These costs are
expensed as maintenance costs.
In some contracts, Opera receives a fee that covers development and a guaranteed number of licenses, as well as main-tenance
in the subsequent period. The elements in the different contracts are assessed in accordance with the best estimate of true value
and booked as the elements are delivered. If the elements can not be separated, all income is booked in aggregate,
in accordance with the percentage of completion method.
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Note 14 – Related Parties
In FY 2012, except for Opera Software ASA’s transactions with Hern Labs AB, Opera Software International AS, Opera Distribution
AS, Netview Technology AS, and Opera Software Poland Sp. z o.o, Opera Software ASA did not engage in any related party
transactions, including with any members of the Board of Directors or the Executive Team. Please refer to notes 3, 4, 8, and 9 for
additional information. The transactions with the subsidiaries are based on a model where the parent company covers the cost
plus a margin. The margins are based on the arm’s-length principle.
Transactions with key management personnel
Members of the Board of Directors and the Executive Team of the Company and their immediate relatives controlled 10.4% of the
Company’s voting share as per December 31, 2012. The Company has not provided any loans to directors or Executive Team
members as of December 31, 2012.
Executive Team members also participate in the Company’s stock option program (see note 3 in the consolidated financial
statements).
Compensation for Executive Team members can be found in note 3 to the consolidated financial statements.

Note 15 – Earnings per Share
Earning per share

2012

2011

[Numbers in USD]
Earnings per share (basic)

0.177

0.231

Earnings per share, fully diluted

0.173

0.227

Shares used in earnings per share calculation

118,782,269

118,914,427

Shares used in earnings per share calculation, fully diluted

121,173,334

120,780,112

Earnings per share is calculated by dividing the profit attributable to equity holders of the Company by the weighted ordinary
shares in issue during the period.
The average stock exchange price for 2012 is used when calculating the options that are “in the money” and when calculating
the fully diluted number of shares. The options have varying exercise prices and would, upon exercise, mean payment to the
Company of MNOK 177.6. In relation to the accounting standard regarding earnings per share, the effect of these funds being
used by the Company to purchase shares in the market should be considered when calculating the fully diluted number of
shares outstanding. Opera has included options with a strike price below NOK 35.92 when calculating the fully diluted number of
shares outstanding. Total options used in the calculations are 7,758,356, of which 5,548,256 options are unvested and 2,210,100
are vested but not yet exercised.

2012

2011

118,782,269

118,914,427

Options

7,758,356

9,241,631

Total

7,758,356

9,241,631

[Numbers in NOK]
Average number of shares
The following equity instruments have a diluting effect:

Options

7,758,356

9,241,631

Number of shares purchased (MNOK 177.6/35.92)

4,945,339

7,046,708

Number of shares with diluting effect

2,813,017

2,194,923

Expected options to be exercised

2,391,065

1,865,684
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Note 16 – S
 ubsequent Events
Skyfire Labs, Inc.

On March 14, 2013, Opera Software ASA acquired 100% of the shares and voting interest of the privately-held company Skyfire
Labs, Inc., a leader in mobile video optimization and cloud solutions for mobility. Opera believes Skyfire adds capabilities to our
portfolio around video, app optimization, smartphones and tablets, and strength in North America, and we are excited to extend
Opera’s solutions for operators.
Skyfire, headquartered in Mountain View, California, is known for its Rocket Optimizer software. This allows mobile operators to
leverage cloud computing to optimize virtually any video and other multimedia on crowded cell towers, including 3G and 4G LTE
networks. Rocket Optimizer on average provides mobile networks a significant boost in capacity by reducing the size of video
and other multimedia content as needed to fit the available bandwidth. Skyfire can detect when specific users are facing poor
quality of experience or connections that need assistance, and intervenes in milliseconds. This can minimize the long start times,
rebuffering, and stalls on video and audio streams that frustrate mobile users around the world. The approach aligns with the
trend toward SDN (software-defined networking) and NFV (network function virtualization) among telecommunications operators,
thanks to its elastic and virtualization-friendly cloud architecture.
Skyfire also offers Skyfire Horizon, a mobile browser extension and toolbar platform that allows users to personalize their
smartphone browsers and operators to gain new monetization opportunities.
The acquisition price includes a mix of cash and stock, with an upfront consideration of MUSD 50 (including MUSD 8 of cash on
the Skyfire balance sheet) and performance-based earnout payments over three years, including MUS 26 in cash held in escrow
and funded upfront, that can bring the total deal size to MUSD 155.
The acquisition enables Opera to: (i) broaden its value proposition to U.S.-based mobile advertisers and publishers by providing
demand-side advertising services and (ii) bring in-house mobile advertising capabilities that will help better monetize Opera’s
own properties and traffic that is generated by Opera’s vast user base.

Identifiable assets acquired and liabilities assumed
[Numbers in MUSD]
Other intangible assets

4.2

Property, plant, and equipment

0.4

Accounts receivable*

0.5

Other receivables

0.1

Cash and cash equivalents

8.2

Accounts payable

-0.1

Social security, VAT, and other taxation payable

-0.3

Deferred revenue

-5.1

Other short-term liabilities

-2.7

Other long-term liabilities

-1.6

Non-current provisions

-3,3

Total net identifiable assets

0.3

Cash consideration

-49.7

Contingent consideration

-40.5

Excess value

-89.9

Related customer relationships
Proprietary technology
Non-compete

3.6
19.4
0.4

Deferred tax on excess values

-9.2

Goodwill

75.7

* No provision for bad debt
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The assets and liabilities that were recognized by Skyfire Labs immediately before the business combination equaled the
carrying amount recognized by the Group on the acquisition date. In addition, the Group booked the excess price of the fair
value of the total identifiable assets as related customer relationships, proprietary technology, deferred tax on excess values and
goodwill, since the excess price has been deemed to be related to these intangible assets. The substantial amount of goodwill in
the acquisition of Skyfire Labs can be attributed to the synergies that exist between the two companies, as well as the qualified
Skyfire Labs workforce.
Opera calculated the fair value on the acquisition date and booked a contingent consideration of MUSD 40.5 in the financial
statements.
The value of the related customer relationships and the proprietary technology are depreciated over a 6-year period.
The fair value of the net identifiable assets has not been calculated by an external company. Opera has treated the entire
contingent consideration as consideration for the purchase of the business and no part as remuneration. The evaluation is based
on the indicators outlined in IFRS 3.

Credit facility

Opera Software has, in 2013, signed a MUSD 100 secured revolving credit facility with DNB Bank ASA. The facility will primarily
be secured through a share pledge in Opera Software International AS, as well as floating charges over accounts receivable in
Opera Software ASA and certain of its U.K. and U.S. subsidiaries. The facility has a term of 3 years and bears an interest rate of
LIBOR +1.75% p.a. (plus a utilization fee varying with the amount drawn). On the undrawn portion of the facility, a commitment fee
of 0.61% p.a. will be paid. Opera Software intends to use the financing for general corporate purposes and potential acquisitions.
No subsequent events have occurred after the reporting date that would require the consolidated financial statements to be
adjusted.
For announcements of new contracts, please see announcements published on the Oslo Stock Exchange website
(www.oslobors.no).
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Declaration of Executive
Compensation Policies
The Board of Directors has, in accordance with the Public Limited
Liability Companies Act § 6-16a, developed policies regarding
compensation of the Executive Team.
The objectives of the Executive Team compensation program are, in particular, to (i) attract, motivate, retain and
reward the individuals on the Executive Team and (ii) ensure
alignment of the Executive Team with the long-term interests of the shareholders. The Company’s executive compensation program is intended to be performance driven and
is designed to reward the Executive Team for both reaching
key financial goals and strategic business objectives and
enhancing shareholder value.
The most important components of Executive Team
compensation are as follows: (i) base salary; (ii) cash incentive bonus; (iii) long-term equity-based incentives.

Components of Executive Compensation
Base Salary

Base salary is typically the primary component of Executive Team compensation and reflects the overall contribution of the executive to the Company. The determination of
base salaries for the executives considers a range of factors,
including: (i) job scope and responsibilities; (ii) competitive
pay practices; (iii) background, training, and experience of
the executive; and (iv) past performance of the executive
at the Company. Adjustments to base salary are ordinarily
reviewed every 12 months or longer by the Board.

Cash Incentive Bonus

The Company uses a cash incentive bonus to focus the
Executive team members on, and reward the Executive Team
members for, achieving key corporate objectives, which typically involve a fiscal-year performance period. A key driver
of cash incentive bonuses for the Executive Team is typically corporate financial and operational performance. Cash
incentive bonuses tied to strategic business objectives,
which may be individual to or shared among the Executive
Team members, may also be considered as part of the cash
incentive bonus. The determination of the total bonus that
can be potentially earned by an executive in a given year is
based on, among other factors, the executive’s current and
expected contributions to the Company’s performance, his
or her position within the Opera Executive Team, and competitive compensation practices. Any cash incentive bonus
is capped, so no member of the Executive Team can be
awarded more than 200% of his or her cash incentive bonus.
In April 2012, the Board approved the Executive Compensation Plan for FY 2012. The cash incentive bonus is divided
into two components: Corporate Results (as defined above)
and Strategic Business Objectives. For the Corporate
Results component, 50% is tied to meeting the FY 2012

Revenue Target for the Company and 50% to meeting the
FY 2012 EBIT Target for the Company. Based on the FY
2012 Executive Compensation Plan, there are no interim,
intra-year payments, no bonus based on Corporate Results
is paid or earned for attainment below 80% achievement,
and the Company must meet at least 80% of the FY 2012
EBIT Target Component to award any bonus associated with
the FY 2012 Revenue Target. Provided attainment is above
80% for both Revenues and EBIT, the bonus is calculated as
follows: From 80%-100%, bonus percentage achievement
is interpolated based on a 30% bonus at 80% achievement
and a 100% bonus at 100% achievement, and from 100%+
achievement, bonus percentage achievement is interpolated based on a 100% bonus at 100% achievement and a
200% bonus at 110% achievement on Revenue and at 110%
achievement on EBIT. Total bonuses paid for the fiscal year
for Corporate Results under the plan shall not exceed 200%
of the bonus opportunity for each Corporate Result component for any one individual.
For the Strategic Business Objectives component, individual
bonus targets have been approved by the Board of Directors
for certain members of the Executive Team. These individual
bonus targets have been designed to align individual performance within each executive’s area of responsibility with the
annual and long-term objectives of the Company and constitute up to 50% of the executive’s cash incentive bonus for FY
2012 depending on the executive. Total bonuses paid based
on Strategic Business Objectives shall not exceed 100% for
each objective.
Notwithstanding the foregoing, in its discretion, the Board
also has the authority to approve a payment of up to 50% of
an executive’s bonus opportunity to an individual(s) without
regard to the performance criteria set forth in the plan.
In April 2013, the Board approved the Executive Compensation Plan for FY 2013. The cash incentive bonus is divided
into two components: Corporate Results (as defined above)
and Strategic Business Objectives. For the Corporate
Results component, 50% is tied to meeting the FY 2013
Revenue Target for the Company and 50% to meeting the FY
2013 Reported Adjusted EBITDA (including extraordinary
one-time costs) Target for the Company. Based on the FY
2013 Executive Compensation Plan, there are no interim,
intra-year payments, no bonus based on Corporate Results
is paid or earned for attainment below 80% achievement,
and the Company must meet at least 80% of the FY 2013
Reported Adjusted EBITDA (including extraordinary onetime costs) Target Component to award any bonus associated with the FY 2013 Revenue Target. Provided attainment
is above 80% for both Revenues and Reported Adjusted
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EBITDA (including extraordinary one-time costs), the bonus
is calculated as follows: from 80%-100%, bonus percentage
achievement is interpolated based on a 30% bonus at 80%
achievement and a 100% bonus at 100% achievement, and
from 100%+ achievement, bonus percentage achievement
is interpolated based on a 100% bonus at 100% achievement and a 200% bonus at 110% achievement on Revenue
and at 110% achievement on Reported Adjusted EBITDA
(including extraordinary one-time costs). Total bonuses
paid for the fiscal year for Corporate Results under the plan
shall not exceed 200% of the bonus opportunity for each
Corporate Result component for any one individual.

Long-Term, Equity-Based Incentives

The Board of Directors believes that stock options are excellent long-term incentives for the Executive Team members,
aligning the interests of the executives to the shareholders
of the Company and assisting in the retention of Executive
Team members.
Subject to the Board of Directors’ assessment and decision at its discretion, initial stock option grants are typically
granted to Executive Team members when they start and
annually thereafter. The number of options granted to each
executive is based on, among other factors, the executive’s
contributions to the Company’s performance, the current
and expected contributions of the executive to Opera’s longterm performance, his or her position within the Opera Executive Team, and competitive compensation practices.
The Annual General Meeting held on June 14, 2011,
approved a new stock repurchase program. The maximum
number of options to be granted during 2011, 2012, 2013 and
2014 is 11,950,000. This represents slightly less than 10%
of the registered share capital of the Company. However,
options cannot be granted if the aggregate of all issued, unexercised and not terminated options represents more than
10% of the then registered share capital of the Company.
No employee can be granted options annually that in value
exceed 200% of that employee’s base salary. The value is
to be based on valuation principles for options as applied
under IFRS and in accordance with Opera Software’s financial statements. The options are to be granted in accordance
with the Company’s standard option agreement as approved
by the Ordinary General Meeting in 2010, which, i.e., means
that the vesting structure is 50% after 3 years and 50% after
4 years with a strike price equal to the market price at grant.
After June 14, 2011, and up to December 31, 2012, 3,513,850
options have been granted under the program.

Severance Payment Arrangements

Pursuant to Section 15-16 second subsection of the Norwegian 2005 Act relating to Employees’ Protection, CEO Lars
Boilesen has waived his rights under Chapter 15 of the Act.
As compensation, he is entitled to a severance payment of
two years’ base salary if the employment is terminated by
the Company. If the CEO has committed gross breach of his
duty or other serious breach of the contract of employment,
the employment can be terminated with immediate effect
without any right for the CEO to the mentioned severance
payment.
Except for the CEO as described above, the employment
agreements for the members of the Executive Team have no
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provisions with respect to severance payments if a member
of the Executive Team should leave his position voluntarily or
involuntarily. Severance payment arrangements, if any, will
thus be based on negotiations between the Company and
the relevant member of the Executive Team on a case-bycase basis.

Pension

Members of Executive Team participate in regular pension
programs available for all employees of Company.

2012 Compliance

In 2012, the Executive Team received base salaries and
potential cash incentive bonuses in line with the Executive
Compensation Policy as presented to the 2012 Annual General Meeting. Increases in base salaries and cash incentive
bonuses for FY 2012 have been given based on individual
merit and to ensure closer alignment with competitive pay
practices.
In FY 2012, Opera achieved 108% of its FY 2012 Revenue
Target and achieved 100% of its FY 2012 EBIT Target.
Total Compensation earned for the Executive Team in
FY 2012 is summarized below (numbers showing earned
bonuses for FY 2012):

Executives
Lars Boilesen, Chief Executive Officer
Erik C. Harrell, CFO/CSO
Rikard Gillemyr, EVP Product Development
Tove Selnes, EVP Human Resources
Andreas Thome, EVP Sales & Marketing
Mahi de Silva, EVP Consumer Mobile
Tom Christian Gotschalksen, EVP Mobile Services
Total

Salary

Bonus

Other
comp.

Pension
comp.

Benefit
exercised
options

Total compensation

0.58

0.49

0.05

0.01

0.70

0.29

0.36

0.00

0.01

0.90

1.83
1.57

0.28

0.20

0.00

0.01

0.24

0.73

0.25

0.11

0.04

0.01

0.02

0.43

0.28

0.29

0.00

0.01

0.05

0.64

0.24

0.91

0.14

0.04

0.02

0.01

2.06

2.40

0.12

0.06

During 2012, no deviations from the stock option program
were made with respect the Executive Team. During 2012,
the Board approved a conditional grant of 200,000, 200,000
and 50,000 options, respectively, to three members of the
Executive Team. The grant exceeded the maximum of 200%
of annual base salary. The grants were otherwise made on
the standard terms of Opera’s stock option program.

1.16
0.21
1.91

6.55

In February 2013, the Board, in line with the Company´s compensation policies, approved a discretionary cash bonus of
MUSD 0.07 for FY2012 to Erik C. Harrell, Chief Financial
Officer/Chief Strategy Officer.
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Principles of
Corporate Governance at
Opera Software ASA
Quote: Opera strongly believes that strong corporate governance
creates higher firm value.
General Principles, Implementation, and Reporting on Corporate Governance

Opera Software ASA (“Opera” or the
“Company”) strongly believes that
strong Corporate Governance creates
higher shareholder value. As a result,
Opera is committed to maintaining
high standards of Corporate Governance. Opera’s principles of Corporate
Governance have been developed in
light of the Norwegian Code of Practice for Corporate Governance (the
“Code”), dated October 23, 2012, as
required for all listed companies on
the Oslo Stock Exchange. The Code is
available on www.nues.no. The principles are further developed and are in
accordance with section 3-3b of the
Norwegian Accounting Act, which
can be found at www.lovdata.no/all/
nl-19980717-056.html/. Opera views the
development of high standards of
Corporate Governance as a continuous process and will continue to focus
on improving the level of Corporate
Governance.
The Board of Directors has the overall
responsibility for Corporate Governance at Opera and ensures that the
Company implements sound Corporate Governance. The Board of Directors has defined Opera’s basic corporate values, and the Company’s ethical
guidelines and guidelines on corporate
social responsibility are in accordance
with these values.

Opera’s Activities

Opera’s vision is to deliver the best
internet experience on any device on
all major platforms. This is reflected in
Article 3 of the Articles of Association,
which reads “The Company’s business
shall be to develop, produce and sell
software and associated services and
all activities related thereto, including

participation in other companies and
other activities with similar purposes.”
However, reaching this goal is about
much more than leading the innovation
of web technologies. Our business is
based on close relationships with customers, partners, investors, employees, friends, and communities all over
the world — relationships we are committed to developing by conducting
our business openly and responsibly.
Our corporate policies are developed
in order to be true to this commitment.

Authorizations granted to the Board
of Directors to increase the Company’s share capital will be restricted to
defined purposes and will in general be
limited in time to no later than the date
of the next Annual General Meeting.
To the extent that an authorization to
increase the share capital shall cover
issuance of shares under employee
share option schemes and other purposes, the Company will consider
presenting the authorizations to the
shareholders as separate items.

CSR Guidelines

The Board of Directors may also be
granted the authority to acquire own
shares. Authorizations granted to the
Board of Directors to acquire own
shares will also be restricted to defined
purposes. To the extent that an authorization to acquire own shares shall
cover several purposes, the Company
will consider presenting the authorization to the shareholders as separate
items. Such authority, by statute, may
apply for a maximum period of 18
months and will state the maximum
and minimum amount payable for the
shares. Opera will, however, in general limit the duration of such authorizations to one year. In addition, an
authorization to acquire own shares
will state the highest nominal value of
the shares which Opera may acquire,
and the mode of acquiring and disposing of own shares. Opera may not at
any time hold more than 10% of the
total issued shares as own shares.

The Board of Directors has adopted
corporate social responsibility (“CSR”)
guidelines. The CSR guidelines cover a
range of topics such as human rights,
employee relations, health, environment & safety, and anti-discrimination. The Board of Directors has also
resolved that the Company shall join
the UN Global Impact. Please also see
the Company’s webpage for the “Communication on Progress” related to the
UN Global Impact (www.unglobalcompact.org/COPs/detail/19864/).

Equity and Dividends

The Company’s equity is considered to
be adequate relative to Opera’s financial objectives, overall strategy, and
risk profile.
To achieve its ambitious long-term
growth objectives, it is Opera’s policy
to maintain a solid equity ratio. Opera
believes its needs for growth can be
met while also allowing for a dividend
distribution as long as the Company
is reaching its target growth and cash
generation levels. For this reason, the
Company will consider continuing to
pay dividends over the next years.
Dividend payments will be subject to
approval by the shareholders at the
Company’s Annual General Meetings.

Current authorizations for the Board
of Directors are set out in note 9 to the
Annual Report.

Equal Treatment of Shareholders and Transactions with
Close Associates

A key concept in Opera’s approach
to Corporate Governance is the equal
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Any transaction the Company carries
out in its own shares will be carried out
either through the stock exchange or at
prevailing market prices if carried out in
any other way.

treatment of shareholders. Opera has
one class of shares, and all shares
are freely transferable (with possible
exceptions due to foreign law restrictions on sale and offering of securities). All shares in the Company carry
equal voting rights. The shareholders
exercise the highest authority in the
Company through the General Meeting. All shareholders are entitled to
submit items to the agenda and to
meet, speak, and vote at the General
Meeting.

Freely negotiable shares

Any decision to waive the preemption rights of existing shareholders to
subscribe for shares in the event of
an increase in share capital will be
explained. Where the Board of Directors resolves to carry out an increase
in the share capital and waive the preemption rights of the existing shareholders on the basis of a mandate
granted to the Board, an explanation
will be publicly disclosed in a stock
exchange announcement issued in
connection with the increase of the
capital.

Through the General Meeting, the
shareholders exercise the highest
authority in the Company. General
Meetings are held in accordance with
the Code. All shareholders are entitled
to submit items to the agenda and
to meet, speak, and vote at General
Meetings. The Annual General Meeting is held each year before the end of
June. Extraordinary General Meetings
may be called by the Board of Directors
at any time. The Company’s auditor or
shareholders representing at least five
percent of the total share capital may
demand that an Extraordinary General
Meeting be called.

In 2012, there have been no significant
transactions with closely related parties.
If the Company should enter into a not
immaterial transaction with associated
parties within Opera or with companies
in which a director or leading employee
of Opera or close associates of these
have a material direct or indirect vested
interest, those concerned shall immediately notify the Board of Directors.
Any such transaction must be approved
by the Board of Directors, and, where
required, be publicly disclosed to the
market as soon as possible.
In the event of not immaterial transactions between the Company and a
shareholder, a shareholder’s parent
company, members of the Board of
Directors, executive personnel, or close
associates of any such parties, the
Board of Directors will arrange for a
valuation to be obtained from an independent third party, unless the transaction requires the approval of the
General Meeting.
The Company has an established and
closely monitors its insider-trading
policy.
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Opera has no limitations on the transferability of shares and has one class of
shares. Each share entitles the holder
to one vote.

General Meetings

General Meetings are convened by
written notice to all shareholders with
known addresses no later than 21
days prior to the date of the meeting.
Proposed resolutions and supporting
information, including information on
how to be represented at the meeting,
voting by proxy, and the right to propose items for the General Meeting, is
generally made available to the shareholders no later than the date of the
notice. According to the Company’s
Articles of Association, attachments
to the calling notice may be posted on
the Company’s website and not sent to
shareholders by ordinary mail. Shareholders who wish to receive the attachments may request the Company to
mail such attachments free of charge.
Resolutions and the supporting information are sufficiently detailed and
comprehensive to allow shareholders
to form a view on all matters to be considered in the meeting.
Shareholders who are unable to be
present in the meeting are encouraged
to participate by proxy, and a person
who will be available to vote on behalf
of shareholders as their proxy will be
nominated. Proxy forms will allow the
proxy holder to cast votes for each item
separately. A final deadline for share-

holders to give notice of their intention
to attend the meeting or vote by proxy
will be set in the notice for the meeting. Such deadline will be set as close
as possible to the date of the General
Meeting and under any circumstance,
in accordance with the principles
of section 5-3 of the Public Limited
Companies Act.
The Chairman, Vice-Chairman, Chairman of the Nomination Committee,
CEO, CFO and the auditor will, under
normal circumstances, be present at
the meeting in person. The Chairman for
the meeting is generally independent.
Notice, enclosures, and protocol of
meetings are available on Opera’s corporate website: business.opera.com.
The General Meeting elects the
members of the Board of Directors
(excluding employee representatives),
determines the remuneration of the
members of the Board of Directors,
approves the annual accounts, and
decides such other matters, which by
law, by separate proposal, or according to the Company’s Articles of
Association are to be decided by the
General Meeting. The General Meeting
will normally vote separately on each
candidate for election for the Board
of Directors, the Nomination Committee and any other corporate bodies
to which members are elected by the
General Meeting.
The Board of Directors may decide
to allow electronic participation in
General Meetings and will consider this
before each General Meeting.
The minutes from General Meetings
will be posted on the Company’s website within 15 days after the General
Meeting has been held. Information
that a General Meeting has been held
will be made public as soon as possible after the end of the meeting.

Nomination Committee

The Nomination Committee is a body
established pursuant to the Articles of
Association and shall consist of three
to five members. The members and the
chairperson are elected by the General
Meeting. Members of the Nomination Committee serve for a two-year
period, but may be re-elected. The
current members of the Nomination
Committee are Jakob Iqbal (Chairman),
Michael Tetzschner, and Nils Foldal.

The members of the Nomination Committee are independent of the Board of
Directors and the executive personnel.
Currently, no member of the Nomination Committee is a member of the
Board of Directors. Any member who
is also a member of the Board of Directors will normally not offer himself or
herself for re-election to the Board.

Directors will be selected in the light of
an evaluation of the Company’s needs
for expertise, capacity, and balanced
decision making, with the aim of ensuring that the Board of Directors can
operate independently of any special
interests and that the Board of Directors can function effectively as a collegial body.

The tasks of the Nomination Committee are to propose candidates for election as shareholder-elected members
of the Board of Directors and members
of the Nomination Committee. The
Committee cannot propose its own
Committee members as candidates
for the Company’s Board of Directors.
Further, the Committee shall make
recommendations regarding the remuneration of the members of the Board
of Directors. Its recommendations will
normally be explained, and information about proposed candidates will
normally be given, no later than 21
days before the General Meeting. The
tasks of the Nomination Committee
are further described in the Company’s
Nomination Committee guidelines, as
adopted by the Annual General Meeting held on June 14, 2011. Remuneration of the members of the Nomination
Committee will be determined by the
General Meeting. Information regarding deadlines for proposals for members to the Board of Directors and the
Nomination Committee will be posted
on Opera’s corporate website. Please
see business.opera.com for further
information regarding the Nomination
Committee.

The Chairman of the Board of Directors will normally be elected by the
General Meeting, unless statutory law
prescribes that the Chairman must
be elected by the Board of Directors.
The Board members are encouraged
to own shares in the Company. Please
see business.opera.com for a detailed
description of the Board members,
including share ownership. Pursuant
to the Code, at least half of the shareholder-elected members of the Board
of Directors shall be independent of
the Company’s management and its
main business connections. At least
two of the shareholder-elected members of the Board of Directors shall be
independent of the Company’s main
shareholders. In the Company’s view,
all directors, except for Kari Stautland,
are considered independent of the
Company’s main shareholders, and all
shareholder-elected directors are independent of the Company’s management and main business connections.
Executive personnel should normally
not be included in the Board of Directors. Currently, no executive employee
is a director. The term of office for
members of the Board of Directors is
two years unless the General Meeting
decides otherwise, but a director may
be re-elected.

Corporate Assembly

Opera does not have a corporate
assembly, as the employees have
voted, and the General Meeting in 2010
approved, that the Company should
not have one.

Composition and Independence of the Board of Directors

The Board of Directors has overall
responsibility for the management of
the Company. This includes a responsibility to supervise and exercise control of the Company’s activities. The
Board of Directors shall consist of
5-10 members, including the employee
representatives. The proceedings and
responsibilities of the Board of Directors are governed by a set of rules of
procedure. It is the Company’s intention that the members of the Board of

The Work of the Board of
Directors

The conduct of the Board of Directors
follows the adopted rules of procedure
for the Board of Directors. A specific
meeting and activity plan is adopted
towards the end of each year for the
following period, normally revisited
twice a year. The Board of Directors
will meet a number of times within a
year, including for strategy meetings,
and it will hold additional meetings
under special circumstances. Its working methods are openly discussed.
Between meetings, the Chairman and
Chief Executive Officer update the
Board members on current matters.
There is frequent contact regarding the
progress and affairs of the Company.

Each Board meeting includes a briefing
by one of the functional or department
managers of the Company followed by
Q&A. The Board meetings are a continuous center of attention for the Board
of Directors, ensuring executive personnel maintain systems, procedures,
and a corporate culture that promote
high ethical conduct and compliance
with legal and regulatory requirements.
The Board of Directors has further
established a Remuneration Committee and an Audit Committee. Currently
the Remuneration Committee and the
Audit Committee each consists of two
members. The Board will consider adding a third member after the 2013
Annual General Meeting. According
to the Code, a majority of the members of each Committee should be
independent from the Company. If the
requirements for independence are
not met, Opera will explain the reasons therefore in its Annual Report.
Currently, Audun W. Iversen (Chairperson) and Christian Uribe are members
of the Audit Committee, whereas Kari
Stautland (chairperson) and Marianne
Blystad are members of the Remuneration Committee. The requirements for
independence are thus met.
The Audit Committee’s main responsibilities include following up on the
financial reporting process, monitoring the systems for internal control and
risk management, having continuous
contact with the appointed auditor,
and reviewing and monitoring the independence of the auditor. The Board of
Directors maintains responsibility and
decision making in all such matters.
Please see below under the section
“Remuneration of the Executive Personnel” and the “Board Rules of Procedure” for the tasks to be performed by
the Remuneration Committee.
The Board will consider evaluating
its work, performance, and expertise
annually, and any report from such
evaluation will upon request be made
available to the Nomination Committee. The Board plans to carry out a selfevaluation process in 2013. In order to
ensure a more independent consideration of matters of a material character
in which the Chairman of the Board of
Directors is, or has been, personally
involved, such matters will be chaired
by some other member of the Board
of Directors. Please see Opera’s web-
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site (business.opera.com) for further
information regarding the Rules of Procedure for the Board of Directors (business.opera.com/company/investors/
board/procedures) and the instructions for its Chief Executive Officer
(business.opera.com/company/investors/ceo/instructions/). The Company
has also established Rules of Procedure for its executive personnel.

Risk Management and Internal
Control
Management and control
Board of Directors
The Board of Directors has overall
responsibility for the management of
the Company. This includes a responsibility to supervise and exercise control of the Company’s activities. The
Board has drawn up the rules of procedure for the Board of Directors of
Opera Software ASA. The purpose of
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these rules of procedure is to lay out
rules on the work and administrative
procedures of the Board of Directors
of Opera Software ASA. The Board of
Directors shall, among other things,
ensure that the Company’s business activities are soundly organized,
supervise the Company’s day-to-day
management, draw up plans and budgets for the Company’s activities, keep
itself informed on the financial position
of the Company, and be responsible
for ensuring that the Company’s activities, accounts, and asset management
are subject to adequate control. In its
supervision of the business activities
of Opera, the Board of Directors will
ensure that:
• The Chief Executive Officer uses
		 proper and effective management
and control systems, including sys		 tems for risk management, which
		 continuously provide a satisfactory
		 overview of Opera’s risk exposure.

• The control functions work as
		 intended and that the necessary
		measures are taken to reduce
		 extraordinary risk exposure.
•
		
		
		
		
		
		

There exist satisfactory routines
to ensure follow-up of principles and
guidelines adopted by the Board of
Directors in relation to ethical behavior, conformity to law, health, safety,
and working environment, and social
responsibility.

• Opera has a proper internal auditing
		 system, capable of producing relia		 ble annual reports.
•
		
		
		

All directives from the external auditor are obeyed and that the external
auditor’s recommendations are given
proper attention.

The Board’s duties can be found on our
corporate site in the document called
“Rules of Procedure for the Board of

Directors of Opera Software ASA”.
Executive Team
Opera Software ASA’s Board has
drawn up instructions for the Executive
Team of Opera Software ASA. The purpose of these instructions is to clarify
the powers and responsibilities of the
members of the Executive Team and
their duty of confidentiality.
The executive team conducts an
annual strategy meeting with the
Board of Directors. The strategy meeting focuses on product, sales, marketing, financial, organizational, and the
corporate development strategy for
the Group.
The Board of Directors has ensured
that the Company has sound internal
control and systems for risk management that are appropriate in relation
to the extent and nature of the Company’s activities. The Company has
performed a scoping of the financial
risks in the Company and has established written control descriptions and
process descriptions. The controls are
executed on a monthly, quarterly, or
yearly basis depending on the specific
control. The internal controls and systems also encompass the Company’s
corporate values, ethical guidelines,
and guidelines for corporate social
responsibility. The Board of Directors
carries out an annual review of the
Company’s most important areas of
exposure to risk and its internal control
arrangements. In March 2013, all the
Board members confirmed that they
had read and complied with the Code
of Conduct during the term of their
directorship.
The Group’s CFO is responsible for
the Group’s control functions for risk
management and internal control.
Opera publishes four interim financial
statements in addition to the annual
report. The financials are published
on the Oslo Stock Exchange. Given
the importance of providing accurate financial information, a centralized corporate control function and
risk management function has been
established ultimately consisting of
the group business controllers. The
business controllers’ tasks are, among
other things, to perform management’s
risk assessment and risk monitoring
across the group’s activities, to administer the Company’s value-based man-

agement system, and to coordinate
planning and budgeting processes and
internal controls reporting to the Board
of Directors and Executive Team. The
business controllers report to the CFO.
The finance department prepares
financial reporting for the Group and
ensures that reporting is in accordance with applicable laws, accounting standards, established accounting
principles, and the Board’s guidelines.
The finance department provides a set
of procedures and processes detailing
the requirements that local reporting
units must comply with. The Group has
established processes and a variety
of control measures that will ensure
quality assurance of financial reporting. A series of risk assessment and
control measures have been established in connection with the preparation of financial statements. Reporting
instructions are communicated to the
reporting units each month following
internal meetings when the reporting units have submitted their group
reports and the business controllers
have reviewed the reporting package
with the purpose of identifying any significant misstatements in the financial
statements. Based on the reported
numbers from the reporting units, the
finance department consolidates the
Group numbers. Several controls are
established to ensure the correctness
of the consolidation, e.g., control types
such as reconciliation, segregation of
duties, management review and authorization.
The leaders of the reporting units are
responsible for the ongoing financial
reporting and for implementing sufficient procedures to prevent errors in
the financial reporting. In collaboration with the business controllers, the
leaders identify, assess, and monitor the risk of significant errors in the
Group’s financial reporting. All reporting units have their own management and the financial functions are
adapted to the organization and activities. The leaders are responsible for
implementing appropriate and effective internal controls in accordance
with specified group requirements
and are also responsible for compliance with local laws and requirements.
All monthly and quarterly operations
reports are analyzed and assessed
relative to budgets, forecasts, and historical trends.

The Executive Team analyzes and
comments on the financial reporting
and business results of the Group on
a quarterly basis. Critical issues and
events that affect the future development of the business and optimal utilization of resources are identified, and
action plans are put in place if necessary.
The audit committee oversees the process of financial reporting and ensures
that the Group’s internal controls and
the risk management systems are
operating effectively. The audit committee performs a review of the quarterly and annual financial statements,
which ultimately are approved by the
Board of Directors.
Other guidelines
As an extension of the general principles and guidelines, Opera has drawn
up other guidelines.
Ethical and corporate social
responsibility guidelines
The Board of Directors has adopted
corporate social responsibility (“CSR”)
guidelines. Our Ethical and Corporate
Social Responsibility Guidelines contain the basic principles that Opera
will follow with respect to our ethical
guidelines and our corporate social
responsibilities (“CSR”). The guidelines
contain the basic principles describing rules governing business practice, personal conduct, and roles and
responsibilities ultimately describing
topics such as human rights, employee
relations, health, environment & safety,
and anti-discrimination. These general
principles and guidelines apply to all
employees and officers of the Group.
Information security
Opera has guidelines and information
policies covering information security
roles, responsibilities, training, contingency plans, etc.
Financial policies
Opera has established comprehensive internal procedures and systems
to mitigate risks and to ensure reliable
financial reporting.
Investor relations guidelines
Opera is committed to report financial
results and other relevant information based on openness and taking
into account the requirement for equal
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treatment of all participants in the
securities market. In order to secure
correct information be made public
and to ensure equal treatment and flow
of information, the Company’s Board
of Directors has approved an IR Policy.
A primary goal of Opera’s investor relations activities is to provide investors,
capital market players, and shareholders with reliable, timely, and balanced
information for investors, lenders, and
other interested parties in the securities market, in order to enhance understanding of our operations.
External audit
Opera is subject to a yearly external
statutory audit.
The Financial Supervisory Authority
of Norway
In addition to its own supervisory
bodies and external auditor, the Group
is subject to statutory supervision by
The Norwegian Financial Supervisory
Authority.

Remuneration of the Board of
Directors

Remuneration for Board members is
a fixed annual sum proposed by the
Nomination Committee and approved
at the Annual General Meeting. The
remuneration reflects the responsibility, qualifications, time commitment,
and the complexity of their tasks
in general. No Board members (or
any company associated with such
member) elected by the shareholders
have assumed special tasks for the
Company beyond what is described in
this document, and no such member
(or any company associated with such
member) has received any compensation from Opera other than ordinary
Board of Directors remuneration. All
remuneration to the Board of Directors is disclosed in note 3 to the Annual
Report.
A large number of the Company’s
shareholders are international investors with a different view on some of
the recommendations in the Code.
Hence, some of Opera’s directors carry
stock options in the Company, as disclosed in note 3 to the Annual Report.
This practice will be further limited in
the future, but will not be excluded as
a tool to enhance the interest of any
particular international expert or senior
executive to join the Board of Directors. Any grant of stock options to
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Board members will, however, be subject to specific approval by the General Meeting. Any Board member who
takes on assignments for the Company
in addition to his or her appointment
as a Board member will disclose such
assignments to the Board of Directors,
which will determine the appropriate
remuneration for the assignment in
question.

about the Company, including a comprehensive investor relations section.
This section includes the Company’s
investor relations policy, annual and
quarterly reports, press releases and
stock exchange announcements,
share price and shareholding information, a financial calendar, an overview
of upcoming investor events, and other
relevant information.

Remuneration of Executive
Personnel

During the announcement of quarterly
and annual financial results, there is a
forum for shareholders and the investment community to ask questions of the
Company’s management team. Opera
also arranges regular presentations in
Europe and the United States, in addition to holding meetings with investors
and analysts. Important events affecting the Company are reported immediately to the Oslo Stock Exchange in
accordance with applicable legislation,
and posted on business.opera.com.
All material information is disclosed to
recipients equally in terms of content
and timing.

A Remuneration Committee has been
established by the Board of Directors.
The Committee shall act as a preparatory body for the Board of Directors
with respect to (i) the compensation
of the CEO and other members of
the Executive Team and (ii) Opera’s
corporate governance policies and
procedures, which in each case are
matters for which the Board of Directors maintains responsibility and decision making.
Details concerning remuneration of
the executive personnel, including all
details regarding the CEO’s remuneration, are given in note 3 to the Annual
Report. The performance-related
remuneration to executive personnel
is subject to an absolute limit. The
Board of Directors assesses the CEO
and his terms and conditions once a
year. The General Meeting is informed
about incentive programs for employees, and pursuant to section 6-16 a)
of the Public Limited Companies Act,
a statement regarding remuneration
policies for the Executive Team will be
presented to the General Meeting. The
Board of Directors’ declaration on the
compensation policies of the Executive
Team is included in a separate section
to the Annual Report.

Information and
Communications

Communication with shareholders, investors, and analysts is a high priority
for Opera. The Company believes that
objective and timely information to the
market is a prerequisite for a fair valuation of the Company’s shares and,
in turn, the generation of shareholder
value. The Company continually seeks
ways to enhance its communication
with the investment community.
The Opera corporate website (business.opera.com) provides the investment community with information

The Board has further established an
IR-policy for contact with shareholders
and others beyond the scope of the
General Meeting.

Takeovers

The Board of Directors endorses the
recommendation of the Code. The
Articles of Association of Opera do not
contain any restrictions, limitations, or
defense mechanisms on acquiring the
Company’s shares.
In accordance with the Securities
Trading Act and the Code, the Board
has adopted guidelines for possible
takeovers. In the event of an offer,
the Board of Directors will not seek
to hinder or obstruct takeover bids for
Opera’s activities or shares. Any agreement with the bidder that acts to limit
the Company’s ability to arrange other
bids for the Company’s shares will
only be entered into where the Board
believes it is in the common interest of
the Company and its shareholders.
Information about agreements entered
into between the Company and the
bidder that are material to the market’s
evaluation of the bid will be publicly
disclosed no later than at the same
time as the announcement that the bid
will be made is published.

If an offer is made for the shares of
Opera, the Board of Directors will
make a recommendation on whether
the shareholders should or should
not accept the offer, and will normally
arrange for a valuation from an independent expert.

Auditor

The auditor participates in meetings of
the Board of Directors that deal with
the annual accounts, as well as upon
special request. Every year, the auditor presents to the Audit Committee a
report outlining the audit activities in
the previous fiscal year and highlighting the areas that caused the most
attention or discussions with management, as well as a plan for the work
related to the Company’s audit. The
auditor also reviews the Company’s
internal control procedures, including
identified weaknesses and proposals
for improvement. The auditor will
make himself available upon request
for meetings with the Board of Directors during which no member of the
executive management is present, as
will the Board of Directors upon the
auditor’s request. The General Meeting is informed about the Company’s
engagement and remuneration of the
auditor and for fees paid to the auditor for services other than the annual
audit, and details are given in note 3 to
the Annual Report.
The Board of Directors has established
guidelines with respect to the use of
the auditor by the Company’s executive personnel for services other than
the audit.
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17 Years of Innovation
Many great minds have contributed to our great browser.
We appreciate everyone who has contributed to Opera Software in the last 17 years.
THANK YOU!
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